
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 07557 821124  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - CABINET 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 11 November 2025 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding 

 
 

Membership of the Cabinet: 
 
Councillors: C N Worth (Leader), P A Redgate (Deputy Leader), J R Astill, 
H J W Bingham, T A Carter, A Casson, E J Sneath and G J Taylor 
 
Junior Portfolio Holder: 
 
Councillor Glynis Scalese 
 
No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3. 
 

Note:  Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.   
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

 
 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   3 November 2025 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence. 

  
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 16 September 2025 (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
5 - 16) 

3.  Declarations of Interest. -  
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.) 
 

 

4.  Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 
  

 

5.  To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. 
  

 

6.  To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 
  

 

7.  Q1 Performance Report 25-26 -  
To provide an update on how the Council is performing for the period 1st 
April 2025 to 30th June 2025 (report of the Assistant Director – 
Corporate enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
17 - 50) 

8.  Social Housing Regulation – Q1 and Q2 2025/26 update -  
To provide Cabinet with an update on progress made towards meeting 
the outcomes of the Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023, including 
revised consumer standards (report of the Assistant Director – Housing 
enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
51 - 98) 

9.  Adoption of New Housing Landlord Policies: Disabled Aids and 
Adaptations Policy and Reasonable Adjustment Policy and a revisit to 
the Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework -  
To seek Cabinet’s approval for the adoption of three Housing Landlord 
policies that supports improved service delivery, accountability and 
tenant wellbeing: New – Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025-
2028; Updated – Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework 
2025-2026; New – Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029 (report of 
the Assistant Director – Housing attached). 
 

(Pages 
99 - 
214) 

10.  Housing Stock Condition Survey -  
To inform Cabinet of the updated findings of housing stock condition 
surveys (report of the Assistant Director – Housing enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
215 - 
226) 

11.  South & East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership Body Worn Video 
Cameras (BWV) Policy 2025 -  

(Pages 
227 - 

Page 2



To seek approval from Cabinet for a new Body Worn Video Policy for 
the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership to ensure 
arrangements are compliant with our legal obligations and data 
protection controls (report of the Assistant Director – Regulatory 
enclosed). 
 

256) 

12.  Draft South Holland District Council Industrial Unit Letting and 
Management Policy 2025-2030 -  
To consider revision to the Council’s current Industrial Unit Lettings 
Management Policy (report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Assistant 
Director - General Fund Assets). 
 

(Pages 
257 - 
268) 

13.  Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. -  
 
 
Note:  (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 

special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.   

 
(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 

be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 35 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 16 September 2025 at 6.30 pm. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
C N Worth (Leader) 

 
P A Redgate (Deputy 
Leader) 
H J W Bingham 
 

T A Carter 
A Casson 
 

E J Sneath 
G J Taylor 
 

 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J R Astill and 
B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel).   
 
The Director of Communities, the Interim Director of Finance (S151), the Assistant 
Director - Housing, the Assistant Director - Communities and Housing Services, the 
Housing Transformation Manager, the Business Intelligence and Change Manager, 
the Head of Revenues & Benefits (PSPS), the Group Manager - Organisational 
Development, the Interim Strategic Finance Manager (PSPS), the Democratic 
Services Manager and the Democratic Services Officer 
 
In Attendance: Councillor P Barnes (Leader, South Holland Independents Group), 
Councillor A C Beal (Chairman, Governance & Audit Committee) and Councillor A R 
Woolf (Chairman, Policy Development Panel). 
 
 Action 

By 
29. MINUTES   
  
 The minutes of the following meetings were agreed and signed by 

the Leader: 
 

• Cabinet 8 July 2025 

• Special Cabinet 21 July 2025 

 

   
30. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.   
  
 There were none.  
   
31. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 

COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS).  
 

  
 There were none.  
   
32. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 

TO CALL-IN.  
 

  
 There were none.  
   

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 36 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

33. TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANELS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PROCEDURE OR THE BUDGET AND POLICY 
FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES.  

 

  
 There were none.  
   
34. QUARTER 4 RISK REPORT 24/25   
  
 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 

Governance which asked the Cabinet to consider and note the 
quarterly risk monitoring information for Quarter 4 of 2024/25. 
 
The Deputy leader introduced the report and provided an update 
on the Council’s risk position as at the end of March 2025 
(Quarter 4). He advised that although some time has passed 
since Quarter 4, the report was coming to Cabinet now because it 
first needed to go through Governance and Audit Committee 
which it did so back in July 2025. 
 
The Deputy Leader advised of the key points as follows: 
 

• Retention of Staff:  
Wording and planned actions had been reviewed and 
updated.  This risk was now being removed from the strategic 
risk register as it was covered in the partnership risk register. 

 

• Net Zero Target:  
The wording and risk score had been reviewed and updated. 
The likelihood had been reduced from 5 to 3 as a plan had 
been agreed by Cabinet.  The overall risk was reduced from 
high to medium. 

 
The Deputy Leader advised all that full details of all risks, 
including the strategic, partnership, fraud, and HRA risk registers, 
were available in the appendices to the report. 
 
DECISION: 
 
That the quarterly risk monitoring information for Q4 of 2024/25 
be noted. 
 
(Other Options considered) 

• Alternative reporting arrangements. 
Reasons for decision: 

• To ensure risks which have an impact on the achievement of 
the Council’s objectives are identified and reviewed). 

 

 

Page 6



- 37 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

 
   
35. 2025/26 QUARTER ONE FINANCE UPDATE   
  
 Consideration was given to the report of the Interim S151 Officer 

which set out a summary of the current financial position for the 
Council at the end of the first quarter of 2025/26 forecasting to the 
year end. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance introduced the report which 
outlined the forecast full-year financial performance as at 30 June 
2025, based on the quarterly monitoring undertaken throughout 
the year. 
 
He drew attention to the following key areas: 
 
General Fund Revenue Forecast 
The revenue outturn forecast indicated an overspend position of 
£462,000 at year-end. 
 
Key points highlighted included: 
 

• The 2025/26 net budget for investment income was 
£0.771m. The forecasted full-year outturn as at Quarter 1 
was £1.142m, representing an overachievement of 
£371,000. 

• The 2025/26 budget included a savings efficiency target of 
£1.203m. As at 30 June, 54% of this target had been 
identified. The forecast assumed the remaining target 
would be met, with work ongoing to support this. Details 
were provided in Table 1b. 

 
General Fund Capital 

• Table 1a of Appendix B provided details of all capital 
schemes. The capital budget for the General Fund as at 
Quarter 1 was £14.880m. Changes to the capital 
programme totalling £304,000 were identified and detailed 
in Table 1c. 

• Slippage continued to be monitored and budgets refined as 
the financial year progressed. 
 

General Fund Reserves 

• Table 2 of Appendix A set out the reserve balances held at 
30 June 2025, totalling £7.699m. The overall movement in 
reserve balances during Quarter 1 was a decrease of 
£24,000, reflecting adjustments either budgeted or 
previously approved via Proforma B by the S151 Officer or 
Cabinet. 

 

 

Page 7



- 38 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue 

• Section 2.4 detailed the HRA revenue outturn, which 
showed a surplus of £373,000. This was primarily due to 
underspends in Supervision and Management (£163,000) 
and investment income (£247,000). 
 

HRA Capital 

• Table 4a outlined all HRA capital schemes, with the 
programme totalling £20.356m for 2025/26. Forecasted 
capital spend at the end of Quarter 1 was £20.356m, 
indicating the budget was expected to be met. 
 

Treasury 

• Section 2.6 of Appendix A provided details of the Council’s 
treasury investments. The Council’s cash continued to 
perform well, with £371,000 forecast to be achieved in 
excess of budget. 
 

Cllr Barnes queried the £70k overspend on the General Fund 
assets, specifically questioning the £35k allocated for utilities at 
Priory Road. He questioned why the budget did not reflect last 
year’s actual costs and where the forecasting may have gone 
wrong for this year. 
 
The S151 officer acknowledged that occasional variances in 
estimates were not unusual. Officers were actively monitoring 
such discrepancies and would ensure appropriate in-year 
adjustments were made. Specific attention would be given to this 
issue, with the aim of bringing the budget back on target by 
Quarter 4. 
 
Cllr Barnes queried the recurring issue of not achieving salary 
efficiency targets. It was asked where these targets were being 
derived from. 
 
The S151 officer confirmed Finance were working closely with 
Assistant Directors to ensure these areas received particular 
attention in the preparation of Quarter 2 figures, due at the end of 
September. It was expected that the variances identified in the 
report would reduce as the year progressed. To improve the 
quality of future budgets, it was confirmed that salary efficiency 
targets would be set to reflect actual staff turnover within specific 
service areas, which may not have been the case previously. 
 
DECISION: 
 
1)    That the forecast revenue position of a £462,000 overspend 

for 2025/26 as detailed in Table 1 and the need for continued 
focus on the savings and efficiency programme, be noted. 

Page 8



- 39 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

 
2)    That the forecast revenue position of the HRA for 2025/26 

(surplus of £373k) as detailed in Table 3, be noted. 
 
3)    That the amendments to the HRA Capital Programme at 

Appendix A – Table 4 to take into account the changes set 
out in this report, be recommended to Council for approval. 

  
4)   That the amendments to the Capital Programme at Appendix 

B- Table 1c that require Cabinet approval to take into account 
the changes set out in this report, be approved. 

 
(Other options considered: 

• To not approve the financial movements outlined. 
Reason for decision: 

• To ensure the Council’s forecast financial position for 2025/26 
is considered and related decisions approved. It is important 
that the Cabinet are aware of the financial position of the 
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account to ensure that 
they can make informed decisions that are affordable and 
financially sustainable for the Council). 

   
36. HOUSING LANDLORD SERVICE REGULATORY JUDGEMENT   
  
 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 

Housing in relation to the formal regulatory judgement following a 
programmed inspection of South Holland District Council’s 
Housing Landlord Service.   
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing 
introduced the report and advised that on 30 July 2025, the 
Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) issued a regulatory judgement 
following a scheduled inspection of the Council’s Housing 
Landlord Service. The outcome reflected the second highest 
grading, indicating a generally positive assessment. However, the 
judgement also identified areas where the Council had not fully 
met consumer standards. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational  Housing 
advised that the inspection acknowledged several strengths within 
the service, including compliance with health and safety 
regulations, proactive management of damp and mould issues, 
effective complaint handling procedures, and transparent 
performance monitoring. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing noted 
that the RSH also highlighted areas that required further 
development. They included the need to complete outstanding 
stock condition surveys (with 80% of homes surveyed at the 

 

Page 9



- 40 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

time), improved tenant satisfaction with repairs and maintenance, 
establishment of formal mechanisms for tenant scrutiny, 
expansion of methods of tenant engagement, and the refinement 
of the management of antisocial behaviour cases. 
 
DECISION: 
 
That the Regulatory Judgement of a C2 Grade issued by the 
Regulator of Social Housing on 30th July 2025, following a 
programmed inspection of South Holland District Council, as a 
Registered Social Landlord, be noted. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• Do nothing – This option is not considered to be 
appropriate as the Regulator of Social Housing is clear that 
Councillors are responsible for ensuring that the Council, in 
its role as a registered provider, is meeting the regulatory 
standards set. 

Reasons for decision: 

• To provide oversight, awareness and assurance of the 
Council’s compliance with regulatory requirements as a 
Social Landlord). 

   
37. PREPAREDNESS TO DELIVER THE SOCIAL HOUSING 

(PRESCRIBED REQUIREMENTS) (ENGLAND) REGULATION 
2025 (AWAAB'S LAW)  

 

  
 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 

Housing which was to inform Cabinet of the requirements and 
timeline of  Awaab’s Law and how the Housing Landlord Service 
was changing to meet Phase 1 of the legislation.   
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing 
introduced the report summarising the Council’s Phase 1 
implementation of Awaab’s Law, which addressed issues of 
damp, mould, and emergency repairs in council homes. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing 
identified the key actions which had been undertaken by the 
Housing Landlord Service, including: 
 

• Updating internal procedures; 

• Completing formal training on hazard identification; 

• Scheduling briefings for staff and contractors; 

• Planning a tenant awareness campaign, and 

• Bringing previously contracted work in-house to improve 
oversight and achieve cost savings. 

 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing 

 

Page 10



- 41 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

advised that existing policies, namely the Damp Condensation 
and Mould Policy and the Housing Repairs and Fitness for 
Habitation Policy had been revised to reflect those changes. 
Although the timing of the revisions meant they were not 
presented to the Policy Development Panel, the Chair had been 
consulted informally. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing added 
that the service was well-prepared to meet the new statutory 
duties coming into effect from October and aimed to implement 
changes ahead of the deadline. 
 
Cllr Woolf referred to the response times for emergency hazards 
which listed attendance within 4 hours outside office hours and 
within 8 hours during office hours which he found counterintuitive. 
He noted that he had raised this issue on several occasions and 
had received explanations regarding staff availability.  
 
Cllr Woolf advised that he appreciated that efforts were being 
made to review and potentially realign these timeframes to ensure 
safety, and expressed hope for improvement in the near future. 
 
The Leader confirmed that Cllr Woolf’s concerns were fully noted 
and agreed that the current arrangements did seem unusual. It 
was acknowledged that a broader review of response timeframes 
was already being considered. 
 
DECISIONS: 
 
1)    Following Cabinet’s consideration of the Housing Landlord 

Service’s preparations to respond to Awaab’s Law (Phase 1), 
that further reports will be brought forward to update on the 
implementation progress of Phase 1, as well as development 
of Phase 2 and 3, be noted. 

 
2)    That the revised Housing Repairs and Fitness for Habitation 

Policy (Appendix A), be adopted. 
  
3)    That the revised Damp Condensation and Mould Policy 

(Appendix B), be adopted. 
  
4)    That minor operational changes and any legislative 

amendments to the Housing Repairs and Fitness for 
Habitation Policy be delegated to the Assistant Director – 
Housing in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
and Operational Housing. 

 
5)    That minor operational changes and any legislative 

amendments to the Damp Condensation and Mould Policy be 

Page 11



- 42 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

delegated to the Assistant Director – Housing in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 
Housing. 

 
(Other options considered: 

• Do nothing. To not receive assurance on the Council’s 
preparedness to respond to emergency hazards. This option 
is not recommended 

Reasons for decision: 

• The purpose of this report is to provide assurance and 
confidence to Members that tenants are living in safe homes 
and that arrangements for responding to emergency hazards 
and damp, condensation and mould are robust, with regular 
reviews and improvements implemented). 

   
38. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL'S 

CROWDFUNDING SCHEME - TWO YEAR PROGRESS  
 

  
 Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Director – 

Housing and Communities, which provided an overview of the first 
two years of the South and East Lincolnshire Crowdfunding 
Scheme.  
 
The Deputy Leader introduced the report and reiterated that this 
was a 2 year progress report on the Crowdfunding Scheme, 
which was known as the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Crowd. 
 
He advised that the South and East Lincolnshire Crowdfunding 
scheme had launched in Spring 2023 and the innovative platform 
enabled community groups to raise funds for their projects, 
fostering community involvement from the outset.  The Deputy 
Leader added that without the buy-in and contributions from the 
community, those projects would not be able to proceed.   
 
The Deputy Leader advised that currently projects were eligible to 
up to £5,000 from the South Holland pot while also crowdfunding 
for the remainder of their project costs.  He noted that as set out 
in the report the scheme had supported 15 projects across the 
partnership with a total value of £149,887, of which £77,117 had 
been contributed by the crowd.  The Deputy Leader informal 
those present that this demonstrated a strong return on 
investment.   
 
The Deputy Leader advised members that as they could see from 
the Impact Report, the scheme had performed well against its 
original targets and outcomes which had been set.  
 
He added that with the South Holland funding pot exceeding the 

 

Page 12



- 43 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

financial target set out of a return of £3 for every pound, the 
scheme saw a return of £5 for every £1 contributed alongside 
overall achievements of improvements to community buildings, 
new events, increased community engagement and an increase 
in Volunteer opportunities  
 
The Deputy Leader explained that South Holland had seen a 
number of successful projects over the past 2 years including 
support plans for the refurbishment of the museum of Spalding 
Gentleman’s Society, Taste It Lincolnshire which was an arts 
theatre production and a dog play area in Tydd Saint Mary. 
 
It was added that further details of these and all the successful 
projects could be found in the attached Impact Report in Appendix 
A. 
 
It was acknowledged that further work was required in relation to 
publicity and in raising public awareness. It was also noted that 
individuals may require additional support when engaging with 
crowdfunding initiatives. For further guidance or assistance, 
interested parties were encouraged to contact the Assistant 
Director – Wellbeing and Community leadership. 
 
DECISION: 
 
That the progress of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Crowdfunding scheme be noted and that its continuation by 
Members be supported. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• Draw the current scheme to a close (not recommended) 
and not offer financial support to local community and 
voluntary groups raising funds for projects. 

Reasons for decision: 

• To continue to raise funds for local voluntary and 
community groups across South and East Lincolnshire via 
the South and East Lincolnshire Crowdfunding scheme for 
local projects. 

• To further support Voluntary and Community groups within 
South Holland to raise funds for local projects). 

   
39. EQUALITY, DIVERSITY & INCLUSION STRATEGY   
  
 The Cabinet considered the report of the Assistant Director – 

Corporate, which sought approval for a Partnership-wide Equality, 
Diversity & Inclusion Strategy.  
 
The Deputy Leader introduced the report and advised that the 
strategy set out a clear framework to ensure services were fair, 

 

Page 13



- 44 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

accessible, and inclusive for all residents and staff.  
 
He advised that it aligned with legal duties under the Equality Act 
2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty, and it responded to 
feedback from the LGA Peer Challenge and had been developed 
after consultation with staff, Councillors, tenants (HRA) and 
community partners (Lincs Digital, Citizens advice and Shine). 
 
The Deputy Leader informed all those present that the approach 
was built around four key objectives which in summary were: 
 
• understanding our communities,  
• inclusive leadership, 
• accessible services,  
• and a diverse workforce. 
 
He added that it included a high-level action plan, supported by a 
two-year fixed-term post to drive delivery included as part of the 
recommendation. 
 
The Deputy Leader advised that the Strategy had been supported 
unanimously by the Policy Development Panel.   
 
The Deputy Leader summarised by advising that the governance 
arrangements meant the implementation of the Strategy and 
Action Plan would be overseen by an Equalities Board, with 
regular feedback to the Portfolio Holder and Senior Leadership 
Team. 
 
Clarity was sought on the make up of the Governance Board.   
 
It was confirmed that the group would comprise representatives 
from the Senior Leadership Team, the Workforce Development 
Board, and support advisors from HR Services. Updates and 
outcomes would be reported back to the wider Senior Leadership 
Team and to the relevant Portfolio Holder. 
 
DECISION: 
 
1)    That the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and Action 

Plan at Appendices A and B, be approved. 
 
  
2)    That contribution be made to a 2-year fixed term officer role 

to provide expertise and to oversee the implementation of the 
high-level action plan. 

 
Other options considered: 

• Do nothing: this option was rejected as it would not address 

Page 14



- 45 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

the gaps in equality, diversity and inclusion within the Council 
that were identified through the Peer Challenge process. 

Reasons for decision: 

• To ensure South Holland District Council further the 
development of service provision to ensure services are 
accessible to all and is committed to promoting inclusion 
within its workforce and communities it serves. 

• To comply with legal obligations under the Equality Act 
2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

• To enhance the reputation of South Holland District 
Council as an inclusive and progressive Council). 

  
   
40. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2026/27 - 

CONSULTATION  
 

  
 Consideration was given to the report of the Interim Director of 

Finance (S151) which provided an update on the current scheme 
and expenditure, and sought Cabinet approval to consult on 
proposals for 2026/27. 
 
The Portfolio for Finance introduced the report and by way of 
background, reminded members that since 2013, billing 
authorities had been required to develop local Council Tax 
Support (CTS) schemes to assist low-income working-age 
households.  
 
Prior to this, support had been provided through a national 
Council Tax Benefit scheme, which was administered by councils 
but operated under rules set by central government. 
 
It was noted that the Government continued to prescribe the 
scheme for pensioners, who could receive up to 100% support. 
The Council had no discretion in this area. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance added that the report presented 
focused on the scheme for working-age claimants. Members were 
advised that the Council was required to review its working-age 
CTS scheme annually and consult with major precepting 
authorities and other interested parties on any proposals for the 
forthcoming year. It was further noted that schemes could not be 
amended mid-year. 
 
Following a fundamental review in the previous year, South 
Holland’s current scheme provided a maximum level of support of 
up to 85% for households with children and 75% for other 
households. 
 
It was noted that forecasted expenditure for the CTS scheme in 

 

Page 15



- 46 - 
 
CABINET - 16 September 2025 

 

 

2025/26 was approximately £5.2 million, with £2.5 million 
supporting around 2,500 low-income working-age claimants.  
 
The cost of the scheme was shared between the major precepting 
authorities, with South Holland Council contributing approximately 
12% of the total cost, as detailed in section 2.2 of the report. 
 
 
DECISION: 
 
1)    That the consultation on continuation of the current Council 

Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line with DWP’s 
annual update of allowances and premiums for 2026/27, be 
approved. 

 
2)    That oversight and approval of the consultation approach be 

delegated to the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance. 

 
(Other options consider: 

• Whilst recognising the challenges South Holland District 
Council faces to present a balanced budget for 2026/27, 
options to reduce the maximum level of Council Tax Support 
are not being considered for 2026/27 due to the impact this 
would have on working age claimant households. 

Reasons for decisions: 

• To agree consultation proposals for the local Council Tax 
Support scheme, 2026/27). 

   
41. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 

URGENT.  
 

  
 There were none.  
   
 
(The meeting ended at 7.02 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on 1 October 2025. 
 

Page 16



 
 
 
Report To: Cabinet 
 
Date: Tuesday, 11 November 2025 
 
Subject: Q1 Performance Report 25-26 
 
Purpose: To provide an update on how the Council is performing for the 

period 1st April 2025 to 30th June 2025 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jim Astill, Portfolio Holder for Corporate, Governance, 

Communications and Environmental Services 
 
Report Of: James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 
 
Report Author: Corey Gooch, Business Intelligence and Change Manager 
 
Ward(s) Affected:  None 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

 
Summary 
 
The Quarter 1 2024-25 Performance Report, detailed in Appendix A, provides Members, 
businesses, and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing against its 
key performance indicators.  

 

 
Recommendations 
 
That the contents of this report be noted. 
 

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To ensure Council performance is properly scrutinised. 
 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7.



Other Options Considered 
 
Not to monitor performance – this isn’t recommended. 
 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1. This report provides Cabinet with an overview of the key performance indicators for 

the Council at the end of Quarter 1 (1st April 2025 to 30th June 2025) 

 

1.2. The Performance Framework’s role is to drive improvement in service delivery, and 

this includes ambitious targets that aim to stretch service delivery.   

 

1.3. Whilst the Performance Framework is agreed across the South & East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership, each Council continues to scrutinise the performance of its 
own services on a quarterly basis. 

 
 
2. Report 
 
 
2.1 The pie charts below show the Quarter 1 outturn compared to the previous Quarter, 

Further details of these areas can be found in Appendix A of this report which 
underscores the council's efforts to address key issues while also pointing out areas 
requiring more focused strategies to meet targets and improve service delivery. 

 
 

 
 

2.2 The SHDC Q1 Performance Report details areas of under-performance. Key areas to 
note are: 
 

• Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting: The 
percentage dropped to 24.80% (as of the most recent available data), below 
the target of 45% 

82%

7%

9%
2%

South Holland Quarter 4

Green Amber Red Missing/not available

83%

7%

7% 3%

South Holland Quarter 1

Green Amber Red Missing/not available

Page 18



• Percentage of corporate complaints responded to within corporately set 
timescales: 85.00% of complaints were responded to within the set timescales, 
against a target of 95% 

• Percentage of subject requests responded to within statutory timescales: The 
response rate was 66.67%, below the target of 95% 

• Percentage of recycling collected that is unable to be recycled 
(contamination): The contamination rate was 22.22%, above the target of 14% 
(or lower) 

 
 

 
3. Conclusion 

 

• 83% of the Council’s performance metrics present a positive position against 
targets.   

• 7% are slightly below target. 

• 7% are significantly under target. 
 
It should, however, be noted that targets are set to help drive performance 
improvements as opposed to being easy goals to achieve. 

 
 

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
The Performance Framework is partnership wide, some indicators feature data which is 
measured across the partnership and some indicators are sovereign to South Holland 
District Council 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
The report presents progress monitoring of key performance indicators from the corporate 
priorities which highlight the areas of focus in Council delivery of services. 
 
Staffing 
 
The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to staffing. 
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
None 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
None 
 
Data Protection 
 
None 

Page 19



 
Financial 
 
None 
 
Risk Management 
 
Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect Council 
interests. 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
None 
 
Reputation 
 
Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of this 
report to highlight performance issues at an early stage. 
 
Contracts 
 
The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to contract matters. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to crime. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
None 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to health and wellbeing. 
 
Climate Change and Environment Impact Assessment 
 
Not Undertaken 
 
Acronyms 
 
PSPS – Public Sector Partnerships Ltd 
CTS – Council Tax Support 
ICO – Information Commissioner’s Office 
LGO - Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 

 
Appendices  
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: 
 

Page 20



Appendix 1 Q1 SHDC Performance report 25-26 
 
Background Papers 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report Background papers used in the production of this 
report are listed below 
 
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 
 
Name of Body Date 
 
Report Approval 
Report author: Corey Gooch, Business Intelligence and Change Manager 
 Corey.Gooch@sholland.gov.uk 
Signed off by: James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate  
 email 
Approved for publication: Jim Astill, Portfolio Holder for Corporate, Governance, 

Communications and Environmental Services (if required) 
 
 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Target RAG

Occupancy Rate at end of Quarter: Industrial 
Units

Andy 
Fisher

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 98.08% 98.00% 97.00% J

Commentary

Percentage of major planning applications 
determined within 13/16 weeks (or agreed 
extended period) 

Phil 
Norman

94.38% 94.34% 100.00% 100.00% 96.97% 65.00% J

Commentary

Percentage of non-major planning 
applications determined within 8 weeks (or 
agreed extended period)

Phil 
Norman

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

94.74% 94.64% 95.08% 75% J

Commentary

Percentage of major planning appeals 
allowed within the last 2 years (rolling 
period) against number of applications 
determined 

Phil 
Norman

1.01% 0.94% 3.19% 2.94% 2.91% 10% J

Performance Indicators with Targeted Performance Levels
Growth and Prosperity

We have one vacant unit currently which is waiting to be cleared after a tenant left it in arrears (Unit 11 Railway Lane).

Good performance on Major applications over all - well above Government and KPI target figure. Team continuing to monitor live 
tables and manage timeliness of decision making.

Good performance on Non-Major applications - well above Government and KPI target figure. Team continuing to monitor live tables 
and manage timeliness of decision making.

97.00%

98.00%

99.00%

100.00%

101.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

90.00%

95.00%

100.00%

105.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 23



Commentary

Percentage of minor & other planning 
appeals allowed within the last 2 years 
(rolling period) against number of 
applications determined (OFLOG)

Phil 
Norman

0.83% 0.97% 0.72% 0.85% 0.97% 10% J

Commentary

PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Target RAG

Percentage of cases opened at homelessness 
prevention stage (i.e. before they have 
become homeless)

Emily 
Spicer

46.15% 39.53% 34.62% 50.46% 49.21% 50.00% K

Commentary

Percentage of homelessness cases that were 
opened at homelessness prevention stage 
that resulted in the customer not becoming 
homeless

Emily 
Spicer

108.33% 97.06% 75.00% 78.18% 56.45% 50.00% J

Commentary

Number of families with children placed into 
Bed & Breakfast (B&B) for more than 6 
weeks

Emily 
Spicer

0 0 0 0 0 0 J

Percentage of allowed appeals has increased slightly, but generally still remains comfortably below the threshold set by MHCLG - 
gives the service confidence in decision making. Continue to monitor.

Appeals performance is very good - gives the service confidence in sound decision making.

Performance is just below target but continues to improve. This is even with a much larger total case load. We have also had more 
individuals at risk of homelessness with more complex challenges (e.g., mental health, substance use), making prevention harder.

The total number of households prevented from becoming homeless is above the target.

Safe and Resilient Communities

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

0.5

1

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 24



Commentary No households with children were in B&B for more than 6 weeks.

P
age 25



Percentage of decisions issued on an 
applicant’s initial homelessness application 
within target timescale of 33 working days

Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

80.00% 75.00% J

Commentary

PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Target RAG

Number of homes improved through green 
home/warm home grants

Christian 
Allen

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

No Data 
Provided

Percentage of household waste collected for 
recycling and composting

Victoria 
Burgess

36.52% 34.90% 28.79% 24.80% 45.00% L

Commentary

Percentage of recycling collected that is 
unable to be recycled (contamination) 

Victoria 
Burgess

22.22% 18.21% 17.36%
No Data 
Provided

No Data 
Provided

14.00%

This is a new performance indicator which will be closely monitored to ensure performance improves with the aim of being above 
target.

Environment

Data is reported one quarter in arrears. The end of year figure for 24/25 came in at 24.8%.

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 26



Percentage of waste collections that were 
successful first time

Victoria 
Burgess

99.89% 99.89% 99.96% 99.82% 99.91% 99.80% J
99.70%

99.80%

99.90%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 27



Percentage of fly-tips collected within 5 
working days of being reported

Victoria 
Burgess

96.98% 97.02% 95.47% 97.79% 95.40% 95.00% J

PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Target RAG

Occupancy Rate at end of Quarter: Other 
investment property

Andy 
Fisher

91.66% 91.67% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 97.00% J

Commentary

Percentage of car parking income received 
against agreed annual budget – cumulative 
figure to end of successive quarters.

Andy 
Fisher

106.00% 107.16% 103.97% 104.66% 105.68% 100.00% J

Commentary

LA Error rate (measured against estimated 
annual expenditure) (PSPS)

Brendan 
Arnold

0.02% 0.05% 0.08% 0.11% 0.16% 0.42% J

Business Rates in-year collection rate
Brendan 
Arnold

28.43% 55.61% 80.56% 97.30% 30.14% 28.00% J

At the end of Q1, the Council had taken £5,534.64 more than its equally split quarterly budget target.

Efficiencies and Efficacies

No 'other investment property' was vacant at the end of Q1.

94.00%

95.00%

96.00%

97.00%

98.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

85.00%

90.00%

95.00%

100.00%

105.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

102.00%

104.00%

106.00%

108.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

0.05%

0.10%

0.15%

0.20%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 28



Council Tax in-year collection rate
Brendan 
Arnold

28.63% 55.80% 82.56% 96.32% 28.65% 28.50% J

Housing Benefit New Claims speed of 
processing (Year to Date) (PSPS)

Brendan 
Arnold

31.00 25.50 24.00 23.50 16.00 25 J

Housing Benefit Changes speed of 
processing (Year to Date) (PSPS)

Brendan 
Arnold

10.00 9.50 12.67 10.00 12.00 12 J

Housing Benefit Overpayment Recovery rate 
(PSPS)

Brendan 
Arnold

87.87% 98.99% 100.86% 113.05% 111.56% 85.00% J

Land Charges - Average number of days 
taken to process Local Authority searches 
(working days)

Christian 
Allen

3.61 3.16 3.19 3.32 4.20 8 J

Commentary
The Cadline / MapThat outage in the latter half of June impacted on overall response times, as there was a period covering a number 
of days where there was no access to the data sources.

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 29



Percentage of corporate complaints 
responded to within corporately set 
timescales

John 
Medler

81.82% 92.31% 53.85% 58.82% 85.00% 95.00% L

Commentary

Percentage of subject requests responded to 
within statutory timescales

John 
Medler

80.00% 100.00% 100.00% 66.67% 66.67% 95.00% L

Commentary

Percentage of information requests 
responded to within statutory timescales

John 
Medler

94.17% 100.00% 97.79% 96.97% 97.10% 95.00% J

Commentary

Percentage of contacts resolved at first 
contact – targeted. (PSPS)

Phil Perry 82.89% 85.11% 85.65% 87.75% 89.56% 80.00% J

Year on year improvement despite the deadline reduction of 20 to 10.  There have been additional processes implemented with 
Neighbourhoods to reduce burden.  Complaints Clinic project is underway to formalise learning - and further improve figures. There 
were an additional 6 complaints withdrawn after engagement. 34 out of 40 complaints were responded to within timescales.

Generally DSAR's that arrive with the IG team in a timely manner are responded to on time.  In some cases the volume of information 
generate impacts the IG team and results in delays to slot into other work.  There are a low volume of DSAR's and missing a 2 out of 6 
impacts the percentage significantly. 

The focus on delivery of FOIA as the largest and most complex transactional element of the IG work has resulted in the improvement 
year on year.  This is above the ICO good guideline figure of 95%. 
FOIA's are becoming more complex - and we have started to see the use of AI to write these requests.

75.00%

80.00%

85.00%

90.00%

95.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

90.00%

95.00%

100.00%

105.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 30



Commentary

Average answer rate – Customer Contact 
(PSPS)

Phil Perry 86.84% 85.42% 91.71% 87.32% 83.87% 80.00% J

Commentary In Quarter Target Exceeded by 3.78%. Calls Received (16,851), 3.29% increase, Call Backs (1,577). Q1 has seen 4,084 visits, 14.53% 

Quarterly Target Exceed by 9.56% improvement of 6.67% vs Q1 24/25 Total contacts - 32,533 Cases logged - 19,232 Service Requests - 
9,906 Transfer & Message - 3,395 - Council Tax (46.39%), Housing (23.70%), Benefits (11.58%) Levels of chase enquiry remains high 
at 11.94%, with service answer rate 26.35%, driving up transfer and message enquiries.

75.00%

80.00%

85.00%

90.00%

95.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 31



PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Target RAG

Proportion of homes for which all required 
gas safety checks have been carried out

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% J

Commentary

Proportion of homes for which an Electrical 
Installation Condition Report (EICR) has been 
carried out

Vicky 
Cherry

99.30% 99.16% 99.07% 99.53% 99.78% 100.00% K

Commentary

Proportion of homes for which all required 
fire risk assessments have been carried out

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% J

Commentary

Proportion of homes for which all required 
asbestos management surveys or re-
inspections have been carried out

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% J

Commentary

HRA

No gas safety checks are outstanding.

There was 8 homes where an EICR report was due, all 8 are currently going through our no access process, up to and including 
seeking an injunction for access.

No Fire risk assessments were overdue at period end.

There are no asbestos management surveys outstanding at period end.

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

98.50%

99.00%

99.50%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 32



Proportion of homes for which all required 
legionella risk assessments have been 
carried out

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% J

Commentary

Average time to re-let a property excluding 
major works (days) all letting types – 
Running total

Vicky 
Cherry

25.55 25.44 25.23 24.94 26.18 28 J

Commentary
Gross rent arrears (including service charges) 
as a percentage of rent due for the reporting 
year. Note the following tenures are 
reported by exception on request: supported 
accommodation, garages, temporary 
accommodation and shared ownership

Vicky 
Cherry

2.25% 2.00% 2.81% 2.29% 2.14% 4% J

Commentary

Proportion of homes for which all required 
communal passenger lift safety checks have 
been carried out

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% J

Commentary

Proportion of homes that do not meet the 
Decent Homes Standard

Vicky 
Cherry

2.23% 1.77% 1.77% 1.60% 1.74% 2.00% J

Commentary

No legionella risk assessments are outstanding at period end.

Performance remains ahead of target.

Performance remains ahead of target.

All checks completed.

Presently there are 64 homes classed as not meeting our decent homes standard, 10 of these due to kitchen capacity and the 

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

24.00
24.50
25.00
25.50
26.00
26.50

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 33



Proportion of non-emergency responsive 
repairs completed within the landlord’s 
target timescale - 28 days

Vicky 
Cherry

90.20% 91.10% 91.40% 91.30% 90.69% 90.00% J

Commentary

Proportion of emergency responsive repairs 
completed within the landlord’s target 
timescale

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 99.28% 100.00% K

Commentary

Proportion of stage one complaints 
responded to within the Housing 
Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code 
timescales

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 96.92% 97.37% 94.84% 95.83% 95.00% J

Commentary

Proportion of stage two complaints 
responded to within the Housing 
Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code 
timescales.

Vicky 
Cherry

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 95.00% J

Commentary

Average number of days to fix damp and 
mould issues

Vicky 
Cherry

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

21.33 56 J

Commentary
The vast majority of our routine cases are now undertaken by the internal DCM or housing repairs team with only either major or 
specialist works being contracted externally, this enables us to keep performance in check.

Performance in this area remains on target - with monthly and annual performance consistently being around the 90%-91% level.

For the first time in over 5 years an emergency repair was not completed within the target timescale, this was from an out of hours 

2 Stage 1 Complaints were non-compliant during the period.

2 Stage 2 Complaints responded to, both within ombudsman's timescale.

89.50%

90.00%

90.50%

91.00%

91.50%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

98.50%

99.00%

99.50%

100.00%

100.50%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

90.00%

95.00%

100.00%

105.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 34



PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Building Control market share 
Christian 

Allen
92.00% 82.00% 89.00% 88.00% 84.00%

Percentage of decisions (major / minor / 
others) taken under delegation within period

Phil 
Norman

92.72% 89.29% 98.42% 94.53% 93.10%

Commentary

Council run stall occupancy level (Markets) Phil Perry 46.80% 41.00% 55.00% 50.00% 62.00%

Commentary

Performance Indicators with Trend Only Performance Levels
Growth and Prosperity

912 pitches occupied of possible 1466.

High % of applications being determined through delegated powers - showing an effective scheme of 
delegation and support and trust in officer recommendations.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

80.00%

85.00%

90.00%

95.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

75.00%

80.00%

85.00%

90.00%

95.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 35



PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Number of days to complete a stage 2 DFG
Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

128

Commentary

Number of days to complete a stage 3 DFG
Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

5

Commentary

Number of days to complete a stage 4 DFG
Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

45

Commentary

Number of DFG referrals received
Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

20

Stage 4 is from approval of the grant to works being completed satisfactorily with payment made. This is 
dependent on contractor availability.

Healthy Lives

Stage 2 is from receipt of referral to submission of a full grant application. This includes design and costing of 
the works and all appropriate agreements and can vary considerably on the works required.

Stage 3 is from submission of a full and complete grant application to issue of a grant approval letter.  

0

50

100

150

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

2

4

6

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

20

40

60

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

10

20

30

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 36



Number of DFG grants approved
Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

16

Commentary

Number of DFG grants completed
Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

8

For a successful prevention outcome at least 
32% should be achieved through keeping the 
household in the home presented from

Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

31.00%

Commentary

Percentage of not in priority need decisions 
should reflect at least the regional average 
for the East Midlands (32%)

Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

43.00%

Commentary

Percentage of intentional homelessness (IH) 
decisions should reflect at least the regional 
average for the East Midlands (5%)

Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

11.00%

Commentary

Due to recent history of high temporary accommodation spend this is slightly above the target. We will 
monitor closely over the next few months as restructure beds in.

3 IH decisions out of 28. We will review cases to ensure that these decisions are correct.

Increased resources to reduce timescales and deliver adaptations to clients quicker.  

The service has been focused on keeping more households in their current home and this is clearly working 
because performance is around the target.

0

5

10

15

20

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

5

10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 37



Visitor numbers / number of tickets sold, for 
leisure venues 

Phil Perry 96,186 92,281 90,588 91,001 84,226

Commentary

Number of gym members Phil Perry 1,485 1,431 1,376 982 962

Number of swims Phil Perry 20,482 21,843 19,498 20,174 15,190

Commentary

Number of swimming lessons Phil Perry 19,399 17,147 20,330 21,256 19,409

Many regular sports hall users have relocated due to the scheduled building works at the Castle Sports Centre 
causing a decline in usage figures. Many sought alternative venues to ensure continuity until the completion of 
the works. Additionally, gym attendance has decreased because of uncertainty regarding alternative 
provisions during the construction period and the opening of a nearby budget gym with free parking.

Swim Numbers reduced as the diving pool has been out of action for some time due to pump failure.

75,000
80,000
85,000
90,000
95,000

100,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 38



PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Food Safety – percentage of rateable food 
businesses with a rating of 3 (generally 
satisfactory) or above as a Percentage of the 
total number of rateable food businesses.

Christian 
Allen

99.14% 99.14% 99.28% 98.99% 99.10%

Number of organisations supported with 
accessing funding

Emily 
Spicer

0 2 8 0 0

Commentary

Number of verified rough sleepers during 
the month

Emily 
Spicer

16 17 24 11 11

Commentary

Number of properties improved through 
Council intervention

Emily 
Spicer

10 3 10 1 2

Safe and Resilient Communities

Latest Crowdfunding window opened 27th April and completed pitches will be reported on in Quarter 2. 97 
community groups across the partnership supported via Community Lottery scheme.

We have recently moved 6 rough sleepers into Lansdowne court which has reduced our numbers drastically. 
We have are continuing to work through our case load now with 2 new Rough Sleeper Case Officers.

98.80%

99.00%

99.20%

99.40%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

5

10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

10

20

30

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 39



Commentary

The percentage of main duty decisions made 
within 5 working days of the end of the relief 
duty

Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

67.00%

Commentary

Number of lets into the private rented sector
Emily 
Spicer

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

32

Commentary

PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Kingdom Contract: Number of Fixed Penalty 
Notices (FPNs) Issued - Litter (In quarter)

Christian 
Allen

154 124 371 435 183

Performance should improve following the restructure because there will be additional posts targeted at 
getting more homeless households rehoused into the private rented sector. This then frees up more social 
homes for non homeless applicants.

This performance indicator will be closely monitored with the aim of improving performance but mainly in 
relation to households who are in temporary accommodation. This is because if officers are not making quick 
decisions, the length of time in temporary accommodation increases which increases the cost of providing 
temporary accommodation.

With the retirement of 2 highly experienced officers, experience within the team has taken a hit. Two new 
officers have been recruited and have just passed their first training course which enables them to utilise the 
HHSRS. Performance should increase as both new officers become established within their roles.

Environment

0

200

400

600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

10

20

30

40

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 40



Kingdom Contract: Number of FPNs Issued - 
Fly Tipping (In quarter)

Christian 
Allen

3 17 11 8 2

Kingdom Contract: Number of FPNs Issued - 
other (e.g. PSPO etc.) (In quarter)

Christian 
Allen

6.0 3.0 0.0 14.0 30.0

Kingdom Contract: Number of prosecutions 
completed to sentencing. (In quarter)

Christian 
Allen

35 37 35 9 25

KG of total waste collected per household
Victoria 
Burgess

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Repairs & Maintenance: Percentage 
committed spend against budget – 
cumulative

Andy 
Fisher

22.55% 47.91% 93.12% 108.04% 25.57%

Commentary
Total R&M spend (actual plus commitments) in Q1 = 20010 - £37,089.85 + £6,477.08 + 20020 - £34,514.40 + 
£6,367.20  = £84,448.53. Commitment spend is £330,300.

Efficiencies and Efficacies

0

5

10

15

20

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

10

20

30

40

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

0.50

1.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 41



Housing Benefit Caseload
Brendan 
Arnold

2,023 1,917 1,816 1,734 1,608

Council Tax Support Caseload
Brendan 
Arnold

3,124 3,237 3,299 3,395 3,517

Business Rates RV
Brendan 
Arnold

£65,834,876 £65,994,656 £66,449,454 £66,422,129 £66,898,329

Business Rates Hereditaments
Brendan 
Arnold

2,954 2,953 2,971 2,979 2,978

Council Tax Banded Dwellings
Brendan 
Arnold

44,401 44,522 44,743 44,791 44,859

Digital Services Take-Up
Brendan 
Arnold

763 707 746 1,248 1,583

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

2,800

3,000

3,200

3,400

3,600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

£65,000,000

£65,500,000

£66,000,000

£66,500,000

£67,000,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

2,940

2,960

2,980

3,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

44,000
44,200
44,400
44,600
44,800
45,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 42



Commentary

Direct Debit Payments
Brendan 
Arnold

96,499 97,044 96,985 51,213 97,427

CTS New Claims – Number of Decisions 
Made

Brendan 
Arnold

697 581 479 547 542

CTS Changes – Number of Decisions Made
Brendan 
Arnold

2,941 1,425 1,424 6,574 2,759

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 
number of applications

Brendan 
Arnold

87 64 89 87 64

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 
number of awards

Brendan 
Arnold

49 36 37 48 37

Change of Address for Council Tax = 283. Create Profile = 801. Direct Debit sign up = 346. eBilling sign up for 
Council Tax = 39. eBilling sign up for Business Rates = 1 PIN. Requests = 90. Arrangements for Council Tax = 23

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

200

400

600

800

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

50

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

20

40

60

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 43



Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 
spend against Budget

Brendan 
Arnold

33.98% 54.63% 79.48% 100.00% 29.46%

Procurement savings / benefits achieved (By 
the PSPS procurement team) In quarter

Brendan 
Arnold

£13,925 £1,500 £8,300 £5,500 £0

Digital services take up (services accessed 
online) (PSPS)

Brendan 
Arnold

319 961 1,790 3,033 6,816

Website visitors (accessing website 
information) (PSPS)

Brendan 
Arnold

152,970 160,707 85,037 193,000 155,991

Number of customers using webchat (PSPS) Phil Perry 241 1,783 1,711 2,375 1,544

Percentage of Partnership workforce 
(surveyed collectively) who said ‘Yes’ when 
asked if they felt valued at work

James 
Gilbert

Half 
Yearly

79.00%
Half 

Yearly
84.80%

Half 
Yearly

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

£0

£5,000

£10,000

£15,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 44



Percentage of the Partnership workforce 
(surveyed collectively) who said ‘yes’ they 
feel there are opportunities in the 
Partnership to learn and develop their skills 
and expertise

James 
Gilbert

Half 
Yearly

86.00%
Half 

Yearly
85.50%

Half 
Yearly

Percentage of the Partnership workforce 
(surveyed collectively) who feel informed 
about the Partnership and what decisions it 
is making

James 
Gilbert

Half 
Yearly

87.00%
Half 

Yearly
86.30%

Half 
Yearly

Percentage of the Partnership workforce 
(surveyed collectively) who said ‘yes’ they 
feel the Partnership recognises and supports 
positive mental health in the workplace

James 
Gilbert

Half 
Yearly

87.00%
Half 

Yearly
86.30%

Half 
Yearly

Staff Turnover Cumulative
James 
Gilbert

3.75% 8.60% 11.72% 17.05% 3.51%

Commentary

Voluntary Staff Turnover
James 
Gilbert

3.10% 3.30% 3.50% 3.90% 3.51%

Number of working days lost to sickness per 
Full Time Equivalent (FTE) (Cumulative)

James 
Gilbert

3.24 7.56 11.18 14.19 2.20

Commentary

A 1.49% reduction in turnover compared to the previous

A 0.81 reduction in days lost per FTE to sickness

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 45



External funding – a calculation of external 
Partnership funding received as a trend – 
showing quarter by quarter and including a 
breakdown by Council

James 
Gilbert

£1,121,638 £335,000 £503,734 £73,235 £5,738,470

Number of late reports not made available 
to the Democratic Services teams at agenda 
publication

John 
Medler

0 2 0 5 0

Call volumes (PSPS) Phil Perry 25,315 23,430 22,003 26,656 16,851

Average Call Duration - Customer Contact 
(Seconds) (PSPS)

Phil Perry 312 323 293 294 349

Average Speed of Answer - Customer 
Contact (Seconds) (PSPS)

Phil Perry 173 196 107 155 258

Number of Callbacks (PSPS) Phil Perry 1,789 1,984 1,726 2,955 1,577

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

250

300

350

400

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

100

200

300

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

£0

£2,000,000

£4,000,000

£6,000,000

£8,000,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

2

4

6

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 46



Number of customers using webchat (PSPS) Phil Perry 241 1,783 1,711 2,375 1,544

Customer Contact Centre visits (PSPS) Phil Perry 3,566 3,416 3,566 3,489 4,084

Enquiries via email and social media (PSPS) Phil Perry 2,960 2,679 2,470 2,480 2,931

PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

South Holland Centre Ticket sales
Emily 
Spicer

7,075 5,573 18,414 8,595 0

Visitors to Ayscoughfee Hall Museum
Emily 
Spicer

3,713 6,939 2,430 5,129 5,069

Commentary

Local Only Indicators

Popular half term trail, Medieval weekend, theatre production and increased group visits.

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

2,200

2,400

2,600

2,800

3,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 47



PI Name AD Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Number and percentage of inspections 
arranged within 14 working days

Vicky 
Cherry

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

25

Commentary

Number and percentage of inspections 
arranged within 14 working days

Vicky 
Cherry

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

30.49%

Commentary

Number of damp, condensation and mould 
cases reported in the last quarter   

Vicky 
Cherry

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

Not 
Previously 
Reported

82

Commentary

Number of households evicted in the last 
quarter 

Vicky 
Cherry

3 0 1 0 1

Commentary

HRA

Presently the majority of inspections are being undertaken by an external contractor, we are seeking to bring 

Presently the majority of inspections are being undertaken by an external contractor, we are seeking to bring 

As this is a new KPI the trends will be more informative as the year progresses, however, contextually 82 

Quarter 1 - total of one eviction for rent arrears 

0

10

20

30

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

0

0

0

0

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

50

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

1

2

3

4

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 48



Number of Right to Buy sales completed in 
the last quarter  

Vicky 
Cherry

1 3 4 2 7

Number of new properties completed in the 
last quarter 

Vicky 
Cherry

5 9 8 6 1

Number of stage one complaints received 
per 1,000 homes

Vicky 
Cherry

9.96 22.54 39.84 55.64 12.74

Commentary

Number of stage two complaints received 
per 1,000 homes

Vicky 
Cherry

1.57 2.88 4.72 7.58 0.53

Commentary

Number of anti-social behaviour cases 
opened per 1,000 homes

Vicky 
Cherry

5.50 12.84 24.64 26.85 4.45

Number of anti-social behaviour cases that 
involve hate incidents opened per 1,000 
homes

Vicky 
Cherry

0.00 0.00 0.26 0.26 0.00

A total of 48 Stage 1 complaints have been received during Quarter 1.

A total of 2 Stage 2 Complaints have been received during the first quarter.

0

2

4

6

8

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0

5

10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 49



Number of live cases (as a percentage of 
stock)

Vicky 
Cherry

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.21%

Commentary There were a total of 8 live cases across the total housing stock of 3,767 at period end.

0.00%

0.10%

0.20%

0.30%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

P
age 50



 

   

 

 

 
 
Report To:   Cabinet    
 
Date:    11 November 2025  
 
Subject:   Social Housing Regulation – Q1 and Q2 2025/2026 update    
 
Purpose: To provide Cabinet with an update on progress made towards meeting 

the outcomes of the Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023, including 
revised consumer standards. 

 
Key Decision:  No.  
 
Portfolio Holder:  Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing 
 
Report Of:   Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director - Housing  
 
Report Author:  Adel Gardner, Housing Transformation Manager  
 
Ward(s) Affected:  All wards.  
 
Exempt Report:  No.   

 

 
Summary 
 
The Regulator of Social Housing adopts a co-regulatory approach, holding Councillors 
responsible for ensuring that the Council, in its role as a registered provider of social 
housing, is delivering the outcomes of consumer standards.  
 
On 30th July 2025 the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) published a formal regulatory 
judgement following a programmed inspection of South Holland District Council’s 
Housing Landlord Service. This judgement forms part of the regulatory framework 
introduced under the Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023, which aims to strengthen 
accountability and improve service delivery across the sector.   
  
This report provides assurance to Members that the Council is addressing areas of 
weakness identified in the Regulator of Social Housings C2 judgement of the Council 
against the Consumer Standards as part of its proactive regulatory inspection regime.  
 

 

 
Recommendations 
 

1. That Cabinet approves the Regulatory Improvement Plan (appendix a), and notes 
the progress made in addressing areas of weakness identified in the Regulator of 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8.



 

   

 

 

Social Housings C2 judgement of the Council against the Consumer Standards 
as part of its proactive regulatory inspection regime.  

2. That Cabinet notes the feedback from Performance Monitoring Panel regarding 
the Tenant Satisfaction Measure (TSM) Analysis scrutinised on 15 October 2025 
(included as appendix b)  

3. That Cabinet notes the Tenant Engagement Impact Assessment Report. 
(included as appendix c) 

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To provide oversight, awareness and assurance of the Councils compliance with 
regulatory requirements as a Social Landlord.  

 

 
Other Options Considered 
 
Do nothing – to retain progress updates through operational arrangements with the 
Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing.  This option is not considered to 
be appropriate as the Regulator of Social Housing is clear that Councillors are 
responsible for ensuring that the Council, in its role as a registered provider, is meeting 
the regulatory standards set.  
 

 
1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 As a social landlord, the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) expects the Council to meet 

the outcomes of the Consumer Standards.  These standards are designed to ensure that 

social landlords provide high-quality services and maintain safe, decent homes for tenants. 

The Regulator is not prescriptive about how landlords should achieve the required 

standards, instead emphasises that landlords should work with tenants to define the 

services and approaches that meet tenants needs and service expectations, agreeing them 

on a local level.  

 

1.2 Quarterly updates are provided to Cabinet to provide assurance on the Council’s progress 

towards meeting the outcomes of the consumer standards. 

 
 

2 REPORT 

 
2.1 Programmed inspection   

  
2.2 An inspection of South Holland District Council as a social landlord took place between 

February – July 2025. All four of the Consumer Standards were considered as part of the 
inspection and the Regulatory Judgement has been published on 30th July 2025.   
 

2.3 The Council has been awarded a C2 grade, the second highest available. Cabinet received 

a report on 16th September detailing the findings of the judgement. 
 

 

2.4 The Judgement has confirmed that the Council has provided assurance that it meets the 
Consumer Standards overall but identifies that further work is required in some areas.  
 Page 52



 

   

 

 

2.5 The RSH confirms within its guidance that “where we judge a landlord to be C2 this is 
because we have identified some weaknesses which we consider are material to the 
landlord’s delivery of the outcomes of the Consumer Standards, which if not addressed, are 
likely to lead to poor outcomes for tenants. We expect that landlords graded at C2 will 
develop a plan to drive relevant improvement and will be able to show that weaknesses 
have been addressed so that outcomes for tenants are improved. We expect landlords to 
share relevant improvement plans with tenants.”  

 
2.6 All providers are required to produce an improvement plan setting out details of how they 

plan to improve and address weaknesses identified. Even C1 providers are expected to 
continue to review, evaluate and improve their services to tenants.   
 

2.7 An improvement plan for the housing landlord service has been produced in collaboration 
with the RSH.   

 
2.8 As part of the Council’s Housing Transformation Programme, several workstreams are 

already in place, and these cover most areas identified by the Regulator as needing 
improvement. It is therefore planned that these projects will continue.   
  

2.9 As part of the Judgement it was acknowledged the Council has a number of projects and 
improvement plans in place and the Regulator emphasised the importance of full delivery 
against these plans which include:   

• Housing Transformation Programme  

• Housing repairs online   

• Tenant Engagement and Influence Strategy   

• Stock condition survey programme  

• ASB framework.  
 
2.10 Regulatory Improvement Plan  

 
2.11 The improvement plan has been developed following a comprehensive root cause analysis 

and has been reviewed by the Regulator of Social Housing. It incorporates a range of 
activities that are already accounted for within the wider Transformation Programme, 
ensuring alignment between the regulatory expectations and the Councils aspirations for 
the Housing Landlord Service.  

 
2.12 The improvement plan sets out clear actions, timelines and accountability to drive the 

improvement. The improvement plan is included in appendix A.  
 
2.13 The improvement plan and the existing Housing Transformation Programme will continue to 

be driven by the Housing Transformation Team and overseen by the Assistant Director – 
Housing on the journey towards a C1 grading.  

 
2.14 It is intended that progress will be monitored by the Assistant Director Housing and the 

Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing and will feed into the Social Housing 
Regulation update reported to Cabinet quarterly.  
 

2.15 Social Housing sector update 
 

2.16 The table below summarises the gradings to date (with C1 being the highest grade - 
“delivering the outcomes of the consumer standards” and C4 the lowest grade - “very 
serious failings with improvement needed”). 
 Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-we-approach-regulatory-judgements-and-gradings#:~:text=C1%20and%20C2%20grades&text=This%20means%20that%20in%20delivering,services%20they%20provide%20to%20tenants


 

   

 

 

Outcome of inspection  C1 C2 C3 C4 

Programmed inspection  4 18 15 4 

Landlord self-referred to RSH  0 0 17 0 

Total number of gradings   4 18 32 4 

*2 of the 60 council’s who’ve been inspected are yet to receive their grading which is 
reflected in the figures above.   
 

2.17  Meeting the specific expectations of the consumer standards  
 

2.18 The Assistant Director – Housing and the Director – Communities now meet monthly with 
the Regulator of Social Housing providing updates on progress towards C1.  
 

2.19 Progress towards meeting the outcomes continues to be monitored by Assistant Director-
Housing and Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing, with quarterly updates 
reported to Cabinet and HRA Transformation Board.  
 
Tenant Satisfaction Analysis  
 

2.20 A report was presented to scrutiny on 20 May 2025 on analysis of the 24/25 TSM survey 
responses and further analysis of dissatisfaction was presented to scrutiny on 15 October 
2025 (Appendix B). Feedback from Performance Monitoring Panel (PMP) is summarised 
below. The full report is attached as Appendix B. 

 
2.21 The most commonly occurring reasons stated for dissatisfaction centred around repairs, 

property maintenance and communication. The term ‘repairs’ includes repairs, programmed 
work and safety checks of which our internal repairs department and external contractors 
provide these wors. It is not possible to differentiate between internal and external provider 
for dissatisfaction. 
 

2.22 To support tenants to scrutinise the performance a focus group was help on 24th September 
2025. During this session tenants examined the report on dissatisfaction, shared their views 
and considered whether they agreed with the findings and the action plan.  
 

2.23 The action plan has been agreed at Housing Landlord Board and it will be implemented 
during 26/27. Based on HouseMark advice it can take up to 18 months for service 
improvements to impact TSM survey results.   
 

2.24 PMP received the report on dissatisfaction and responded positively, noting that it was 
encouraging to see satisfaction levels either increasing or remaining consistent. They also 
acknowledged the action plan that had been put forward. In response to a query from the 
panel regarding the achievability of the action plan, Officers provided assurance that the 
proposed timescales had been carefully considered and agreed upon at the Housing 
Landlord Board. These timescales took into account other competing priorities, including 
the improvement plan for the Regulator, and Officers expressed confidence that the actions 
were achievable within the set timeframe. 

 
Tenant Engagement and Influence Impact Assessment  

 
2.25 It is important to monitor and share the impact of the Tenant Engagement and Influence 

Strategy that was adopted in June 2025. Cabinet will receive quarterly updates on Tenant 
Engagement Activity and the impact on tenants and the service (Appendix C). 
 

Page 54



 

   

 

 

2.26 To ensure the Tenant Engagement and Influence Strategy delivers meaningful outcomes, 
feedback mechanisms are embedded throughout all engagement activities. Tenants are 
encouraged to share their views through regular surveys, focus groups, and direct 
conversations, ensuring a wide range of voices are heard. All feedback received is 
reviewed, and resulting actions are clearly tracked and reported on by the Tenant 
Engagement Lead. This approach not only demonstrates accountability but also enables 
the service to evidence how tenant input directly shapes improvements.  
 

2.27 The establishment of the Tenant Forum has provided a platform for tenants to influence 
decision making and ensure their voices are heard. Feedback from tenants has directly 
informed the development of key policies coming forward such as Aids and Adaptations 
and Reasonable Adjustments Policy, ensuring they are grounded in real experiences and 
priorities.  
 

2.28 The Reading Group’s “seal of approval” has added an extra layer of tenant scrutiny, helping 
to ensure that communications and policy documents are accessible and relevant.  
 

2.29 Additionally, tenant input has been used in the implementation of Awaab’s Law letters, 
ensuring that information provided to tenants is clear, timely, and responsive to their needs. 
 

2.30 These initiatives demonstrate the Councils commitment to the journey of meaningful tenant 
involvement and continuous improvement across all aspects of the service. 

 
2.31 Rent standard   
 
2.32 Social housing landlords must meet the Rent Standard, set by the Regulator of Social 

Housing.   
 
2.33 A rent standard is published annually by the Regulator, confirming the maximum rent 

adjustment for the following financial year.   A submission was submitted before the 
deadline of 11 July.      

 
2.34 Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code (1 April 2024)    

  
2.35 A year-end report on complaints, including compliance with the Code, was presented to 

scrutiny on 20 May 2025 and Cabinet on 10 June 2025.  
 

2.36 The submission to the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Service was submitted by the 
deadline of 30 September 2025. 
  

2.37 Housing Landlord Strategy and Transformation and Service Improvement 
Programme update  
 

2.38 Landlord Strategy 
  

2.39 The following progress has been made:   

• Culture and Operational Excellence – Annual report being sent to tenants in 
Autumn 2025 based on tenant communication preferences including literature on 
how to report a repair and join the Tenant Forum. Some managers have completed 
Chartered Institute of Housing Studies, supporting professional development across 
the services in line with the Competence and Conduct Standard expected from 
October 2026, with some still studying. A new cohort of Officers due to start in 
2026. Report to Scrutiny in October on the dissatisfaction reported in the Tenant 

Page 55



 

   

 

 

Satisfaction Measures for 24/25 and action plan to address. Capital Programme 
Clinic established to monitor the ongoing delivery of the capital works programme.  

• Quality Homes and Connected Neighbourhoods – over 82% of stock condition 
surveys completed (representative sample fed into HRA business plan modelling by 
Savills of which Members are being consulted on during Winter 2025). Phase 2 of 
stock condition survey programme. Introduction of Phase 1 of Awaab's Law. 
Adoption of the ASB Framework. This document sets out a commitment to ASB 
case management prior to commencing a transformation programme. Actions in 
this report are being delivered by the Housing ASB Lead. A new policy co created 
with tenants on the Disabled Aids and Adaptations Survey was considered by 
scrutiny on 23 September 2025 and will be presented to Cabinet in November 2025 
for adoption. No access working group established.  

• Accountability and Transparency – A Reasonable Adjustments Policy was drafted 
and consulted with tenants and external bodies, this was presented to scrutiny on 
23 September 2025 and will be presented to Cabinet in November 2025. Tenant 
census data used to prioritise stock survey remedial works. Annual report being 
sent to tenants in Winter 2025 with information on how we spend their rent, and 
specific TSM breakdowns to support tenants to effectively scrutinise the Councils 
performance following focus group feedback.  

• Tenant Voice and Opportunity – Tenant Engagement strategy adopted in June 
2025. Tenant Forum launched in July 2025 including a series of in person events 
held across the district. First newly established tenant focus groups launched in 
August and September 2025 including a property focus group, tenancy focus group 
and complaints and performance focus group. These groups provide tenants with 
meaningful opportunities to shape forthcoming policies, including the Disabled Aids 
and Adaptations Policy, and to scrutinise our performance against Tenant 
Satisfaction Measures. The complaints and performance group has also been an 
opportunity for tenants to scrutinise the data at a more granular level.  

 
2.40 Upon receiving notification of the Programmed Inspection early in 2025, the Housing 

Transformation Team's focus shifted to supporting the Council through its regulatory 
inspection.   

 
2.41 Once the inspection was complete in July 2025 the Transformation Teams focus shifted 

back to delivery of the Transformation Programme and resetting the programme based on 
the anticipated findings of the Judgement.  

 
2.42 A revised programme for 25/26 was established based on the Regulatory inspection, 

whilst awaiting the findings. During this time, the Transformation Team focussed on 

delivering existing projects including: 

• Damp, condensation and mould (Awaabs Law) 

• Aids and adaptations  

• Data and information management    

• Tenant engagement  

• Competence and conduct.   

 
 

2.43 Responses submitted to MHCLG/Housing Ombudsman consultations  
 

2.44 Registered Providers have been consulted on the following, with findings and next steps 
as follows: 

• Awaabs Law  Page 56



 

   

 

 

o Phase 1 to be implemented by 27 October 2025 
o Phase 2 and 3 expand to a wider range of hazards in 2026 and 2027 

• Competence and Conduct Standard 
o To be implemented from October 2026 with a three-year transition period.  

• Decent Homes 2  
o Consultation completed; findings and next steps are pending publication.  

• Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES)  
o Consultation completed; findings and next steps are pending publication.  

• Rent Convergence  
o Consultation completed; findings and next steps are pending publication.  

 
3.        Conclusion     
 
3.1 The legislative and regulatory changes introduced are both significant and far-reaching, 

reshaping the strategic and operational delivery of housing services. These developments 
influence how resources are allocated, the scope and depth of data collected, and the ways 
in which tenants are actively involved in shaping services. The council’s response, through 
its Improvement Plan and Transformation Programme, ensures that these changes are 
embedded into practice, supporting compliance, transparency, and continuous 
improvement across the housing service. 

 
 

4.   EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 
 
4.1 There are no immediate benefits to the Partnership. However, South Holland as a 

sovereign partner Council continues to contribute to the overall reputation of the 

Partnership, sharing best practice and working across directorates to improve the services 

received by residents as well as tenants.  

   
5. IMPLICATIONS    

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
None.  
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
None.  
 
Staffing 
 
None. 

Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
A second cohort of Housing Managers are due to begin studying for relevant Chartered Institute of 

Housing qualifications. Whilst officers are committed to completing the qualifications, it should be 

noted that the Chartered Institute of Housing advises that the study requires a commitment of 8 

hours per week to be completed (over a period of 12 months).  

 Page 57



 

   

 

 

Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
None.  
 
Data Protection 
 
None.  
 
Financial 
 
The Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023 has directed the Council to engage in specific activities. 
The associated costs for 25/26 to date are detailed in the table below.  
 

Financial year 2025/26 

Q1 Three new permanent posts added to 
establishment (ASB Lead Officer, Housing 
Service Insight and Improvement Lead Officer, 
and Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead 
Officer). (Amount includes on-costs).  

£166,262 the costs 
are covered 
by existing 
HRA 
budgets 

Q2 Altair – for support post inspection (including 
review of evidence submitted to RSH) 

£20,000 the costs 
are covered 
by existing 
HRA 
budgets 

Q3 No costs committed at present.  -  

Q4 No costs committed at present.  -  

Total spend for 2025/26 £186,262  

 
 
Risk Management 
 
None.  
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
The Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing and Director for Communities have been 
consulted. They continue to be regularly updated as Chair and Sponsor, of the Housing 
Transformation and Improvement Programme Board.   

  
Regular briefings are being held with Housing Landlord Service Managers, the wider Housing 
Service, Senior Leadership Team and all Members (informally) to keep them updated on the 
progress of the Housing Transformation and Improvement Programme and sector updates. 

  
Quarterly updates are provided to Cabinet on progress made towards delivering the outcomes of 

the Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023, including revised consumer standards. 

Tenants will be kept informed of the progress made towards delivering the outcomes of the 

consumer standards through the annual report, newsletters, website and specific focus groups 

such as TSM scrutiny groups.  

PMP were consulted on the contents of the report into further understanding of Tenant 

dissatisfaction areas from the 2024/25 Tenant Satisfaction Survey. 

Page 58



 

   

 

 

Reputation 
 
The Council welcomes the Regulator of Social Housing’s recent judgement and acknowledges 
the C2 grading as a valuable opportunity for growth and improvement. This outcome reflects the 
Council’s commitment to transparency and continuous learning, and the Council is encouraged by 
the recognition of our strengths alongside areas for development. The judgement provides a clear 
framework for enhancing housing services, and it is already taking proactive steps to address the 
improvement areas identified. The Council view this as a pivotal moment to strengthen 
governance, deepen tenant engagement, and ensure homes meet the highest standards of safety 
and quality. The focus remains firmly on delivering excellent outcomes for tenants and 
communities.  
 
Contracts 
 
None.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
None.  
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
The C2 judgement provides a constructive foundation for improving housing services in ways that 
directly support the health and wellbeing of our tenants. By addressing the identified areas for 
improvement, the Council is better positioned to ensure homes are safe, well-maintained, and 
responsive to tenant needs creating healthier living environments and promoting greater quality of 
life across our communities.  
 
Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
None.  
 
Acronyms 
 

• SELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

• MHCLG – Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government  

• RSH – Regulator of Social Housing.  

• TSM – Tenant Satisfaction Measures  

• PMP – Performance Monitoring Panel  

Appendices  
 
Appendix A - Regulator of Social Housing Improvement Plan  
Appendix B – Report to PMP on 15th October 2025 - Further understanding of Tenant 
Dissatisfaction areas from the 2024/25 Tenant Satisfaction Survey  
Appendix C – Tenant Engagement and Influence Impact Report  
 
Background Papers 
 Page 59



 

   

 

 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 
Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Regulator of Social Housing - 
Consumer Standards  

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-
the-consumer-standards 
 

SHDC Landlord Strategy 
2024-2026  

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-
Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-
2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-
2026.pdf?m=1707905746373 

SHDC Regulatory Judgement  South Holland District Council (32UF) - Regulatory 
Judgement: 30 July 2025 - GOV.UK  

 
Chronological History of this Report 
A report on this item has previously been considered by a Council body: 
 
Name of Body Date 
Cabinet June 2025 
 
Report Approval 
Report author:  Adel Gardner, Housing Transformation 

Manager  
Adel.gardner@sholland.gov.uk  

Signed off by: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director - Housing  
vcherry@sholland.gov.uk  
  

Approved for publication: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for 
Strategic and Operational Housing    
 

 

Page 60

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-holland-district-council/south-holland-district-council-32uf-regulatory-judgement-30-july-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-holland-district-council/south-holland-district-council-32uf-regulatory-judgement-30-july-2025
mailto:Adel.gardner@sholland.gov.uk


South Holland District Council Consumer Standard post inspection implementation plan 
October 2025  

Action plan in response to Regulator of Social Housing Regulatory Judgment on 31/7/25 South Holland District Council (32UF) - Regulatory Judgement: 30 July 2025 - GOV.UK    
 
Monitoring progress 

Quarterly updates will be provided to the following: 

• Cabinet 

• Complaints and Performance Tenant focus group (transitioning to the Tenant Influence Panel, once established).   

Action plan 

No. Action required How will the tenant feel the impact? What evidence will be used to assure ourselves and our 
stakeholders? 

Completion date  
 

Action owner  

The Council has an accurate, up to date and evidenced understanding of the condition of homes that reliably informs the provision of good quality, well maintained and safe homes for tenants.  

1 100% of stock 
condition surveys 
completed  

Minor repairs or urgent issues identified during the 
survey will be addressed quickly.  Strategic investment 
plans based on survey data lead to sustained 
improvements across the housing stock.  Tenants benefit 
from better living conditions, reduced maintenance 
issues, and improved satisfaction. 
 

Report to Cabinet on stock condition survey findings and 
validation of Decent Homes Standard position.  (Completion 
of phase 1)  
 
 
Report to Cabinet on stock condition survey findings and 
validation of Decent Homes Standard position.  (Completion 
of phase 2)  

January 2026  
 
 
 
April 2026 
 
 
 

Housing Repairs and Compliance 
Manager 
 
 
Head of Housing Investment and 
Development 

2 Review and analyse 
Stock Condition 
Surveys data to verify 
Decent Home 
Standard position  

Tenants may receive clearer communication about how 
their home meets (or doesn’t meet) the Decent Homes 
Standard, and what will be done about it. 
 
Ensures that investment decisions are based on actual 
data, reducing the risk to tenants.  
 

Report to Cabinet on stock condition survey findings and 
validation of Decent Homes Standard position.  (Completion 
of phase 1)  
 
 
Report to Cabinet on stock condition survey findings and 
validation of Decent Homes Standard position.  (Completion 
of phase 2) 

April 2026 
 

Head of Housing Investment and 
Development 

3 Establish and 
implement a 
Business-as-Usual 
programme for 
ongoing stock 
condition surveys  

Ensures that investment decisions are based on actual 
data, reducing the risk to tenants.  
 

Report to Cabinet on Asset Management Strategy  April 2026 
 

Head of Housing Investment and 
Development 

The Council provides an effective, efficient and timely repairs, maintenance and planned improvements service.  

4 Enhanced contract 
management 
ensuring tenant voice 
is heard  

Improved service provided by contractors to tenants.  
Improved negotiations as part of contract extensions 
sees greater value for money for tenants.  Tenants 
involved in specifications with major contracts.   

Capital Programme Clinic Papers and Terms of Reference. 
 
 
Contract specifications/similar drafted with tenants     

Completed.    
 
 
June 2026  
 

Housing Transformation Manager  
 
 
Head of Housing Investment and 
Development 

5 Introduce a code of 
conduct for all 
contractors  

Tenants will experience more respectful, professional 
interactions.  
Clear escalation routes will be available if conduct falls 
short. 

Code of conduct developed by tenants and contractors.   March 2026 Tenant Engagement Lead supported by 
Housing Projects Surveyor  

6 Analysis of Tenant 
Satisfaction Measures 
data to further 

Tenant dissatisfaction will be further understood by the 
Council, resulting in service improvements 

Tenant Satisfaction Measures analysis reported to 
Performance Monitoring Panel and Cabinet.  
 

December 2025 
 
 

Data and Insight Lead  
 

P
age 61

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-holland-district-council/south-holland-district-council-32uf-regulatory-judgement-30-july-2025


understand where 
dissatisfaction lies  

The Council has a clear policy and approach to deter and tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB) and hate incidents in neighbourhoods.   Analysis of ASB case management supports the Council in identifying hotspots and 
delivering a preventative approach to ASB.   

7 Improved Anti-Social 
Behaviour case 
management  

Tenants benefit from improved case management of 
ASB with better communication and a preventative 
approach to ASB.   
 
 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour Framework developed with tenants and 
reported to Policy Development Panel and Cabinet for 
adoption  
 
Staff training on Anti-Social Behaviour regulations  
 
Enhanced KPI suite adopted and reported at Compliance 
Clinic and PMP 
 
Satisfaction surveys being rolled out (reported at Compliance 
Clinic)  
 
Governance framework updated setting out the reporting 
arrangements 

Completed  
 
 
 
Completed  
 
Completed 
 
 
December 2025  
 
 
November 2025 

Housing Service Manager  
 
 
 
ASB Housing Lead  
 
ASB Housing Lead  
 
 
ASB Housing Lead  
 
 
Housing Transformation Manager  

The Council has an approach to maintaining tenant data and utilises this to improve tenant outcomes, proactively managing vulnerabilities.  

8 Service access report  Tenants would feel the impact of a Service Access Report 
through more personalised support, fairer access to 
services, and quicker responses to their needs. 

Annual report to Performance Monitoring Panel May 2026 Data and Insight Lead  

9 Vulnerability policy 
adopted  

Vulnerable tenants will receive enhanced support, such 
as priority repairs, welfare checks, or tailored 
communication. This promotes safety and wellbeing. 

Tenant consultation summary.  
 
 
Policy presented to scrutiny and Cabinet for adoption  

August 2025  
 
 
November 2025  
 
 

Housing Transformation Manager  
 
 
Housing Transformation Manager 
 

10 No Access Working 
Group established 

Vulnerable tenants will feel that processes have been 
adjusted to consider the difficulties they may have in 
granting access in their homes, and that the Council 
works with them to overcome access issues.    

Terms of reference for no access group  
 
 

Completed  
 
 

Housing Transformation Manager  
 
 

11 Standardise approach 
to how tenant data is 
collected, stored, and 
used, including 
routine analysis of 
service access. 
 

Tenants will benefit from more personalised services 
and targeted support. Those facing barriers will be 
identified and supported more proactively. 

Report to Housing Landlord Board with case studies. 
 
Tenancy audit programme  
  
 
 
 

March 2026 
 
February 2026  

Data and Insight Lead 
  
Housing Services Manager  

Tenants have a variety of ways to influence and scrutinise the Council’s housing landlord service, including performance.  The Council takes tenants’ views into account in decision-making and communicates how 
tenants’ views have been considered.  

 12 Engagement plan set 
for 2026/27  
 

Tenants are aware of the opportunities over the year 
and can choose which events they take part in.   

Tenant engagement programme of activity 
Involvement news and events - South Holland District Council 

Completed  Tenant Engagement Lead  

13 Establish and embed 
a range of 
mechanisms for 
tenants to influence 
the service  

Tenants scrutinise service delivery and oversee changes 
driven by tenant feedback. This ensures services are 
shaped by lived experience.  
 

Terms of references for groups established  
 
 
Tenant Engagement Impact assessment quarterly report to 
Cabinet  

December 2025 
 
 
March 2026 
 

Tenant Engagement Lead  
 
 
Tenant Engagement Lead 
 

P
age 62

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/tenant-events


  
Tenant Satisfaction Measures scrutiny 24/25:  Performance 
Monitoring Panel Tenant Satisfaction Measures analysis report  
 
 
Complaints performance and policy review outcome report 
 
 
Tenant consultation on business plan and asset management 
strategy outcome report    
 
 
Tenant Satisfaction Measures scrutiny 24/25:  Performance 
Monitoring Panel Tenant Satisfaction Measures analysis 
report. 
 
Aids and adaptations consultation outcome report   
 
 
Damp Condensation and Mould policy consultation outcome 
report.  
 

 
December 2025 
 
 
 
 
April 2026 
 
 
TBC 
 
 
 
August 2026 
 
 
Completed 
 
 
March 2026 
 

 
Data and Insight Lead 
 
 
Tenant Engagement Lead 
 
 
Head of Housing Investment and 
Development 
 
 
Data and Insight Lead 
 
 
Completed  
 
 
Housing Transformation Manager  

14 Formal panel 
established to 
scrutinise 
performance  

Tenants involved in the panel will shape service delivery. 
All tenants benefit from improvements driven by peer 
oversight and lived experience. 

Report to Cabinet on establishing a tenant engagement and 
influence board. 
 
Terms of reference  
 
Minutes from the meetings 

June 2026  
 
 
June 2026  
 
June 2026 
 

Tenant Engagement Lead  

15 Review of tenant 
engagement 
resourcing 
arrangements 

Tenants will experience more visible, responsive, and 
consistent opportunities to have their voices heard and 
influence services. 

Recruitment of Tenant Engagement Officer posts  April 2026  Tenant Engagement Lead  

The Council provides tenants with a range of relevant and accessible information, including its performance in delivering landlord services  

16 Develop an approach 
with tenants to 
address barriers of 
non-digital access. 

Tenants will feel more informed and connected to 
housing services. Performance transparency builds trust 
and accountability. 

Tenant Engagement Impact assessment quarterly report to 
Cabinet  
 

June 2026  Tenant Engagement Lead  

  

*ends* 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

Report To: Performance Monitoring Panel 
 
Date: 15 October 2025 
 
Subject: Further understanding of Tenant Dissatisfaction areas from the 

2024/25 Tenant Satisfaction Survey  
 
Purpose: To provide Performance Monitoring Panel with further insights 

from the 2024/25 Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM) Survey 
Responses 

 
Key Decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Carter - Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 

Housing 
 
Report Of: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director – Housing  
 
Report Author: James Ward, Housing Insights & Improvement Lead  
 
Ward(s) Affected: All Wards 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 
 

 
Summary 
 
Further to the ‘Tenant Satisfaction Measures’ report of 20th May 2025, this report 
provides further insight into reasons for dissatisfaction provided by survey respondents.  
 
In addition, this report notifies of a reporting correction to performance measure ‘RP01’ 
“% of homes that meet the decent homes Standard”, where previous performance has 
previously been under-reported. 
 

 

 
Recommendations 
 

1. That Performance Monitoring Panel notes the contents of this report and insights 
surrounding tenant dissatisfaction and provides comments for consideration by 
Cabinet.  

2. That Performance Monitoring Panel notes the restated and improved 
performance achieved for indicator RP01“% of homes that meet the decent 
homes Standard”. 

Page 65



2 
 

  

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
The Regulator of Social Housing is clear that Councillors are responsible for ensuring 
that the Council, in its role as a registered provider, is meeting the regulatory standards 
set. Performance and satisfaction data assists Councillors in scrutinising the service. 
 

 

 
 
Other Options Considered 
 
Do nothing – this option is not considered. 
 

 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard requires all Registered 

Providers of social housing to collect and report annually on their performance using 
a core set of defined measures known as Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSMs).  

 
1.2 Introduced for 2023/24, the TSMs must meet requirements set by the Regulator of 

Social Housing. The Measures provide tenants with greater transparency about their 
landlord’s performance and support the Regulator in assessing a Registered 
Providers’ ability to deliver a housing service that meets the consumer standards. 
 

1.3 As previously indicated a TSM Summary report was presented to Performance 
Monitoring Panel on 20 May 2025. A copy of the report can be viewed via the 
attached link. Agenda for Performance Monitoring Panel on Tuesday, 20th May, 
2025, 6.30 pm - South Holland District Council  
 

1.4 From the TSM analysis undertaken, the service has completed further analysis to 
identify if there were any common themes or insights, specifically looking at reasons 
for dissatisfaction. The briefing provided below in section 2 highlights the key 
observations. 

 
1.5 It should be noted that the TSM survey was completed as an ‘Anonymous survey’ 

and it has therefore not been possible to complete tenant specific investigations or 
insights.  

 
 
2 TSM Dissatisfaction  
 
2.1 The observations in this report are centred on dissatisfaction recorded within the 

2024/25 TSM report; it is important to note that SHDC ‘satisfaction’ improved or 
remained consistent across almost all measures when comparing 2024/25 to the 
previous year, and SHDC’s 2024/25 performance is higher than the national 
benchmark across all indicators as per figs 2.1 & 2.2 below.   
 

Page 66

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MID=3265
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MID=3265


3 
 

Fig. 2.1 

 

Satisfaction measure Benchmark 

2024/25 

2023/24 2024/25 

TP01 – Satisfaction Overall 68% 73% 74% 

TP02 – Repairs service in last 

12 months 

71% 70% 73% 

TP03 – Time taken to complete 

last repair 

66% 62% 76% 

TP04 – Home is well 

maintained 

67% 71% 75% 

TP05 – Home is safe 74% 86% 86% 

TP06 – listens to views and acts 

on them 

56% 60% 65% 

TP07 – Being kept informed 67% 73% 76% 

TP08 - Treated fairly and with 

respect 

74% 84% 83% 

TP09 – Approach to handling 

complaints 

29% 28% 34% 

TP10 – Communal areas clean 

and maintained 

63% 67% 81% 

TP11 – Makes positive 

contribution to area 

60% 66% 72% 

TP12 – Approach to handling 

ASB 

54% 50% 69% 

 
2.2 As fig 2.2 overleaf illustrates, the levels of dissatisfaction are proportionately modest 

when compared to neutral or positive responses. Observation noted below should 
therefore be considered within this context. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 67



4 
 

 
Fig 2.2 

 

 
 
 

2.3 The TSM survey asked tenants whether they were satisfied or dissatisfied with the 
overall service received; where a tenant reported dissatisfaction further verbal 
reasoning and comments were captured. These comments have been categorised, 
the tree map below highlights the most common themes reported 

41.2%

50.0%

50.3%

47.7%

56.0%

38.9%

46.8%

40.7%

36.8%

39.8%

33.2%

23.0%

26.1%

26.9%

29.6%

25.8%

29.4%

42.8%

35.0%

29.0%

15.5%

12.6%

9.5%

13.7%

7.8%

14.1%

14.4%

12.5%

15.3%

11.3%

6.9%

7.1%

5.5%

7.4%

3.1%

10.3%

6.1%

2.5%

7.5%

6.5%

3.2%

7.4%

8.6%

4.2%

3.4%

10.9%

3.2%

1.5%

5.4%

13.4%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Overall Service

'Repairs service

'Speed of repairs

'Well Maintained home

'A Safe home

'Listens & acts

'Keeping Informed

'Treated with respect

'Contribution to neighbourhood

'Anti-social behaviour

Tenant Satisfaction Responses

Very Satisfied Fairly Satisfied Neither Fairly Dissatisfied Very Dissatisfied

Page 68



5 
 

 
 
 

2.4 As the chart above in 2.3 illustrates the most commonly occurring reasons provided 
centred around repairs, property maintenance and communication.  This pattern was 
witnessed in other areas of the TSM survey, where tenants reported dissatisfaction 
against a particular topic, the reasoning or rationalisation commonly linked back 
around to dissatisfaction with repairs or the communication of them. 

 
2.5 Key influencers to ‘dissatisfaction’ across the 6 broad survey areas were found to be: 

 

Survey area Key dissatisfaction influences 

Overall Service Repairs, Communication & handling of ASB 

The Home  Repairs service, Quality and speed of repairs, management of 
communal areas 

Repairs service Quality of repairs, wait times for repairs & communication 
around repairs 

Communication  Communication of repairs, cancelled repairs appointments, 
making general enquiries  

Neighbourhood Reponses to ASB, Communication and grounds 
maintenance/cleansing  

Complaints  Communication and the repairs service 

 
2.6 The term 'repairs' includes repairs, programmed work, and safety checks. Our 

Housing Repairs Team and external contractors provide these services. It has not 
been possible to analyse the data further to differentiate dissatisfaction between 
internal and external providers. 

 
2.7 Satisfaction and dissatisfaction scores across different tenant categories were 

generally very consistent, it was noted however that: 
 

• Tenant age does influence satisfaction to a degree, with retirement age 
tenants (65 and over) more satisfied than the under 35s 

• Tenancy length did not appear to influence satisfaction 

Page 69



6 
 

• Tenants living in Sheltered housing were somewhat more satisfied than those 
in general needs housing 

• Tenant satisfaction/dissatisfaction was consistent across the 8 housing 
patches 
 

The Home    
2.8 Dissatisfaction ‘with the home’ has remained consistent or marginally improved 

compared to 2023/24. Only 6% of respondents were dissatisfied with home safety; 
9% dissatisfied with maintenance and cleanliness of communal areas; and 11% 
dissatisfied with home maintenance. 61 respondents were fairly or very dissatisfied 
when asked the question “How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that South Holland 
District Council provides a home that is well maintained?” Reasons provided 
generally focussed on issues with the repairs service, including quality and 
timeliness of work. Windows, doors and damp and mould were also a very common 
topic referenced. 

 
The Repairs Service  

2.9 Performance in this area has improved compared to 2023/24 with 73% of 
respondents having a positive perception of the service compared to 70% in the 
previous survey. This improvement appears to largely have been driven by the 
improvements in the time taken to complete their repair which has increased from 
62% satisfaction to 76% satisfaction this year. 

 
2.10 In total 47 respondents stated that they were ‘fairly’ or ‘very dissatisfied’ with the 

repairs. Survey responses highlighted that repairs were cited as a key reason for 
tenant dissatisfaction. To better understand this issue, indicative analysis was 
undertaken by linking repair data from the NEC system with TSM responses. This 
allowed identification of the most recent repair type received by each respondent. 
This analysis revealed the most common repair categories, and the ones 
associated mostly with dissatisfaction.  

 
2.11 Communication around repairs was another area of dissatisfaction. Tenants 

expressed frustration with delays, lack of updates, and cancelled appointments. 
Enhancing transparency and managing expectations are key priorities. Suggested 
improvements include reviewing contact channels, providing process maps, and 
exploring online repairs processes. 

 
2.12 Dissatisfaction was also noted regarding windows and doors, particularly where 

issues contributed to damp, condensation and mould. Additional insight into DCM 
analysis will inform future planning of work programming.  

 
2.13 DCM related complaints often stem from long-standing or recurring issues. To 

improve tenant experience a proactive communications campaign has been 
launched to raise tenant awareness round how to report issues related to damp, 
condensation and mould. In addition, a 6 month follow up call process has been 
introduced to assess the effectiveness of remedial works and ensure a sustained 
resolution of reported issues.  

 
2.14 Whilst the Councils performance meets or exceeds national average, there is 

potential for improvement. To address these areas of improvement, a range of 
actions are proposed, including exploring further with tenants the dissatisfaction in 

Page 70



7 
 

focus groups, explore a methodology for tenant sign off processes, and better 
scheduling and communication mechanisms. 

 
Communication  

 
2.15 Beyond housing repairs, general communication was also identified as a source of 

dissatisfaction. Currently, there is limited monitoring of communication performance 
outside of formal complaints. A review is recommended to assess response times 
and update the website content. Work is underway with the customer contact team 
to understand the reason behind tenant contact and to assess whether some 
interactions could be avoided through improved processes or clearer information. 
 
Neighbourhood 

 
2.16 Tenant satisfaction with their neighbourhood had improved significantly since 2024, 

with 72% of tenants satisfied that the Council makes a positive contribution to the 
neighbourhood and 69% of tenants satisfied with the Councils handling of ASB; this 
compares favourably to 2024/25 performance which was 66% and 50% 
respectively. 

 
2.17 Dissatisfaction levels were low, with only 13% of respondents not satisfied with the 

Councils contribution to the neighbourhood; and 20% of respondents were not 
satisfied with its handling of ASB. Dissatisfaction with neighbourhoods commonly 
referenced the tidiness and upkeep of communal areas such as outdoor areas, 
grass cutting, waste clearance and dog fouling. The Tenant Engagement Lead is 
looking to review the service level agreement of standards for communal areas and 
neighbourhoods with tenants as part of newly established focus groups to better 
understand what tenants would like to see.  

 
2.18 ASB complaints also contributed to dissatisfaction, however in the majority of 

feedback received it was the tenant’s general dissatisfaction with the ASB reported 
and not specifically the Council’s handling of it. This feedback will be used to inform 
ongoing development of the ASB service and policy development, ensuring that 
tenant concerns are addressed effectively.  

  
Complaints  
 

2.19 Respondents reporting that they were dissatisfied with the Council’s approach to 
complaints is, 21% of respondents being very dissatisfied and 26% being fairly 
dissatisfied. It may however be noted that during the survey many respondents 
were referencing ‘general grievances and escalated service requests’ and not solely 
formal complaints raised, as many respondents had not raised a formal complaint 
within the previous 12 months. 

 
2.20 Where dissatisfaction was referenced, it was most related to communication and 

co-ordination of escalated service requests, especially those related to the repairs 
service.  

  
Proposed Action 

2.21 Dissatisfaction with a service element is often influenced by related elements, which 
can negatively affect the tenant's overall satisfaction; this was particularly evident 
where dissatisfaction centred around repairs and communication. 

Page 71



8 
 

 
2.22 To address these findings and improve tenant satisfaction, a proposed action plan 

has been developed and is included as Appendix a. This plan outlines targeted 
interventions across repairs, communication, and service delivery, aiming to 
enhance the overall tenant experience. 

 
3.     Tenant Voice  

 
3.1      The Tenant Satisfaction Measures are intended to help tenants see how their 

landlord is performing and to empower them to hold the service to account.  
 
3.2 To support this, a TSM focus group was held on 24th September 2025 providing 

tenants with the opportunity to scrutinise the service alongside the Housing Insight 
and Improvement Lead and the Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead. During 
these sessions, tenants examined the report on dissatisfaction, shared their views, 
and considered whether they agreed with the findings and supported the proposed 
action plan.  
 

3.3 Tenants were asked a series of questions  

• What do you think of the TSMS – do you like the way they are presented? 

• Do they tell you what you need to know? 

• Would you like more detail on the TSMs? 
 

Tenant Feedback  Response/ Action 

Benchmarking – Tenants feel 
national benchmarking is 
misleading due to inclusion of large 
cities; prefer comparison with local 
Lincolnshire authorities. 

Consider introducing local benchmarking 
alongside national data in future TSM 
reporting. Explore working with 
neighbouring councils for shared metrics. 

TSM Survey contact – Tenants 
want to be notified when the 
contractor will be contacting them 
for TSM surveys. 

Deliver a communications campaign to 
inform tenants that the named contractor 
will be contacting some tenants to 
participate in the TSM survey. The 
selection of tenants is based on a defined 
methodology, and therefore the survey is 
not open to all tenants. Clearly 
communicate how tenants can provide 
feedback in other ways outside of the 
TSMs. 

Repairs sign-off – Tenants want a 
way to confirm repairs are 
completed to their satisfaction. 

Already reflected in Action 3 (Appendix a): 
"Tenant Sign-off methodology" to be 
explored via tenant forums. Consider pilot 
testing a digital or verbal sign-off process.  

Voids standard – Tenants asked 
for the void standard to be 
published  

Publish the void standard and look into 
inviting feedback via forums or surveys. 

TSM breakdown - Tenants 
expressed a desire for TSM results 
to be broken down by general 
needs vs sheltered housing, and 

Explore opportunities to provide more local 
insight including breaking down results by 
general needs and sheltered tenants and 
exploring geographical and household 
level breakdown.  

Page 72



9 
 

further by geographical area and 
household type. 

Customer contact – Tenants feel 
the experience with customer 
contact is part of the overall tenant 
satisfaction perception and would 
like customer contact to attend a 
future focus group  

Already partly reflected in Action 17 
(Appendix a): Repeat contact review.  
Tenant Engagement Lead to liaise with 
Customer Contact to explore attendance at 
a future tenant engagement event.  

 
 
3.4 Tenant feedback has been captured as actions within the included action plan, 

Appendix a.  
 
4. TSM Next steps  
 
4.1 Following the completion of the 2024/25 TSM survey and analysis undertaken it 

has been identified that changes to the 2025/26 survey format are desired to 
enable further insights to be gained. The key changes proposed are: 

 

• Where tenants report strong satisfaction verbal feedback will be captured, 
similar to how it is currently for dissatisfaction. This will provide a stronger 
understanding of what influences tenants satisfaction as opposed to just 
dissatisfaction and allow the service to build on its successes.  
 

• Where tenants report or discuss repairs and maintenance issues the survey 
will capture the specific type/category of repair to better understand whether 
there are any specific trades or repair types that are performing more poorly 
in tenant perceptions. 

 

• Volunteer follow ups – where tenants report significant dissatisfaction they 
will be asked if they wish to lift their anonymity and provide further detailed 
insights/complaint follow ups directly with the housing service. 

 
4.2 These proposed changes are being integrated into the 2025/26 TSM survey which 

is due to commence in Autumn 2025. This should allow for more detailed insights to 
be gained from the 2025/26 survey. 

  
4.3 The proposed action plan (appendix a) is to be considered by the Housing Landlord 
 Board. Progress against the plan will be reported to the Board regularly for ongoing 
 tracking and oversight. 

 
5  Revision to RP01 KPI reported performance (‘Proportion of Homes that do not 

meet the decent homes Standard %’) 
 

5.1 The Performance and Monitoring Panel is requested to note that performance for 
the KPI indicator RP01 has significantly improved. Validation of data prior to 
submission to RSH in June 2025 identified the calculation had not allowed for 
certain categories to be removed in order to match another government return, 
Officers were pleased to report a year end figure of 0.3% non decent (10 properties) 
rather than 1.7% (64 properties).  

 
Implications 

Page 73



10 
 

 
None 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
None 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
None 
 
Staffing 
 
None 
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
None 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
All registered Providers of social housing with over 1000 units are required to collect and 
report annually on their performance via the TSMs, under the Transparency, Influence and 
Accountability Standard of the regulatory standards for landlords. This regulatory 
framework was introduced by the Social Housing Regulation Act 2024. 
 
Data Protection 
 
None 
 
Financial 
 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report 
 
Risk Management 
 
None. 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
Tenants have been informed of the TSM 2024/2025 results through promotion on the 
website and the results will be included in the annual report. Additionally, tenants were 
given the opportunity to feedback on performance during a dedicated focus group held on 
24th September as detailed in the report.  
 
Housing Landlord Managers and the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 
Housing considered the detailed analysis report on dissatisfaction at Housing Compliance 
Clinic on 25th July 2025. Feedback recommended that this summary report be brought to 
PMP to provide members with the further insight to highlight how the landlord service is 
performing and the proactive steps being taken using the TSMs to improve the service for 
tenants.  
 

Page 74



11 
 

Housing Landlord Board considered the report on dissatisfaction and adopted the 
accompanying action plan on 1st October 2025. 
 
Members received the first report on the TSM 2024/2025 results on 20th May 2025. 
 
Reputation 
 
Tenant perceptions and dissatisfaction with Housing Services may, or are likely to be, 
indirectly influenced by tenant’s other experiences with other Council services.    
 
Contracts 
 
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
The Regulator has undertaken an equality impact assessment to understand any potential 
impact on equalities of the TSM requirements –
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultationon-the-introduction-of-tenant-
satisfactionmeasures/outcome/annex-8-tenant-satisfaction-measuresequality-impact-
assessment-accessible 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
None 
 
Climate Change and Environment Impact Assessment 
 
None 
 
Acronyms 
 
TSM – Tenant Satisfaction Measures 
RSH – Regulator of Social Housing  
ASB – Antisocial Behaviour  
 
Appendices  
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: 
 
Appendix a Summary Action Plan  
 
Background Papers 
 
None.  
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 

Page 75



12 
 

Tenant Satisfaction Measures 24/25 – Performance Monitoring Panel – 20th May 2025 
 
Report Approval 
Report author: James Ward, Housing Insights & Improvement Lead 

james.ward@sholland.gov.uk  
 
Signed off by: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director – Housing 

vcherry@sholland.gov.uk  
 
Approved for publication: Councillor Tracey Carter – Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 76

mailto:james.ward@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:vcherry@sholland.gov.uk


13 
 

Appendix A 

     

Recommendations and Actions arising from further TSM review   

Updated 1/10/25 and adopted by Housing Landlord Board    

Ref Area/Topic Summary Recommendation/Action Assigned to Due Date  

1 Repairs 
Engage with tenants to explore further the dissatisfaction with 
competency/quality reviews of external contractors and internal repairs 
staff during this years TSM process  

Housing Repairs 
Manager / Head of 
Housing 
Investment and 
Development  

Q1 26/27 

2 Repairs 
Review management of contracts to ensure contractors are paying 
compensation to tenants where due  

Housing Repairs 
Manager / Head of 
Housing 
Investment and 
Development  

Q4 25/26 

3 Repairs 
Identify methodology for tenants to be able to 'sign-off'/close repairs to 
their satisfaction  

Housing 
Transformation 
Manager  

Q2 26/27 

4 Repairs 
Ensure programmed maintenance schedules are updated/amended to 
reflect stock condition survey data  

Housing Repairs 
Manager  

Q4 25/26 

5 Communication/Repairs 
Engage with tenants to enhance mechanisms of communication between 
tenants, housing service and contractors/maintenance staff  

Housing Repairs 
Manager  

Q2 26/27 

6 Communication/Repairs 
Provide opportunities for more comprehensive issue reporting/repairs 
reporting opportunities to tenants. 

Housing Repairs 
Manager  

Q1 26/27 

7 Communication/Repairs 

Work with tenants to co-design a clear and accessible repairs process 
map, including multi-trade repairs. Review the current process with 
contractors and staff, and promote the final version to all tenants 
through digital and printed channels. 

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead 

Q2 26/27 

8 Repairs Review with tenants the operational target times for repairs  
Housing Repairs 
Manager  

Q2 26/27 

P
age 77



14 
 

9 Repairs Analyse stock condition to inform capital programme.  
Housing Service 
Insight and 
Improvement Lead  

Q1 26/27 

10 
Damp Condensation & 
Mould  

Carry out a detailed analysis of DCM reports to understand which 
property types and tenancy types are most affected. Include findings 
from 6-month callback checks on closed cases. Use this insight to support 
and shape Phase 3 of the stock condition survey programme. 

Housing Service 
Insight and 
Improvement Lead  

Q1 26/27 

11 
Damp Condensation & 
Mould  

That communications are provided to tenants to ensure they have 
awareness/ability to report DCM issues 

Housing Repairs 
Manager  

Q4 25/26 

12 Communication  
Review/consultation of standard service response times for housing 
management  

Housing Services 
Manager 

Q2 26/27 

13 Communication  
Work with customer contact to establish a mechanism to record greater 
detail of repeat tenant contact.  

Housing Repairs 
Manager  

Q1 26/27 

14 Communal Areas Review SLA on grounds maintenance in consultation with tenants  

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead/ 
Housing Services 
Manager  

Q1 26/27 

15 Communal Areas Review further with tenants the dissatisfaction about communal areas.  

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead/ 
Housing Repairs 
Manager 

Q1 26/27 

16 Tenant Feedback  
Consider introducing local benchmarking alongside national data in 
future TSM reporting. Explore partnerships with neighbouring councils 
for shared metrics. 

Housing Service 
Insight and 
Improvement Lead  

Q1 26/27 

17 Tenant Feedback  

Deliver a targeted communications campaign to inform tenants that the 
contractor will be contacting some tenants to participate in the TSM 
survey. The selection of tenants is based on a defined methodology, and 
therefore the survey is not open to all tenants. 

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead  

Q1 26/27 

P
age 78



15 
 

18 Tenant Feedback  
Publish the void standard and look into inviting feedback via forums or 
surveys. 

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead/ 
Housing Repairs 
Manager 

Q1 26/27 

19 Tenant Feedback  
Explore opportunities to provide more local insight including breaking 
down results by general needs and sheltered tenants and exploring 
geographical and household level breakdown 

Housing Service 
Insight and 
Improvement Lead  

Q1 26/27 

20 Tenant Feedback  Tenant Engagement Lead to liaise with Customer Contact to explore 
attendance at a future tenant engagement event 

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead  

Q1 26/27 

 
 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



TENANT ENGAGEMENT IMPACT REPORT

APRIL 2025 TO SEPTEMBER 2025

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS AND MANAGERS

P
age 81



CONTENTS
• Executive Summary of activities and key themes  Slide 2

• Executive Summary of events and locations  Slide 3

• Demographics of those who have engaged with us  Slide 4 

• Events Held:

• Pop Up events   Slide 5

• Meet the Managers   Slide 6

• Focus Groups:

• Property Focus Group   Slide 7

• Tenancy Focus Group   Slide 8

• Complaints and performance Focus Group Slide 9

• Sheltered Housing Focus Group  Slide 10

• Surveys and Consultations   Slide 11

• Reading Group    Slide 12

• Your Voice, We heard    Slide 13

• Tenant Feedback    Slide 14

* Immediate Outcomes monitored through the Tenant Engagement groups and Medium Outcomes to be monitored by Senior Housing Management Team at 

Housing Landlord Board – with any issues with Immediate Outcomes raised there also. Quarterly Impact Reports to be provided to Cabinet.

P
age 82



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF OUR ENGAGMENT ACTIVITY AND WHAT WE HAVE 
HEARD

Our Reach

• 20 Engagement Events

• 17 Locations across the district

• 3 Reading Group activities

• 3 Surveys

• 272 returned surveys

• 65 Tenants and Residents engaged

• 22 Issues Raised

What we have heard – common themes

• Communication

• Parking

• Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)

• Knowing who to contact

• Customer Contact Experience

• Promotion of events

• Repairs and Maintenance

P
age 83



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF EVENTS AND LOCATIONS

MONTH EVENT

June Meet the Managers

June Sheltered Housing Focus Group

July Tenants Forum Launch

July Tenants Forum Launch

July Tenants Forum Launch

July Tenants Forum Launch

August Pop up event

August Pop up event

August Pop up event

August Property Focus Group

September Tenancy Focus Group

September Pop up event

September Complaints and Performance Focus 

Group

September Sheltered Housing focus Group

September Warm Homes Event

September Meet the Managers

P
age 84



DEMOGRAPHICS OF TENANTS WHO HAVE ENGAGD WITH US OVER THE 2 QUARTERS

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Male Female

GENDER OF TENANTS ENGAGING

34
31

TENURE OF TENANTS ENGAGING

SHELTERED GEN NEEDS

1

0

7

8

11

17

16

5

AGE RANGE OF TENANTS ENGAGING
19 and under

20 to 29

30 to 39

40 to 49

50 to 59

60 to 69

70 to 79

80 and over

P
age 85



Focus: To actively engage with tenants and residents on Estates. Number of contributors: 14

Aims and objectives: To gather feedback from tenants / residents on issues on their Estates, improve communication and promote 

engagement opportunities. 

Summary of feedback: Tenants attending were very interested in our presence on the Estates, some came just to find out why we 

were there, others to raise issues directly with us. Four attendees raised repair issues with their properties, six raised issues with ASB 

regarding unkept properties and estates, and eight raised issues with parking on the estates. Events were timed to meet tenants / 

residents arriving home from work – and some of these reported that we had no events in the evening for them to get involved. All 

tenants raised that they didn’t feel like they received timely feedback or kept informed of what was happening when a concern had been 

raised.

Immediate outcomes: 
• Three repair issues reported and investigated / put right

• Property issue regarding wet room - tenant visited and options 

to help discussed with tenant.

• All ASB concerns raised with Estate management.

• 12 engagement packs issued and followed up

• A “Who can Help” guide for tenants detailing who to contact for 

which service is being written to go into our Annual Report.

• Staff training being arranged to include the importance of 

communication and feedback.

Medium term outcomes:
• Working with Estate Management and Property Services to 

produce leaflet information to highlight what SHDC housing are 

able to do regarding parking 

• ASB Information fed into Tenancy Focus Group to help with the 

scrutiny of our ASB Action Plan

• To set up a schedule of events in the evening, using digital and 

face to face methods.

• Develop “In your Area” events for hotspot areas reported to us 

with our Quality Checker Group.

Impact: 
• SHDC and Tenant Engagement profile raised with tenants and residents on estates.

• More opportunities for tenants to engage with us.

• Tenants' views fed into policy and changes of processes.

• Tenants can see solutions to the issues they are raising.

POP UP EVENTS

RELATES TO TSM (TP10) SATISFACTION WITH THE MAINTENANCE OF 

COMMUNAL AREAS 81% FOR 2024/25

P
age 86



MEET THE MANAGERS

Focus: An opportunity for tenant to meet the managers behind 

the services that are provided to them.

Number of contributors: 10

Aims and objectives: Giving tenants direct access to senior managers, to learn about the services provided and also to raise issues 

and queries. 

Summary of feedback: Two events held, both received with enthusiasm by the tenants. One location was chosen due to major works 

taking place which the tenants were glad of the opportunity to talk to managers and provide us with suggestions on how to improve this. 

The other location in an area where we don’t often hold events. Tenants here welcomed the opportunity to talk about our services and 

again offer suggestions to improve. Conversations ranged from what services we provided to how we procured some of the works.

Immediate outcomes:
• Signage at Trinity Court to be moved due to delivery drivers not 

seeing it.

• To put up posters in local community centres, shops and 

doctors for all events and make advertising for events more 

robust.

• Details of what tenants are responsible for in their homes to be 

added on website and as a handout for those who ring to ask.

• To give local contractors more weight on procurement 

exercises.

Medium term outcomes:
• A guide to be produced for all Major works on the process to 

follow to complete this – to include consultation from the 

beginning of works and continual check ins with known 

vulnerable tenants.

Impact: (from feedback forms)

• Tenants felt listened to and appreciated talking to managers from each department. 

• Meeting other tenants with similar queries was reassuring

• Local contractors will have more chance of being awarded works and demonstrate how locality can contribute to value for money 

and public benefit.

• Tenants will be aware of what happens when major works are taking place and will feel supported.

• Tenants are more aware and better informed of their responsibilities and SHDC responsibilities.

P
age 87



PROPERTY FOCUS GROUP

Focus: Aids and Adaptations Number of contributors: 4 + 109 survey returns & 

Reading Group contribution

Aims and objectives: To seek a steer on a draft aids and adaptations policy 

Summary of feedback: Tenants were very interested in the Aids and Adaptations policy and the changes we proposed to make. 

Conversations around how the tenant's money was spent towards the service was welcomed and helped them make decisions on the 

direction of the policy.

Immediate outcomes:
• New Aids and Adaptations Policy drafted and reviewed with 

tenants.

Medium term outcomes:
• Means testing introduced

• Rent reviewed on properties with extensions valued 

• Appeals panel established of which tenants will be part of 

• Service charging introduced, where applicable. 

• Impact: New aids and adaptations service that delivers a faster, fairer service with tenant representation on appeals, and achieves 

greater value for money. 

• For further reading please see the Aids and Adaptations report and policy - Appendix C - Consultation Outcome and Detail of 
Proposed Changes.pdf

P
age 88

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/documents/s45130/Appendix%20C%20-%20Consultation%20Outcome%20and%20Detail%20of%20Proposed%20Changes.pdf
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/documents/s45130/Appendix%20C%20-%20Consultation%20Outcome%20and%20Detail%20of%20Proposed%20Changes.pdf


TENANCY FOCUS GROUP

Focus: Anti-Social Behaviour, Tenancy Support on offer Number of contributors: 4

Aims and objectives: To discuss the ASB Framework action plan and views on current approach to ASB case management. To also 

review the Tenancy support on offer.

Summary of feedback: Tenants were asked about what they thought was ASB, with varied results – there was a lot of conversations 

around those who want to report issues but were afraid to do so and how this should be handled. Parking was also raised as an issue. 

We also had brief conversations around budgets and why sometimes as a landlord we couldn’t carry out some elements that tenants 

thought we should do – explaining that tenants can have a direct impact on this when our business plan was ready for consultation. 

Tenancy support was also discussed, especially over what our current support worker Team (COLRO) should be called.

Immediate outcomes:
• Tenancy Focus Group gave their thoughts on a name for the 

COLRO team.

• Communications campaign on COLROS to be devised

Medium term outcomes:
• New ASB Policy to include:

• timescales for managing and responding to cases

• nominated contact and how to contact them

• approach to anonymity and how the Council will manage 

to this

• developing an approach to proactively contact wider 

residents in response to cases 

• ensuring greater visibility on estates when investigating 

complaints.  

Impact: 
• Tenants feel that we take ASB seriously and have had their voice listened to prior to drafting an ASB policy, with further consultation 

to follow. 

• Greater awareness for tenants on support available and how to access this.   

RELATES TO TSM (TP12) COMPLAINTS OF ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR 69% FOR 2024/25

P
age 89



COMPLAINTS AND PERFORMANCE FOCUS GROUP

Focus: To focus on the Tenant Satisfaction Measures Number of contributors: 3

Aims and objectives: Gather feedback on the TSMs, including analysis of dissatisfaction and the associated action plan, also to 

gather views how tenants want this information broken down.

Summary of feedback: Tenants were very interested in the TSM information and what it was telling us. They queried why our figures 

were benchmarked nationally making the observation that inner city authorities would have lower satisfaction especially with “feeling 

safe”. They also queried the low satisfaction with complaint handling – which was explained. Discussion around customer contact being 

tenants first point of contact. Tenants also wanted notifying about our Contractor for TSMs contacting them this year.

Immediate outcomes:
• Deliver a communications campaign to inform tenants that ARP 

will be contacting some tenants to participate in the TSM survey. 

Clearly communicate how tenants can provide feedback in other 

ways outside of the TSMs.

• Voids standard – Tenants asked for the void standard to be 

published – to go on website and invite feedback at Focus Groups. 

• Customer contact – Tenants feel the experience with customer 

contact is part of the overall tenant satisfaction perception and 

would like customer contact to attend a future focus group – 

invited to the Tenant Forum in December 25.

Medium term outcomes:
• Consider introducing local benchmarking alongside national 

data in future TSM reporting. Explore partnerships with 

neighbouring councils for shared metrics.

• Repairs sign-off – Tenants want a way to confirm repairs 

are completed to their satisfaction to be explored via tenant 

forums.

• TSM breakdown - Tenants expressed a desire for TSM 

results to be broken down by general needs vs sheltered 

housing, and further by geographical area and household 

type. This is to be explored with the 2025/26 report.

Impact: 
• Tenants understand the importance of the TSMs, have inputted into the design and how we can use the data to shape services.

• Preparation of tenants to join a Tenants Panel by getting them to scrutinise data.

• Wider understanding to all tenants on the importance of the TSMs and who is conducting these.

• Better understanding of the work of the customer contact team and also the ability to adapt scripts after listening to tenant feedback.

For further reading see report for PMP when published

P
age 90



SHELTERED HOUSING FOCUS GROUP

Focus: To focus on the sheltered housing service Number of contributors: 28

Aims and objectives: To inform about the RSH inspection, explore dementia friendly communities, discuss the events required for the 

quarter, promoting the Tenants forum activities, raising awareness of DCM, discuss the Aids and Adaptations Service, consultation on 

TV aerials and equipment, booking system for community centres

Summary of feedback: Activities for the quarter were discussed and agreed, the quarterly newsletter was examined and feedback for 

new articles gained, tenants views on designs of posters explored and posters changed. Working with tenants to devise a plan for the 

change of their communal TV aerials, discussion around making the best use of our properties, and also about making our communal 

spaces more accessible.

Immediate outcomes:
• A series of activities for the following quarter arranged with the 

tenants.

• Newsletter for the quarter included tenants' suggestions.

• New booking system for community centres demonstrated and 

explained

• Dates for refurbishment of TV aerials communicated.

• Changes to Tenant Forum posters regarding the colours.

• Suggestions for changes on the Aids and Adaptations policy, 

which have been collated and added to views from the 

Property Focus Group.

Medium term outcomes:
• Working with tenants to explore how accessible our community 

centres and guest rooms are.

• Plan for communicating how we allocate our properties to be 

developed.

Impact: (from feedback forms)

• Activities promote independence and prevent social isolation

• Feedback into the changed Aids and Adaptations policy

• Working with tenants to give them skills and tools to scrutinise their own community centres. 

P
age 91



SURVEYS AND CONSULTATIONS 

Focus: 3 surveys and 1 consultation event. Number of contributors: 272 returned surveys, 4 consultation

Aims and objectives: Aids and Adaptations survey to gain views on proposed changes to service – 104 responses, Sight and hearing 

survey to gather information on additional tenants needs – 135 responses and ASB survey to gain tenants views who had noted 

dissatisfaction on ASB in TSMs or had raised complaint regarding ASB – 33 responses.

Warm Homes Consultation event to raise awareness to tenants undergoing major works for the Green Homes work.

Summary of feedback: All survey responses helped shape the policies and have been fed into the services to influence the work. 

Consultation event was appreciated by tenants who came with a lot of questions about the works and the impact it will have on them.

Immediate outcomes:
• Consider using incentives to boost completed returns for future 

surveys.

• Continue to use consultations with contractors before major 

works commence to gather tenants' views and queries.

• Feedback into the changed Aids and Adaptations Policy

• Feedback into our ASB Policy draft and action plan.

• Those with hearing difficulties have had equipment installed.

Medium term outcomes:
• To produce a FAQ guide for the Warm Homes work using 

questions tenants raised at the meeting.

Impact: 
• Tenants will receive the information on works that is important to them

• Aids and Adaptations Policy and ASB Policy has tenants input into the design.

• Tenants for sight and hearing will now be better equipped to react in instances of fire.

• Officers and departments have better understanding of how to communicate with those who are profoundly deaf.

Further Reading:
Appendix 4 for ASB Framework.pdf
Tenant_Engagement_and_Influence_consultation_outcome_report_.pdf

P
age 92

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/documents/s44485/Appendix%204%20for%20ASB%20Framework.pdf
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/27289/Tenant-Engagement-and-Influence-consultation-outcome/pdf/Tenant_Engagement_and_Influence_consultation_outcome_report_.pdf?m=1749643645727


READING GROUP

Focus: Aids and Adaptations Policy, Vulnerable Tenants 

Policy, DCM (Awaabs Law) letters

Number of contributors: 11

Aims and objectives: To critique and evaluate our literature and polices through a tenant's lens and provide feedback on changes 

required.

Summary of feedback: Tenants fed back their views on the Aids and adaptations policy agreeing with the new principles set out, DCM 

letters queried terminology and requested some sections of the Vulnerable tenants Policy were updated to make it easier to understand.

Immediate outcomes:
• Tenants seal of approval to use on all tenant approved 

literature chosen by tenants.

• Changes made to draft policies and letters as a result of 

feedback.

Medium term outcomes:
No medium-term outcomes were identified in this quarter

Impact: 
• Tenants will recognise and trust literature that has been approved for plain English and clarity.

• Feedback into a faster, fairer aids and adaptations service.

• Feedback into an improved and fair access to services for tenants with additional needs.

• Letters are clearer and easier for tenants to understand.

For Further Reading please see the Awaabs law letters, Aids and Adaptations policy and Vulnerable Tenants policy and reports that 

accompany them.

P
age 93



YOUR VOICE, WE HEARD

Your Voice We heard (action)

Medium term outcomes 

Timescale Assigned 
to

Update 

Tenants report issues with parking 

on many estates and frustration 

on what can be done.

Working with Estate Management and 

Property Services to produce leaflet to 

highlight what SHDC housing are able to 

do regarding parking. 

Feb 26 VD

Tenants reported dissatisfaction 

with estates and ASB.

ASB information fed into Tenancy Focus 

Group to help with the scrutiny of ASB 

Action Policy – to include:

• timescales for managing and 

responding to cases

• nominated contact and how to 

contact them

• approach to anonymity and how 

the Council will manage to this

• developing an approach to 

proactively contact wider 

residents in response to cases 

• ensuring greater visibility on 

estates when investigating 

complaints.  

Pilot “In your Area” events for hotspot 

areas reported to us with Quality Checker 

Group and arrange pilot.

May 26

Jan 26

NS

TN

ACTIONS TO BE MONITORED BY MANAGEMENT TEAM AT HOUSING LANDLORD BOARD 

P
age 94



YOUR VOICE, WE HEARD

Your Voice We heard (action)

Medium term outcomes 

Timescale Assigned 
to

Update 

To make the Aids and 

Adaptations service clearer and 

fairer for all tenants and more 

efficient for SHDC.

• Means testing to be introduced

• Rent to be reviewed on properties with 

extensions valued 

• Appeals panel to be established of 

which tenants will be part of 

• Service charging to be introduced, 

where applicable. 

April / June 

2026

LH / CH

Working tenants have 

commented that they can’t 

attend daytime meetings.

To set up a schedule of events in the 

evening, using both digital and face to face 

methods.

Jan 26 BC

Query on why local contractors 

aren’t used by SHDC.

To give local contractors more weight on 

procurement exercises – to implement on 

next procurement exercise.

Immediate 

meet 

managers

CH Quality question 

everything above 

£40,000

Dissatisfaction on how tenants 

were informed about major 

works and kept informed and 

checked on during this work 

occurring.

A comprehensive guide to be developed for 

all Major works, working with tenants and 

contractors to ensure meets all needs.

Process to be updated to include 

consultation from the beginning of works 

and continual check ins with known 

vulnerable tenants throughout the works

Sept 26

April 26

CH / Cmy

CH / CMy

P
age 95



YOUR VOICE, WE HEARD

Your Voice We heard (action)

Medium term outcomes 

Timescale Assigned 
to

Update 

Tenants raised the issue of the 

accessibility of community centres

Work with tenants to explore how 

accessible community centres and guest 

rooms are, through our Quality Checkers 

Group and devise a plan to evaluate 

accessibility.

To begin Nov 

25 

PC

Tenants have asked about how we 

allocate our properties and why 

we don’t manage them to house 

the right people in the right 

homes.

Tenant forum event agenda item to be 

organised for December

December 25 TM

Breakdown of TSMs not clear to 

tenants – need more information 

to help them evaluate

To consider using local benchmarking 

alongside national and breakdown results 

further.

Feb 26 JW

Warm Homes works have raised a 

lot of questions with tenants.

Produce a FAQ to issue to tenants based 

on the feedback given

Dec 25 SP

P
age 96



TENANT FEEDBACK

It was nice to be 

listened to and to 

talk to members 

from each 

department.

I found the 

session very 

interesting and 

learnt a lot.

Invite County 

and District 

Councillors to 

events to listen 

to tenants.

Keep trying to 

get input from 

all tenants 

and residents

This was 

extremely 

enlightening – 

excellent 

discussion

Well presented 

topic on Aids 

and 

Adaptations, 

looking forward 

to the next one.

This was very 

good and 

really inclusive

What 

happens 

next?

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

 

 
 
Report To:   Cabinet    
 
Date:    11 November 2025  
 
Subject: Adoption of New Housing Landlord Policies: Disabled Aids and 

Adaptations Policy and Reasonable Adjustment Policy and a revisit to 
the Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework 

 
Purpose: To seek Cabinet’s approval for the adoption of three Housing Landlord 

policies that supports improved service delivery, accountability and 
tenant wellbeing: 

• New – Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025-2028 

• Updated – Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework 
2025-2026 

• New – Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029  
 
Key Decision:  No.  
 
Portfolio Holder:  Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing 
 
Report Of:   Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director - Housing  
 
Report Author:  Adel Gardner, Housing Transformation Manager  
 
Ward(s) Affected:  All wards.  
 
Exempt Report:  No.   

 

 
Summary 
 
As a social housing landlord, the Council is committed to delivering services that meet tenants’ 
needs and doing the right thing by them. This commitment, alongside meeting the outcomes of 
the Regulator of Social Housing’s consumer standards, underpins the development of these 
housing policies. 
 
This report seeks Cabinet approval for the adoption of: 

• The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy, developed through extensive consultation, 
which outlines the council’s strategic approach to providing disabled aids and 
adaptations for council tenants. 

• The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework, an update to the existing 
framework which aligns with current operating processes and clarifies roles and 
responsibilities across Housing Landlord Services. 

• The Reasonable Adjustments Policy, developed with tenants and external bodies, which 
outlines the Councils approach to supporting tenants with reasonable adjustments.  

 Page 99

Agenda Item 9.



 

   

 

 

Together, these policies reflect the Council’s dedication to inclusive, accountable, and tenant-
focused housing provision. 

 

 
Recommendations 
1.  That Cabinet approves: 

• The Housing Landlord Services Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–
2028.  

• The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord 
Service 2025-2026. 

• The Housing Landlord Services Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029. 
2. That Cabinet delegate minor operational and legislative amendments to the Assistant 

Director for Housing in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 
Housing to The Housing Landlord Services Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–
2028.  

3. That Cabinet delegate minor operational and legislative amendments to the Assistant 
Director for Housing in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 
Housing to The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord 
Service 2025-2026. 

4. That Cabinet delegate minor operational and legislative amendments to the Assistant 
Director for Housing in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 
Housing to The Housing Landlord Services Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029. 
 

5. That Cabinet approves the continued delegation to the Assistant Director for Housing to 
undertake all operational and managerial decisions related to the HRA Disabled Aids and 
Adaptations policy including determining requests for aids and adaptations. 

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to provide a disabled aids and adaptations service for its 
tenants, in compliance with relevant legislation and regulatory standards. The council 
recognises that the current service requires modernisation to improve both operational delivery 
and the experience of tenants who rely on it. The proposed Aids and Adaptations Policy, 
developed in collaboration with tenants, addresses this need and reflects the Council’s 
commitment to equity, inclusion, and tenant wellbeing. 
 
As a responsible social landlord, the Council must maintain robust governance arrangements 
to effectively monitor and scrutinise the management of its Housing Landlord Service. This is 
essential for ensuring transparency, accountability, and high-quality service delivery. 
 
In line with the Regulator of Social Housing’s consumer standards, the Council is also required 
to treat tenants with fairness and respect, ensuring services are accessible to all. 
The Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard reinforces the need for inclusive 
engagement, while the Safety and Quality Standard mandates that homes are safe and 
responsive to the needs of vulnerable tenants. The Tenancy Standard further expects landlords 
to support tenants in sustaining their tenancies—an outcome that depends on making 
reasonable adjustments for those facing barriers. 
 
 

 

 Page 100



 

   

 

 

Other Options Considered 
 
Do nothing – To take no action by choosing not to implement the policies. This approach 
would carry risks, not only for the council but, more importantly, for the quality and consistency 
of service provided to tenants.  
 
The HRA Governance Framework requires updating to reflect the South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership structure.  
 

 
1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 On the 23 September, reports were presented to Policy Development Panel for scrutiny on 

the following items: 

• The Housing Landlord Services Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–2028.  

• The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord Service 
2025-2026. 

• The Housing Landlord Services Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029 
 

1.2 This report provides a high-level summary of the documents along with comments and 

observations from Scrutiny. (Copies of individual reports presented to Policy Development 

Panel are included as appendices to the report).  

 

2 High-level summary of the policies  

 

2.1 The Housing Landlord Services Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–2028. 
(Appendix 1)  
  

2.2 Following tenant feedback, the council’s disabled aids and adaptations service has been 
identified as a key priority within the council’s Housing Transformation Programme. In 
response, the Disabled Aids and Adaptations Transformation Project was launched to 
modernise the service and address four core priorities: 

• Implementing recommendations from the Housing Ombudsman Service, including 
co-producing a policy with tenants and partners. 

• Ensuring compliance with statutory duties under legislation such as the Equality Act 
2010. 

• Supporting vulnerable households to live independently in safe, suitable 
accommodation. 

• Improving delivery times while maintaining probity and value for money. 
 

2.3 Between January and May 2025, the Council undertook a comprehensive review of its legal 
obligations, benchmarked practices against other local authorities, and developed an 
options appraisal to guide future service delivery. Following consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing, senior leadership, and elected members, the 
agreed approach was to align support with the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) model. 
Aligning with this model reflects government expectations that all tenures should receive 
consistent support. 
 

2.4 From May to August 2025, an extensive consultation programme was carried out involving 
tenants, elected members, staff, professional bodies, and partner organisations. 
Engagement methods included written and online surveys, face-to-face sessions 
at Sheltered Housing Focus Groups, Tenant Forum Launch Events, and the Property Focus Page 101



 

   

 

 

Group. Feedback from these sessions directly informed the policy’s development and future 
provision of the service.  
 

2.5 The Reading Group, part of the Tenant Forum, also reviewed both the full and summary 
versions of the draft policy to ensure clarity and accessibility. Their feedback helped shape 
a user-friendly document that reflects tenant priorities. 
 

2.6 The final Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy represents a fair, inclusive, and well-
informed approach to service improvement. The policy has been shaped through extensive 
consultation with tenants ensuring it reflects local needs and priorities. 

2.7  

 
2.8 The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord Service 2025-

2026. (Appendix 2) 
 

2.9 The Council has undertaken a review of the 2024 HRA Governance Framework to ensure it 
remains fit for purpose and aligned with evolving regulatory expectations. As the 
governance arrangements have matured since their initial implementation, this revised 
framework reflects embedded practices, lessons learned, and areas identified for 
improvement.  
 

2.10 Key improvements include clearer definitions of roles and responsibilities, strengthened 
Member scrutiny, improved transparency around performance and risk management. 
 

2.11 To support these enhancements, a number of dedicated governance groups were 
established throughout 2024/25, each contributing to oversight, assurance, and continuous 
improvement across the Housing Landlord Service: 
 

• Housing Compliance Clinic (now renamed Housing Compliance and Performance 
Clinic) monitors health and safety compliance and performance. It was positively 
recognised by the Regulator during a programmed inspection for its robust oversight by 
senior officers and Members. 

• Housing Governance Clinic (now disbanded) previously oversaw risk and audit actions. 
Its functions have been redistributed to existing arrangements to streamline governance 
and reduce pressure on officer capacity. 

• Housing Landlord Services Board now leads on regulatory assurance, financial 
resilience, risk management, and performance. 

• Complaints Officer Working Group identifies trends in complaints, drives service 
improvements, and ensures compliance with the Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint 
Handling Code. 

• Housing Transformation and Improvement Programme Board oversees strategic 
transformation. 

• Capital Programme Clinic has been newly established to monitor the delivery and 
performance of the Housing Capital Programme. 

 
2.12 The revised HRA Governance Framework builds on strong foundations and demonstrates 

the Council’s commitment to transparency, accountability, and continuous improvement. It 
reflects a mature governance model that supports effective service delivery, regulatory 
compliance, and meaningful tenant involvement. 
 

2.13 The Housing Landlord Services Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029 (Appendix 3) 
 

2.14 The proposed Policy was developed to strengthen compliance with the Regulator of Social 
Housing’s Consumer Standards and improve equitable access to services for tenants. 

Page 102



 

   

 

 

 
2.15 The Policy responds directly to a regulatory judgement issued by the Regulator on 30 July 

2025, which identified the need for a more consistent approach to maintaining and using 
tenant data particularly in relation to monitoring access to services. It also aligns with 
recommendations from the Housing Ombudsman’s 2024 Spotlight report on attitudes, 
respect and rights, which called for the implementation of a vulnerability policy and a 
reasonable adjustments policy. 
 

2.16 To ensure the policy reflects tenant needs and lived experiences, the Council undertook a 
consultation-based approach. Tenants were invited to provide feedback via letter, online 
forms, and telephone conversations. In addition, members of the Tenant Forum, including 
participants from the Reading Group and the Property Services and Aids and Adaptations 
Focus Groups, reviewed both full and summary versions of the draft policy. Their insights 
were instrumental in shaping a more inclusive and practical approach. 
 

2.17 The policy sets out how the Council will recognise, respond to, and record vulnerability, and 
how it will assess and implement reasonable adjustments to support tenants in sustaining 
their tenancies. It includes clear criteria for decision-making, examples of adjustments, and 
guidance on how tenants can appeal decisions. 
 

3 Comments and observations from Scrutiny (23 September 2025)  
3.1 The Housing Landlord Services Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–2028. 

(Appendix 1)  
 

3.2 Queries were raised about the following: 
 

• Members welcomed the policy and praised its clarity and tenant-focused approach.  

• Members queried whether tenant who lodge appeals would be present at the panel 
and, how impartial tenants would be selected. Officers confirmed that the tenant 
lodging the appeal would not attend to maintain impartiality. Impartial tenants would 
be selected from the newly formed Tenant Forum.  

• Members asked how the panel would comply with GDPR so not to provide personal 
information on the tenant who lodges the appeal. Officers confirmed that no personal 
data will be disclosed. The appeals panel will be conducted using anonymised or 
non-identifiable information to protect tenant privacy and ensure data protection 
obligations are met. 

• Members questioned what would happen if a tenant struggled to make their 
contribution following the means testing process. Officers confirmed that the means 
testing process incorporates tenant’s ability to contribute as well as their income and 
capital and, that exemptions to means testing apply such as for those on certain 
income related benefits. Furthermore, officers have amended the policy to include 
reference to the Hardship fund which can support tenants at, or near the financial 
threshold of affordability or, have had a recent change in circumstances that affects 
their affordability.  

• Members raised concerns about Universal Credit and Housing Benefit not necessarily 
reflecting a tenant’s ability to pay. Officers acknowledged this and confirmed that the 
process was designed to be flexible and fair.  

• Members asked why the Council’s Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) allocation could not 
be used to support tenants within council owned housing stock. Officers confirmed 
that whilst governments expectation is to align support across all tenures, guidance 
is explicit that councils cannot use their DFG allocation to fund works in council 
owned properties and instead, should use their Housing Revenue Account.  

• Members queried the use of the term “young persons under 19”, noting that individuals Page 103



 

   

 

 

aged 18 are legally considered adults. Officers can now clarify that while 18-year-
olds are recognised as adults in legal terms, the phrase “young persons under 19” is 
used to reflect transitional support needs and to align with broader safeguarding and 
service frameworks. This terminology ensures that those aged 18, who may still 
require tailored support, are not excluded from relevant considerations within the 
Policy and aligns with the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) approach.  

• Members noted that the proposed means testing threshold appeared high but did not 
request a formal response during the meeting. Officers can clarify that the threshold 
mirrors the approach used within the DFG framework, ensuring consistency with 
national guidance and expectations for equitable access to support across housing 
tenures. 

• Members queried how the Council ensures that any works carried out by tenants on 
Council-owned properties comply with planning and building regulations, as well as 
internal standards. Officers can confirm that this matter is addressed within 
the Housing Repairs and Fitness for Habitation Policy, and that further clarification 
has now been included in the Aids and Adaptations Policy to reinforce expectations 
around compliance and accountability. 

• Members noted the difference in the number of responses between the surveys on 
current and future provision. Officers acknowledged this variation and confirmed that 
insights from the consultation programme would be used to help achieve more 
balanced results in future engagement strategies. 
 

• The Policy comes back to Policy Development Panel in a year for review.  
 

3.3 The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord Service 2025-
2026. (Appendix 2) 

 
3.4 Members welcomed the revised framework and praised its clarity and structure. 
 
3.5 Members commented on the level of detail and appreciated the inclusion of governance 

group functions, which helped clarify oversight responsibilities. 
 
3.6 Members highlighted the summary report (Appendix D in the original report) as particularly 

useful, describing it as “clear and simple to read,” and helpful for understanding how the 
governance structure operated in practice. 

 
3.7 Panel requested that: 

• All policy updates come with a summary document (like that provided with this 
framework) to support Panel to easily see the differences in updated versions. 

 
3.8 The Housing Landlord Services Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029 (Appendix 3) 

 
3.9 Queries were raised about the following: 

• Members noted that tenant data referenced the 2023 census and queried whether 
surveys are conducted annually like the Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSM), 
officers clarified the distinction between the two activities (TSM survey and Tenant 
Census). The Tenant Census, carried out in 2023, was a comprehensive data 
collection exercise designed to capture detailed demographic information. This is 
planned to be repeated every four years to maintain robust baseline data. In the 
interim, tenant data is continuously updated through various engagement channels, 
including service interactions, feedback mechanisms, and targeted consultations. 
Separately, the Council conducts annual Tenant Satisfaction Surveys, which focus 
specifically on tenant perceptions of the landlord service. These surveys provide Page 104



 

   

 

 

valuable insight into service quality and tenant experience, complementing the 
broader data collected through the census.  

 
3.10 Steer was sought on whether the Council should retain the title of Vulnerable Persons and 

Reasonable Adjustment Policy or seek a different title. Through engagement, feedback 
indicated a preference for a title that would be inclusive of all individuals, including those 
who may not identify as vulnerable but still require adjustments. Following this, a steer was 
taken from the panel, who agreed to simplify the title to Reasonable Adjustment Policy to 
ensure it is accessible and applicable to all. 
 

3.11 Panel were supportive of the extensive engagement that had been carried out on the 
development of the policy.  

 
3.12 Panel requested that: 

• The Policy title becomes Housing Landlord Service Reasonable Adjustments Policy. 
While titled the Reasonable Adjustments Policy, this document also sets out the 
Council’s approach to recognising and responding to vulnerability, in line with our 
legal and regulatory obligations. 

• The Policy comes back to Policy Development Panel in a year for review.  
 
4 Conclusion  

 
4.1 The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy represents a fair, inclusive, and well-informed 

approach to service improvement. The policy has been shaped through extensive consultation 
with tenants ensuring it reflects local needs and priorities. It introduces clear processes helping 
the council manage resources effectively while continuing to support those most in need. 
Importantly, the policy will also help the council meet the expectations of the Transparency, 
Influence, and Accountability Standard, the Safety and Quality Standard and Housing 
Ombudsmen recommendations. 
 

4.2 This policy also responds directly to a maladministration finding made against the Council in 
2023. An action plan was submitted in response. The introduction of the new Aids and 
Adaptations Policy aims to enhance the service provided to tenants and addresses the 
Ombudsman’s recommendations, particularly to produce the policy in conjunction with tenants 
and partners including Lincolnshire County Council Occupational Therapy team.   
 

4.3 The revised Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework builds upon the foundations of 
the previously established arrangements, which are now embedded as part of Business as 
Usual. These governance structures have strengthened the Council and HRA’s position in 
delivering accountable and transparent housing services. 
 

4.4 The Housing Landlord Service Reasonable Adjustment Policy will provide assurance to 
tenants that the Council has a process in place to support vulnerable tenants and manage 
reasonable adjustments. This will support the Council to work towards meeting specific 
expectations of the Transparency, Influence, and Accountability Standard, Safety and Quality 
Standard and the Tenancy Standard. 

 

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 

Page 105



 

   

 

 

Mirroring the Disabled Facilities Grant approach brings the HRA in line with the service provided 
across the rest of the council.  
 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
These Policies link to the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnerships wider Customer 
Experience Strategy by supporting to address: 

• Providing a quality customer experience across an increasingly diverse community. 

• An ageing population and increasing dependency mean many customers need our services 
and extra help to live independently.  

 
The Policies also align with the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnerships wider 
Engagement Pledge by providing clear and accessible information about our policy and keeping 
the community up to date and informed. 
 
The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy contributes to the Partnership Alignment and Delivery 
Plan 2025/26 by supporting the following projects: 

• Deliver the HRA Transformation Programme. 

• Aids and Adaptations, benchmark existing offer and look to develop further. 
 
 
Staffing 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Data Protection 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Financial 
 
It is anticipated that the costs of implementing and delivering the Disabled Aids and Adaptations 
Policy will be met from existing budgets. While operational demands are expected to increase, 
they remain broadly consistent with current service levels and will be streamlined through effective 
application of the policy. A cost of approximately £4,000 per year will be incurred for the SELCP 
DFG team to carry out means testing which will also be covered through existing budgets.  
 
The ongoing operational costs associated with implementing the Reasonable Adjustments Policy, 
such as staff time, tailored support, and monitoring are expected to be absorbed within existing 
budgets. These activities align closely with current service delivery functions and priorities, and the 
policy formalises practices that are often being carried out. As such, no significant additional 
financial burden is anticipated, although the policy may help to better target resources and 
improve efficiency over time. 
 Page 106

https://www.selcp.co.uk/media/24693/SELCP-Customer-Experience-Strategy/pdf/SELCP_Customer_Experience_Strategy_FINAL.pdf?m=1710867087407
https://www.selcp.co.uk/media/25521/SELCP-engagement-pledge/pdf/SELCP_Engagement_Pledge.pdf?m=1726157959293


 

   

 

 

 
Risk Management 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Reputation 
 
As a Registered Provider, the Council has been subject to a programmed inspection by the 
Regulator of Social Housing during 2025. It is important to demonstrate to the Regulator of Social 
Housing and Tenants that the Council is actively working towards meeting the specific 
expectations of the consumer standard. This includes working towards achieving a C1 standard 
and delivering better outcomes for tenants. 
 
As outlined in the appendices for the Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy.  
 
Contracts 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
As outlined in individual report appendices.  
 
Acronyms 
 

• SELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

• DFG - Disabled Facilities Grant 

• HRA - Housing Revenue Account 

Appendices  
 

Appendix 1 The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord 
Service 2025-2026. 

Appendix 2 Housing Landlord Service - Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029  

Appendix 3 Housing Landlord Service - Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–2028 

Appendix 4 Report to PDP on 23 September 2025: Housing Landlord Service - Disabled 
Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–2028 Page 107



 

   

 

 

Appendix 5 Report to PDP on 23 September 2025: The Housing Revenue Account 
Governance Framework: Housing Landlord Service 2025-2026. 

Appendix 6 Report to PDP on 23 September 2025: Housing Landlord Service – Vulnerable 
Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy 2025-2029 

 
Background Papers 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 
Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Regulator of Social Housing - 
Consumer Standards  

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-
consumer-standards 
 

SHDC Regulatory Judgement  South Holland District Council (32UF) - Regulatory Judgement: 
30 July 2025 - GOV.UK  

Housing Ombudsman Service 
– Spotlight report on attitudes, 
respect and rights 

Spotlight report on attitudes, respect and rights  

 
Chronological History of this Report 
A report on this item has previously been considered by a Council body: 
 
Name of Body Date 
Policy Development Panel  September 2025 
 
Report Approval 
Report author:  Adel Gardner, Housing Transformation 

Manager  
Adel.gardner@sholland.gov.uk  

Signed off by: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director - Housing  
vcherry@sholland.gov.uk  
  

Approved for publication: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for 
Strategic and Operational Housing    
 

 

Page 108

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-holland-district-council/south-holland-district-council-32uf-regulatory-judgement-30-july-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/south-holland-district-council/south-holland-district-council-32uf-regulatory-judgement-30-july-2025
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/reports/spotlight-reports/spotlight-on-attitudes-respect-and-rights-relationship-of-equals/
mailto:Adel.gardner@sholland.gov.uk


Page 1 of 41 
 

Appendix 1 

 

 
 

SHDC Housing Revenue Account  

Governance Framework 

Housing Landlord Services  

September 2025 

 

 

 

 

 

Please let us know how you would like to receive information, we can 
provide information in other languages and formats for example, large 
print, easy read, audio recording or braille. Please email 
info@sholland.gov.uk or phone 01775 761161. 

 

Page 109



Page 2 of 41 
 

  

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Regulation of the Council as a registered provider ....................................................................... 3 

3. Oversight of the Housing Revenue Account .................................................................................. 4 

4. Roles and responsibilities ............................................................................................................... 6 

5. Directors’ remuneration and management costs .......................................................................... 9 

6. Responsible Persons ....................................................................................................................... 9 

7. Housing Revenue Account ............................................................................................................ 10 

8. Risk management ......................................................................................................................... 11 

9. Monitoring compliance and performance ................................................................................... 12 

10. Data returns submitted ............................................................................................................ 14 

11. Tenant satisfaction ................................................................................................................... 14 

12. Complaint Handling .................................................................................................................. 15 

13. Assurance .................................................................................................................................. 17 

14. Business continuity ................................................................................................................... 18 

15. Procurement and value for money .......................................................................................... 19 

16. Monitoring compliance with the Consumer Standards .......................................................... 19 

Appendix A - Data submitted Corporate Governance Clinic (Senior Leadership Team, Performance 

Monitoring Panel and Cabinet) ............................................................................................................. 21 

Appendix B – Summary of monitoring arrangements .......................................................................... 24 

Appendix C –Responsible Persons: Roles, Responsibilities and Assurance Arrangements…………………26 
 

  

Page 110



Page 3 of 41 
 

1.      Introduction  
This document sets out the governance arrangements for the Housing Landlord Service.   

This document will be reviewed annually.  Significant operational or policy events could also 

trigger a review of the document.  

The Framework mitigates the risks associated with non-compliance in delivering the 

outcomes of the Regulator of Social Housing’s regulatory standards using a three lines of 

defence model, set out in the diagram below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      
The Tenant Engagement and Influence Strategy, adopted in June 2025, marks a significant 

step in strengthening tenant involvement. We have established focus groups to explore 

performance scrutiny.  

 

We recognise that further steps are needed to ensure tenants have meaningful opportunities 

to scrutinise and influence our governance, risk management, and performance oversight. 

The Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead will be exploring the development of a Tenant 

Influence Panel during 25/26. 

2. Regulation of the Council as a registered provider 

Regulator of Social Housing  
The Regulator of Social Housing sets ‘consumer’ and ‘economic’ regulatory standards for 
registered providers of social housing.    
 
For local authorities, the economic standard relates to the setting of rent (the rent standard). 
From April 2024, registered providers are subject to proactive regulation against the 
consumer standards. The Regulator completes programmed inspections at least every four 
years against these standards and publishes a summary of their findings, known as a 
Regulatory Judgement.     
 
The Regulator of Social Housing adopts a co-regulatory approach, holding Councillors 

responsible for ensuring that the Council, in its role as a registered provider of social housing, 

is delivering the outcomes of consumer standards.   

Following the Council’s inspection, proactive engagement with the Regulator of Social 

Housing continues, with feedback being used to strengthen governance, enhance service 

delivery, and ensure sustained compliance with the consumer standards 

First line of               
defence

Second line of 
defence

Third line of            
defence

Strategies, policies and 

procedures  

Performance 

reporting/trend analysis  

Internal audit  

Training Scrutiny Committees  External 

assessments/audit  

Systems and data  QA checks: case reviews 

& compliance data  

Regulatory inspection  

Page 111



Page 4 of 41 
 

We support and embrace this in a variety of ways including: 

• Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing attending multiple Housing 

Clinics and chairing the Housing Transformation Board.  

• Providing a formal update on delivery of the outcomes of the consumer standards to 

Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  

• Involving Scrutiny at all opportunities, both formally and informally.  

• Holding regular Member informal briefings and providing regular updates in the 

Member point briefing.  

• Meeting with the Regulator to discuss progress against the improvement plan and 

ensure continued alignment with regulator expectations.  

Housing Ombudsman Service  
The Regulator of Social Housing and the Housing Ombudsman Service have arrangements in 
place for the two bodies to work together.  The Ombudsman can formally refer a matter to 
the Regulator where their investigation into an individual case, or cases, indicates that there 
may be a wider systemic failing and there may be evidence of a breach of the regulator’s 
standards.   
 

Building Safety Regulator   
The Building Safety Regulator is part of Health and Safety Executive and was established 
under The Building Safety Act 2022.  Their role is to oversee the safety and performance of 
all buildings, as well as having a special focus on high-rise buildings. They promote 
competence and organisational capability within   the sector including for building control 
professionals and tradespeople. 

3. Oversight of the Housing Revenue Account  

South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
Since forming in October 2021, the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership has been 
focused on delivering quality services, opportunities, investment and value for our residents, 
businesses, partners, and employees. 
 
The Partnership is the largest of its kind in the country, with around 1,000 members of staff 
and 122 elected members serving over 300,000 residents across 1,112 square miles in total. 
 
South Holland District Council is the sole registered provider with more than 1000 homes 

within the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. 

South Holland District Council’s constitution  
Updated in May 2025, the Council’s constitution sets out how the Council operates, how 

decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, 

transparent and accountable to local people.   

The constitution sets out the basic rules governing the Council’s business.  A copy of the 

constitution is available at Browse - South Holland District Council Constitution - South 

Holland District Council 

Management and Senior Officer structure   
 

Page 112

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=365&info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=365&info=1&bcr=1


Page 5 of 41 
 

 

The HRA Transformation Programme Manager also forms part of the Management Structure 

as temporary post focussed on supporting the organisation to meet the specific expectations 

of the consumer standards.   

Councillor oversight and scrutiny across the Housing Landlord Service   

 

Tenant oversight and scrutiny  
The Council formally adopted a Tenant Engagement and Influence Strategy in June 2025, 

setting out its vision for meaningful tenant involvement in shaping and monitoring housing 

services. 

To operationalise this strategy, the Council has: 

• Launched a Tenant Forum to provide a platform for open dialogue between tenants and the 

Council. 

Page 113



Page 6 of 41 
 

• Established a series of thematic Focus Groups, each tasked with reviewing specific aspects of 

service performance. 

These groups are designed to ensure that tenant voices are central to service evaluation and 

continuous improvement. 

Looking ahead to 2025/26, the Council will take the next step in strengthening tenant-led 

scrutiny by establishing a formal Tenant Scrutiny Board. This board will: 

• Operate independently, with support from the Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead.  

• Review performance data, service standards, and policy proposals. 

• Make recommendations to senior officers and elected members to drive service 

improvements. 

This evolving framework reflects the Council’s commitment to co-regulation and ensures 

tenants have a structured, influential role in holding the housing service to account. 

Performance, compliance and satisfaction data is published on our website at 

www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome  and is included in our annual report to tenants.  This report 

includes reference to service improvements proposed in response to the data.    

4. Roles and responsibilities  

Officers  

Joint Chief Executive  
The main link between Councillors and Officers across South Holland District Council, East 

Lindsey District Council and Boston District Council, promoting positive and open 

communications and ensuring strategic priorities are implemented in an appropriate and 

accountable manner.   

Director of Finance and S151 Officer 
Responsible for strategic financial planning, financial accounting, financial advice and 

revenues and benefits. 

Director of Communities  
Responsible for the Communities Directorate, including front facing services delivered 

directly to residents, such as refuse, recycling, street cleansing, housing, homelessness, 

environmental services and community safety for South Holland District Council, East Lindsey 

District Council and Boston District Council.  Sole responsibility for South Holland District 

Council’s Housing Revenue Account.  

Assistant Director - Governance and Monitoring Officer  
Responsible for risk management, Democratic Services, Legal Services, data protection 
complaints, Governance General, Deputy Monitoring Officers, elections, Freedom of 
Information, investigations, and Corporate Support. As the Monitoring Officer, 
responsibilities also include matters relating to the conduct of councillors and officers and 
the operation of the Council’s constitution.  

 

Assistant Director – Housing  
Responsible for providing effective leadership for, and management of, Housing Landlord 

Services to ensure services are, within the resources available, of the highest quality and 

Page 114

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome


Page 7 of 41 
 

meet Member and public aspirations, whilst achieving value for money.  Responsible Person 

for the Council’s overall compliance with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer 

Standards. Lead Officer for compliance with the Rent Standard 

Housing Services Manager 
Responsible for tenancy management, estate management, rent collection, tenancy 

enforcement, allocation and letting of housing and tenancy support.  

Head of Housing Investment and Development  
Responsible for programmed improvements. HRA delivery of investment programme. 

Delivery of the HRA Asset Management strategy  

Housing Repairs and Compliance Manager  
Responsible for the responsive repairs and void property repairs.  Responsible for 

compliance. Health and Safety Lead, responsible for compliance with landlord health and 

safety on behalf of the Council.  Accountable Person for Higher-Risk Residential Buildings (as 

defined by the Building Safety Act 2022).    

Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead  
Lead Officer for Housing Complaints. Lead Officer for Tenant Engagement and Influence.  

Members 

Full Council 
The Full Council is responsible for the Budget and Policy Framework of the Council and for all 

of the functions not the responsibility of the Cabinet. It will carry out some functions itself, 

but others will be delegated to Committees or Officers.  

On an annual basis, Full Council determines the annual Housing rent review and HRA budgets 

including the Capital Programme. 

Cabinet  

The Cabinet is appointed to carry out all of the Council’s functions which are not the 

responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by Law or under this Constitution.  

Many decisions will be made by the Cabinet, rather than the full Council.   

  
Housing policies and strategies and performance information is presented to Cabinet for 

determination.   

Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing  
Member Responsible for Complaints (MRC), ensuring that complaint handling drives service 

improvement for residents and learning and business improvement for the Council.    

Cabinet Member with delegated authority from the Leader to make decisions on the 

following Housing Landlord Service-related items:  

• ASB and Community Safety 

• Housing Landlord 

• HRA Property Management   

• Sheltered Housing 

• Lifelines  

• Void Repairs  

• Right to Buy Admin  

• Council House Re-buy Admin  

• Rent Collection  

• Upgrades  

• Allocations  

• Rent Income Subsidies  

Page 115



Page 8 of 41 
 

• HRA Sewerage Works 

• Housing Complaints 

• Responsive Repairs 

• HRA Housing Development 
Programme 

Performance Monitoring Panel  
As per the Council’s Constitution, the purpose of the Panel is to review and scrutinise the 
performance of the Council in relation to its policy objectives, performance targets and/or 
particular service areas – this will be assisted by officers submitting quarterly Performance 
Indicator reports to the Panel.    
 
Performance information will be reported to the Panel for scrutiny on a quarterly basis.  See 
section 9 for more information.  

 

Policy Development Panel 
As per the Council’s Constitution, the purpose of the Panel is to assist the Council and the 

Cabinet in the development of its Budget and Policy Framework by in-depth analysis of policy 

issues.   

All Housing policies will be reviewed by the Panel prior to being recommended to Cabinet for 
adoption.  

  

Governance and Audit Committee  
As per the Council’s Constitution, the purpose of the Committee is to monitor governance, 

risk and internal control arrangements at the Council, to provide independent assurance that 

these are effective and efficient.  

Audit reports and strategic risks are presented to the Committee. See sections 8 and 13 for 
more information.    
 

Housing Landlord Services Working Groups   

Housing Landlord Services Compliance Clinic  
Chaired by Assistant Director – Housing this Clinic is formed of the Portfolio Holder - Strategic 

and Operational Housing, Director of Communities, and Housing Managers. The Clinic is held 

to review the compliance and performance of the service, focussed on compliance with 

health and safety requirements of a landlord and compliance with the Consumer standards.   

Housing Landlord Services Complaints Working Group     
Chaired by the Lead Officer for Housing Complaints, this Working Group identifies themes 

and trends of complaints and drives service improvement in response to them, making 

recommendations to the Member Responsible for Complaints.  The Group also supports 

compliance with the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling code.   

Housing Landlord Services Board 
Chaired by Assistant Director – Housing and attended by Housing Managers, the purpose of 

this Board is to ensure collective awareness and visibility relating to regulatory assurance, 

financial resilience, risk management, performance and compliance on all matters relating to 

being an effective and compliant landlord. The Board will also hold a space to share ideas, 

discuss challenges impacting the delivery of the service and inform strategic decisions.    

Page 116



Page 9 of 41 
 

HRA Housing Transformation and Improvement Board  
Chaired by Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing the Board has a key role in 
supporting the Housing Transformation Team in making decisions and delivering the Housing 
Transformation and Service Improvement Programme approved by Cabinet on 13th February 
2024. The role of the advisory Board is not to make decisions but to provide current 
knowledge, critical thinking and analysis to increase the confidence of the decision maker.  
The Board is made up of the following Officers: Director of Communities (Programme 
Sponsor), HRA Transformation Team, Assistant Director – Housing (Vice Chair), Head of 
Customer Contact (PSPS Ltd), Assistant Director – Corporate, Assistant Director –Wellbeing 
and Community Leadership, Head of Delivery, Assistant Director – Regulatory and Assistant 
Director – Governance and Monitoring Officer.  A Critical Friend has also been appointed to 
the Board, providing honest and impartial feedback, challenging the programme and focus of 
the Transformation Board.      
 

Capital Programme Clinic  
Chaired by Assistant Director – Housing this Clinic is formed of the Portfolio Holder - Strategic 

and Operational Housing, Housing Service managers, PSPSL procurement and finance 

colleagues. This Clinic is held to review performance of the Capital Programme.  

Appendix B summarises the monitoring arrangements in place.  

5.      Directors’ remuneration and management costs 
The Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard, requires all registered providers to 

provide tenants with accessible information about their Directors’ remuneration and 

management costs.   

The remuneration payable to the highest paid Director, relative to the size of 

the landlord  
Remuneration for senior officers is published online at www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-
landlord  

The aggregate amount of remuneration paid to Directors, relative to the size of 

the landlord 
Remuneration for senior officers is published online at www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-
landlord  

Management costs, relative to the size of the landlord 
Management costs per unit is calculated as per the Regulator of Social Housing’s ‘Director’s 

remuneration and management costs’ note. This information is published on our website at 

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord   Information on how we spend rental 

income is included in the annual report to tenants.   

6. Responsible Persons  

As per the Consumer Standards, registered providers must make information available to 

tenants about the relevant roles and responsibilities of senior officers, including who has 

responsibility for compliance with the consumer standards.   

Further information on the arrangements in place providing assurance to these individuals is 

set out in appendix C.  

Page 117

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord


Page 10 of 41 
 

 Person responsible for compliance with the Consumer Standards  
The Assistant Director – Housing is responsible for the Council’s overall compliance with the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer Standards. Director – Communities acts a strategic 
critical friend to the Person responsible for compliance with the Consumer Standards.    

 

Lead Officer for Health and Safety   
The Housing Repairs and Compliance Manager is responsible for the Council’s compliance 
with Health and Safety requirements in its role as a social landlord.  The Assistant Director-
Housing acts as a strategic critical friend to the Lead Officer for Health and Safety issues.  

 

Responsible Person for compliance with Fire Safety  
The statutory role of Responsible Person is considered to be held by the Chief Executive of 
South Holland District Council. Whilst the Chief Executive has overall and final responsibility 
for fire safety, duties and actions associated to fire safety within the Housing Landlord 
Service are delegated to Assistant Director - Housing, supported by the Housing Property 
Services Manager.   
 

Accountable Person for compliance for Higher-Risk Residential Buildings 
The Assistant Director – Housing is responsible for the Council’s compliance with high-rise 
residential buildings (as defined by the Building Safety Act 2022).    

 

Lead Officer for Housing Complaints 

The Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead is the nominated lead officer for Housing 

Complaints.   

 

Member Responsible for Complaints (MRC)   
The Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing is the Member Responsible for 
Complaints, responsible for ensuring that complaint handling drives service improvement for 
tenants, and tenants and learning and service improvement for the Council.   

 

Lead Officer for compliance with the Rent Standard 
The  Assistant Director – Housing is the nominated lead officer for compliance with the Rent 

Standard.   

7. Housing Revenue Account  

HRA Business plan    
The HRA Business Plan financial model combines both the capital and revenue projections 
for the HRA.  It is reviewed annually and evidences that we have financially sustainable plans 
in place, and the resources to deliver them.     
 
A review of the HRA Business Plan model including associated stress testing will be 

completed during 2025/26.  This work will involve providing a viable and deliverable model, 

detailed Business Plan narrative including recommendations for evidence led strategic 

decisions and a HRA Capacity review, including reviewing the existing and potential 

borrowing capacity.   

Page 118



Page 11 of 41 
 

Budget management  
Budgets are set and approved by full Council on an annual basis with forecast quarterly 

outturn reports provided throughout the year.  The HRA has a dedicated accountant within 

the PSPS Finance Team who meets with Budget Managers on a monthly basis.  Meeting 

outcome records and are shared with senior Finance colleagues and the s151 Officer. 

Updates on budget variances are discussed at the Housing Landlord Board on a six weekly 

basis and reported to the Director of Communities, Assistant Director Housing and Portfolio 

Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing on a quarterly basis .  Where variances exist, 

Managers explain steps being taken to address them and whether any more frequent 

updates to the Board/Clinic are necessary.    

Annual Financial Statement   
At the end of each financial year the Council produces a financial statement in accordance 

with the requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC 'Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 

in the United Kingdom' published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy.  The Annual Financial Report gives a clear, objective, and balanced assessment 

of the Council's performance in the last financial year (including the HRA) and includes major 

influences on the Council's finances for the year in question and the future. 

The Statement also encompasses the Council’s annual governance statement setting out the 

Council’s approach to corporate governance and how it manages its governance 

arrangements in accordance with the Code of Governance.  This statement explains how the 

Council has complied with the Code and also meets the requirements of the Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2015 in relation to consideration of the findings of a review of the system 

of internal control and approval and publication of an annual governance statement. 

8.      Risk management 
The Council‘s Risk Management Framework set out the principles followed for implementing 

effective risk management, provides an overview of the anticipated benefits in taking this 

approach to risk management and sets out the Council’s attitude to risk.   

Recording risk  
An operational risk register records all risks for the Housing Landlord Service including any 

risks linked to Housing Projects.  Risks are assigned to the relevant service manager and 

reviewed on a monthly basis.  The Assistant Director - Housing owns the risk register and 

reviews the register quarterly.  

The key risks recorded on the register have been scrutinised externally by Lincoln City 

Council, in their capacity as a registered provider.  The Council works with a range of Councils 

on a number of matters to ensure that differing views ensure the Council delivers the most 

effective service to its tenants. 

Strategic risks are recorded on the Corporate Risk Register.  Further information is available in 

the Housing Landlord Services Risk Register procedure. 

Page 119



Page 12 of 41 
 

Reporting and scrutinising risk management    

    

 
Housing Landlord Services Board 

A copy of the risk register is presented, highlighting risks and key changes to the Assistant 

Director – Housing on a six weekly basis.  

Corporate Governance Clinic  
The Assistant Director – Housing presents strategic risks and key changes to the Corporate 
Governance Clinic on a quarterly basis.  
 
Senior Leadership Team   
The Assistant Director - Governance & Monitoring Officer presents a report on strategic risks 
and key changes to Senior Leadership Team on a quarterly basis (as part of a corporate 
update).     
 
Governance and Audit   
The Business Intelligence and Change Manager provides a quarterly update on risk 
management and key changes at Governance and Audit (as part of the corporate update).    
 

Tenants 

Data around risk management is published on our website at www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome 

and is included in our annual report to tenants.  This report includes reference to service 

improvements proposed in response to the data. 

The Council has established a tenant forum and series of focus groups as an opportunity for 

tenants to scrutinise our performance and services as a landlord.   

9. Monitoring compliance and performance    
The South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership’s Performance Management Framework 

sets out monitoring and reporting arrangements regarding strategic ambition measures and 

corporate and local priorities for the Partnership.    

Housing Landlord Services Board

Corporate Governance Clinic

Senior Leadership Team  

Governance and Audit (public meeting)

Page 120

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome


Page 13 of 41 
 

Recording compliance and performance    
Data on compliance and performance (including complaint handling) is collated on a monthly 

basis for consideration by Housing Service Managers.  The Housing Service Insight and 

Improvement Lead is responsible for collating the data on behalf of the service.  Relevant 

managers have been assigned specific risks to manage data to monitor and report on.   

 Benchmarking  
Targets have been set based on good practice and comparable registered providers. Tenant 

Satisfaction Measure management data will be benchmarked as part of the Councils 

HouseMark membership.   

Reporting and scrutinising compliance and performance  

 

Housing Landlord Services Compliance and Performance Clinic   

Compliance and performance data is presented to the Assistant Director Housing and 

Portfolio Holder – Strategic and Operational Housing and Director of Communities on a 

monthly basis.  This report includes reference to learnings and service improvements 

proposed in response to the data.      

Corporate Governance Clinic  

The Assistant Director – Housing presents data on compliance and performance to the 

Corporate Governance Clinic on a quarterly basis.  

Senior Leadership Team   

The Assistant Director – Corporate presents a report on compliance and performance to 

Senior Leadership Team on a quarterly basis (as part of a corporate update) - see appendix A 

for information on the KPIs reported. 

Performance Monitoring Panel and Cabinet 

The Business Intelligence and Change Manager provides a quarterly update on compliance 

and performance at Performance Monitoring Panel (as part of the corporate update), 

followed by Cabinet.  See appendix A for information on the KPIs reported.    

Tenants 

The Council has established a tenant forum and series of focus groups as an opportunity for 

tenants to scrutinise our performance and services as a landlord.   

Performance data is published on our website at www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome  and is 

included in our annual report to tenants.  This report includes reference to learnings and 

service improvements proposed in response to the data.  

Housing Landlord Services Compliance and Performance Clinic

Corporate Governance Clinic

Senior Leadership Team  

Performance Monitoring Panel (public meeting)

Cabinet (public meeting)

Page 121

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome


Page 14 of 41 
 

10. Data returns submitted  
The Regulator of Social Housing and MHCLG collects data from registered providers of social 

housing in order to inform its operational approach to regulating its standards.  

 

The Housing Service Insight and Improvement Lead is responsible for ensuring the following 

submissions are returned on an annual basis:     
• Tenant Satisfaction Measures – details on tenant satisfaction and compliance 

• Local Authority Data Return – details on stock and rents.   

11. Tenant satisfaction    

Recording tenant satisfaction  
Tenant Satisfaction Measures are the Regulator of Social Housing’s standards on assessing 

landlords regarding the provision of good quality homes and services. Tenant Satisfaction 

surveys are carried out on an annual basis by a third party on behalf of the Council. In 

addition to this, the Council has introduced targeted satisfaction surveys across key service 

areas, including damp and mould service request, complaint handling and aids and 

adaptations. Further surveys will be rolled out to other service areas.  

The methodology for collating the data and questions asked is determined by the Regulator 

of Social Housing.  Further information is available at  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/64357b33cc99800013b8936a/TSM_Technical

_requirements.pdf.  The Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead is responsible for collating 

the data on behalf of the service.  

Benchmarking  
Data is currently collated on questions set by the Regulator as part of the Tenant Satisfaction 

Measure Perception survey.  The Council will benchmark its data against the data for all 

large, registered providers (using HouseMark Membership)   

Reporting tenant satisfaction  

 

Housing Compliance and Performance Clinic  

Housing Landlord Services Housing Compliance and 
Performance Clinic  

Corporate Governance Clinic

Senior Leadership Team  

Performance Monitoring Panel (public meeting)

Cabinet (public meeting)

Page 122

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/64357b33cc99800013b8936a/TSM_Technical_requirements.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/64357b33cc99800013b8936a/TSM_Technical_requirements.pdf


Page 15 of 41 
 

Satisfaction data is currently presented to the Portfolio Holder – Strategic and Operational 
Housing and Director of Communities on an annual basis.  This report includes reference to 
service improvements proposed in response to the data.  

 

Corporate Governance Clinic  

The Assistant Director – Housing presents data on tenant satisfaction to the Corporate 

Governance Clinic on an annual basis.  This report includes reference to service 

improvements proposed in response to the data. 

Senior Leadership Team   

The Assistant Director – Corporate presents a report on tenant satisfaction to Senior 

Leadership Team (as part of a corporate update). This report includes reference to service 

improvements proposed in response to the data.     

Performance Monitoring Panel and Cabinet 

The Assistant Director-Housing provides an annual update on tenant satisfaction at 

Performance Monitoring Panel followed by Cabinet. This report includes reference to service 

improvements proposed in response to the data.     

Tenants 

The Council has established a tenant forum and series of focus groups as an opportunity for 

tenants to scrutinise our performance and services as a landlord.   

Tenant satisfaction data is published on our website at www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome and is 

included in our annual report to tenants. This report includes reference to service 

improvements proposed in response to the data. 

12. Complaint Handling   
The Housing Landlord Service is statutorily required to meet the requirements of the Housing 

Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code.  A copy of the Council’s Housing Compliments, 

Complaints, Comments and Compensation policy is available at  

www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies .   

The Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead is responsible for publishing the Councils annual 

self-assessment against the Code and is the lead officer for complaints.  

Recording complaint handling and performance    
All complaints are logged including the time taken to respond, the outcome of the complaint 

including, along with learnings and compensation awarded.    

Data on complaint handling is collated on a monthly basis and consideration by Service 

Managers, Senior Officers and the Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing at the 

Compliance and Performance Clinic.  Information, themes, and learnings from complaints are 

presented at Complaints working group, with attendees including the Portfolio Holder - 

Strategic and Operational Housing, along with quarterly updates provided to Performance 

Monitoring Panel and Cabinet.  The Lead Officer for Complaints is responsible for collating 

the data on behalf of the service.   

Page 123

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies


Page 16 of 41 
 

 Benchmarking  
Data is currently collated on questions set by the Regulator as part of the Tenant Satisfaction 

Measure Perception survey.  The Council will benchmark its data against the data for all large 

registered providers (using HouseMark Membership)   

An annual self-assessment is published and submitted to the Housing Ombudsman on 

compliance with the Complaint Handling Code.  

Reporting and scrutinising compliance and performance  
 Data on complaints: 

Statistics on items including number of responses within the Complaint Handling Code 

timescales and the volume of complaints received are reported at the Housing Landlord 

Services Compliance Clinic (as part of a Tenant Satisfaction Measure report). See section 9 for 

more information.    

Information on complaints including themes and learnings:   
The Housing Landlord Services Complaints Working Group is a working group established to 

carry out continuous and learning improvement by assessing themes or trends to identify 

potential systematic system issues, serious risks, or policies and procedures that require 

revision.  Key themes and learnings are reported at the working group to the Member 

Responsible for Complaints. Reports include reviews of issues and trends arising from 

complaint handling along with service improvements made in response to complaints (as per 

the Housing Ombudsman Service’s Complaint Handling Code).      

 

Housing Landlord Services Complaints Working Group   

The Housing Landlord Services Complaints Working Group reviews the complaints received, 

considers learnings and makes recommendations for any additional service improvements 

required.  This meeting is held quarterly and chaired by the Lead Officer for Complaints 

attended by the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing.  

Housing Landlord Services Board  
Chaired by Assistant Director – Housing and attended by Housing Managers, the purpose of 
this Board is to ensure collective awareness and visibility relating to regulatory assurance, 
financial resilience, risk management, performance and compliance on all matters relating to 

Housing Landlord Services Complaints Working Group

Housing Landlord Services Board

Cabinet

Page 124



Page 17 of 41 
 

being an effective and compliant landlord.  Learnings from complaints and service 
improvements are reported at this Board for further discussion and implementation.   

 
Cabinet 
The Lead Officer for Complaints presents data and information on complaints on a six-
monthly basis, setting out trends and learnings along with improvements made in response 
to tenant feedback.   Reports are taken annually to Cabinet to review and scrutinise the 
findings of the self-assessment against the Complaint Handling Code along with the annual 
complaints performance and service improvement report.   
 

Tenants 

The Council has established a tenant forum and series of focus groups as an opportunity for 

tenants to scrutinise our performance and services as a landlord.   

Performance data is published on our website at www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome  and is 

included in our annual report to tenants.  This report includes reference to service complaint 

themes, learnings and improvements completed in response to complaints.  

Ombudsman investigations   
Tenants have a right to escalate cases to the Housing Ombudsman as per the Housing 

Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code.  The Lead Officer for Complaints will case manage 

the investigation, keeping the Assistant Director-Housing and Member Responsible for 

Complaints informed.  In addition, the Lead Officer will also inform Senior Leadership Team 

and the Monitoring Officer of any determination outcomes including Complaint Handling 

Failure Orders.  The Monitoring Officer will brief Cabinet on any Complaint Handling Failure 

Orders and progress made in complying with the Order.   

13. Assurance  

Audit    
The Council is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 

processes, control systems, accounting records and governance arrangements. Internal audit 

plays a vital role in advising the District Council that these arrangements are in place and 

operating effectively.  

Assurance mapping is completed by the Assistant Director - Housing on an annual basis with 

internal audit.  This exercise highlights critical activities, key projects and partnerships, risks 

and emerging risks.  

The following internal audits have recently been completed: 

• Housing rents, June 2023 (Financial control)   

• Housing Compliance, September 2023 (Internal control)   

• Housing Compliance follow up, December 2025 

• Housing (Allocations) and Homelessness, 2022   

• Pooling of Housing Receipts (Right to Buy) submission (annual audit).  

• Housing Transformation Programme, December 2025 

Audit progress reports are presented to the quarterly Housing Governance Clinic (including 

the Director of Communities, Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing), and 

Page 125

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/myhome


Page 18 of 41 
 

Governance and Audit on a regular basis, in addition to annual reports.  The Assistant 

Director – Housing has oversight of the audit actions. 

The Council’s annual statement of accounts (including the HRA) is subject to an external 

audit prior to publishing.  The accounts and audit are presented to Governance and Audit 

Committee each year, and a copy is published at 

www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5578/Financial-Statements .   

Annual rent reviews  
Rent reviews are set by the Regulator of Social Housing each year as part of the rent 
standard.  A data return is submitted annually to the Regulator (known as the Local Authority 
Data Return, LADR) based on the rent model.  This data is validated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing.   
 

LGA Corporate Peer Challenge  
The Council welcomes reviews from Peers including the LGA by way of a Corporate Peer 
Challenge. Bringing together political and managerial leadership, through the use of Member 
and Officer peers, a peer challenge provides robust, strategic and credible challenge and 
support to councils.  Most recent Peer Challenges include: 

• LGA Social Housing Management Peer Challenge 2022  

• LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 2023.  
 

Health & Safety Audit  
Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd audit the Housing Department on a three yearly basis 
to  measure the effectiveness of the Health & Safety management system and gather 
evidence (view records, ask questions, etc) to assess working practice against existing 
policies, procedures and legislative requirements.  Required actions will be captured by the 
Health and Safety team and followed up as appropriate to ensure completion. Findings are 
reported to the Assistant Director – Housing and the Strategic Health and Safety Board 
(chaired by the Assistant Director – Regulation and Corporate Lead Officer for Health and 
Safety).   
 

Regulator of Social Housing   
 Following the Councils inspection, regular meetings with the Regulator have been 
established to discuss progress against the improvement plan. These meetings demonstrate 
commitment to continuous improvement, share evidence of progress, and receive feedback 
to ensure sustained compliance. This ongoing engagement provides assurance that the 
Council is maintaining alignment with the consumer standards and regulatory expectations 
and forms a key part of the framework.  

14. Business continuity   
The Housing Landlord Service has the following Business Impact Analysis documents 
established recording arrangements to continue to deliver the service in an emergency or 
business continuity incident: 

• Housing Property Services – owned by the Head of Housing Investment and 
Development   

• Housing Repairs – owned by the Housing Repairs and Compliance Manager  

• Housing and Support Services – owned by the Housing Services Manager.   
 

Page 126

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5578/Financial-Statements
https://www.pspsl.co.uk/
https://www.pspsl.co.uk/
https://www.pspsl.co.uk/
https://www.pspsl.co.uk/
https://www.pspsl.co.uk/


Page 19 of 41 
 

These documents are reviewed annually with the Lincolnshire County Council Emergency 
Planning & Business Continuity Service and the data from this analysis feeds into each 
service area’s Business Continuity Plan.    

15. Procurement and value for money  
The Council complies with Public Contracts Regulations 2015, as well as its own Contract 

Procedure Rules. PSPS Ltd.’s Contracts and Procurements Service provides professional 

expertise to the HRA around procurement.  A copy of the Procurement Strategy for 2023-

2026 is available on our website www.sholland.gov.uk/article/7949/Our-Approach-to-

Procurement 

Value for money and open competition through open tendering is the preferred option for 

the majority of HRA contracts, including Sewage Treatment Maintenance, Heating Upgrades 

etc. Where an alternative procurement option is sought, such as further competition or 

direct award through a framework, value for money is satisfied via benchmarking rates.   

The Assistance – Director Housing has delegated authority to publish an Officer decision 

awarding a contract.  Decisions are published at 

www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5276/Committees-and-decisions 

All expenditure over £500 is published at www.sholland.gov.uk/article/7087/Payments-to-

suppliers .  The contracts register for all contracts exceeding £5,000 is published at 

www.sholland.gov.uk/article/24540/Contracts-Register  

16. Monitoring compliance with the Consumer Standards   
In 2025, the Council was inspected by the Regulator of Social Housing, with a judgement of C2 

published on 30th July. The inspection identified some weaknesses in the Council’s ability to 

evidence how it is meeting the Consumer Standards, specifically the Transparency Accountability and 

Influence Standard. As a result, the Council will be developing an improvement plan in collaboration 

with the Regulator of Social Housing and will be under regulatory improvement until it achieves a C1 

judgement. This process will involve enhancing tenant engagement to ensure full compliance with 

the standards. 

Housing Transformation and Service Improvement Programme  
In 2023, Cabinet adopted a Housing Landlord Strategy and Housing Transformation Programme.  

These documents set out the steps required to deliver the outcomes of the Consumer Standards 

(including recommendations from the LGA Social Housing Management Peer Challenge 2022 and the 

Consumer Regulation Health Check 2023). The Housing Transformation Team has been established to 

focus on delivering recommendations of the programme.     

Discussions around the progress of the programme are held with the Portfolio Holder - Strategic and 

Operational Housing and Assistant Director-Housing on a regular basis.  Progress of the programme is 

formally monitored by the Housing Transformation and Service Improvement Board, with meetings 

held quarterly.  The role of the advisory board is not to make decisions but to provide current 

knowledge, critical thinking and analysis to increase the confidence of the decision maker.  Updates 

on the progress of the programme are provided to Senior Leadership Team (quarterly) and Cabinet 

(quarterly).     

Page 127

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/7949/Our-Approach-to-Procurement
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/7949/Our-Approach-to-Procurement
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5276/Committees-and-decisions
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/7087/Payments-to-suppliers
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/7087/Payments-to-suppliers
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/24540/Contracts-Register


Page 20 of 41 
 

Oversight from the Person Responsible for Compliance with the Consumer Standards   
The Person Responsible for Compliance with the Consumer Standards is subject to regular updates 

on the Housing Landlord Service’s compliance with the Consumer Standards in the following ways: 

• Individual reporting arrangements with Housing Managers as part of informal 

discussions and one to ones.  

• Housing Landlord Services Board with the agenda scoped around the outcomes of 

the consumer standards (Chair)  

• Housing Landlord Services Compliance and Performance Clinic (Chair) 

• Housing Landlord Services Capital Programme Clinic (Chair) 

• Housing Transformation and Service Improvement Programme (Deputy Chair).   

 

A procedure has been produced to support the Responsible Person for Compliance with 

Consumer Standards in determining whether it is necessary to self-refer to the Regulator.  

This procedure includes notifying the Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing 

and Director – Communities of incidents, including scenarios where the Responsible Person 

for Compliance with Consumer Standards has reviewed an incident and determined that it 

was not necessary to refer to the Regulator.  (All incidents are logged including the findings, 

outcome of internal referral and learnings).    

Page 128



Page 21 of 41 
 

Appendix A - Data submitted Corporate Governance Clinic (Senior 

Leadership Team, Performance Monitoring Panel and Cabinet)  
 

Unless otherwise stated, the data is reported as a snapshot on the last working day of the quarter.  

Tenant Satisfaction Measure (Management Information) * Responsible 
Officer  

2025/26 
Target 

Keeping properties in good repair 

RP01: Proportion of homes that do not meet the Decent Homes 
Standard. (%) 

Head of Housing 
Investment and 
Development  

2% 

RP02(1): Proportion of non-emergency responsive repairs 
completed within the landlord’s target timescale - 28 days. (%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager  

90% 

RP02(2): Proportion of emergency responsive repairs 
completed within the landlord’s target timescale** (%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Safety checks  

BS01: Proportion of homes for which all required gas safety 
checks have been carried out. (%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

BS02: Proportion of homes for which all required fire risk 
assessments have been carried out. (%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

BS03: Proportion of homes for which all required asbestos 
management surveys or re-inspections have been carried out. 
(%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

BS04: Proportion of homes for which all required legionella risk 
assessments have been carried out. (%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

BS05: Proportion of homes for which all required communal 
passenger lift safety checks have been carried out. (%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Effective handling of complaints 

CH01(1): Number of stage one complaints received per 1,000 
homes.  

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead 

Data only  

CH01(2): Number of stage two complaints received per 1,000 
homes. 

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead 

Data only 

CH02(1): Proportion of stage one complaints responded to 
within the Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code 
timescales. (%) 

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead 

 95% 

CH02(2): Proportion of stage two complaints responded to 
within the Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code 
timescales. (%) 

Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead 

 95% 

Responsible neighbourhood management 

NM01(1): Number of anti-social behaviour cases opened per 
1,000 homes. 

Housing Services 
Manager 

Data only 

Page 129



Page 22 of 41 
 

NMO1(2): Number of anti-social behaviour cases that involve 
hate incidents opened per 1,000 homes. 

Housing Services 
Manager 

Data only 

Internal performance measures 

Number of DCM cases reported during the financial year – 
running total 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager  

Data only 

Number of live DCM cases (as a percentage of stock)  
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

Data only 

Number of DCM cases where safety work and supplementary 
works have been completed during the financial year – running 
total 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

Data only 

Number of DCM cases closed during the financial year 
(following six month follow-up phone call) – running total 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

Data only 

Proportion of DCM cases assessed within the Awaab’s law 
timescale – 24 hours (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of potential emergency hazard DCM cases inspected 
within the Awaab’s law timescale – 24 hours (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of potential significant hazard DCM cases inspected 
within the Awaab’s law timescale – 10 working days (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of potential hazard DCM cases inspected within the 
Landlords timescale – 15 working days (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of emergency hazard DCM cases made safe within 
the Awaab’s law timescale – 24 hours (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of significant hazard DCM cases made safe within 
the Awaab’s law timescale – 5 working days (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of written summaries sent out within the Awaab’s 
law timescale – 3 working days (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of DCM routine repairs completed within the 
landlord’s target timescale – 20 working days (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of DCM major repairs completed within the 
Awaab’s law timescale – 12 weeks (%) 
 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Proportion of homes for which an Electrical Installation 
Condition Report (EICR) has been carried out (%) 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

100% 

Gross rent arrears (including service charges) as a percentage of 
rent due for the reporting year.  Note the following tenures are 
reported by exception on request: supported accommodation, 
garages, temporary accommodation and shared ownership.   

Housing Services 
Manager 

4% 

Page 130



Page 23 of 41 
 

 
 *  Tenant Satisfaction Measures - The Regulator of Social Housing’s standards on assessing landlords 

regarding the provision of good quality homes and services.  Further information is available at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/64357b33cc99800013b8936a/TSM_Technical_requir

ements.pdf 

** Current SHDC timescales are 8 hours during office hours and 4 hours outside of office hours. 

***Major works – void property requiring replacement of major components such as kitchen, 
bathroom, windows, heating system and/or where the property has been handed over to insurers in 
response to an emergency incident e.g. fire.   
 

Average time to re-let a property excluding major works in the 
last quarter*** 

Housing Repairs 
and Compliance 
Manager 

28 days  

Number of households evicted in the last quarter Housing Services 
Manager 

N/A 

Number of Right to Buy sales completed in the last quarter  Housing Services 
Manager 

N/A 

Number of new properties completed in the last quarter 
 

Housing Services 
Manager 

N/A 

Minor adaptations – Percentage of Minor aids and adaptations 
completed within timescale (25 working days) 

Head of Housing 
Investment and 
Development  

25 
working 
days  

Major adaptations – Percentage of Major adaptations 
completed within timescale (6 months 182 days) 

Head of Housing 
Investment and 
Development 

182 
working 
days  

Significant adaptations – Percentage of works commenced 
within timescale (6 months 182 days) 

Head of Housing 
Investment and 
Development 

182 
working 
days  

Customer satisfaction with minor adaptations Head of Housing 
Investment and 
Development 

Data only 

Customer satisfaction with major and significant adaptations Head of Housing 
Investment and 
Development 

Data only  

Tenant Satisfaction Measure (Perception Information) *   

Tenant satisfaction survey data - reported annually Tenant 
Engagement and 
Influence Lead 

N/A 

Page 131



Page 24 of 41 
 

Appendix B – Summary of monitoring arrangements   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council intends to establish ways 

for tenants to formally scrutinise our 

performance as a landlord during 

2025/26 

P
age 132



Page 25 of 41 
 

  

 

The Council intends to establish 

ways for tenants to formally 

scrutinise our performance as a 

landlord during 2025/26 

P
age 133



Page 26 of 41 
 

Appendix C  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

SHDC Housing Landlord Services  

Responsible Persons: 
Roles, Responsibilities and  
Assurance Arrangements 

 
September 2025 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



Page 27 of 41 
 

Background  
This document summarises the roles, responsibilities and assurance arrangements in place for the 

following: 

• Person Responsible for Compliance with the Consumer Standards 

• Lead Officer for Health and Safety requirements 

• Person responsible for Fire Safety (landlord) 

• Accountable Person for Higher-Risk Residential Buildings 

• Member Responsible for Complaints (MRC) 

• Lead Officer for Housing complaints.   

Individuals were appointed to these roles by way of a Portfolio Holder decision effective from 23 

May 2024.   These roles are recorded in the Log of Delegations to Officers, managed by Democratic 

Services.    

Individuals and the arrangements in place will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Assistant 

Director – Housing.  This document will be updated annually to reflect any changes, or sooner if 

there is a change in legislation.  

Person responsible for Compliance with the Consumer Standards 

Individual appointed  
Assistant Director – Housing   

Summary of role and responsibilities  
The regulator requires registered providers to tell it at the earliest opportunity about any material 
issues that relate to non-compliance or potential non-compliance with the standards. Being open 
and transparent with the regulator is an essential part of registered providers meeting their co-
regulatory responsibilities.   
 
Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard (Consumer Standards)  

2.3.5 Registered providers must make information available to tenants about the relevant 

roles and responsibilities of senior level employees or officers, including who has 

responsibility for compliance with the consumer standards.   

 

2.6.1 Registered providers must communicate in a timely manner with the regulator on all 

material issues that relate to non-compliance or potential non-compliance with the consumer 

standards. 

S194C 2008 Housing and Regeneration Act (amended by Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023) 

194C Standards relating to information and transparency:  

(1 ) The regulator may set standards for registered providers in matters relating to the 

provision of information to their tenants of social housing and to the regulator, including 

standards requiring information to be published. 

Page 135



Page 28 of 41 
 

(2)Standards under subsection (1) may, in particular, require registered providers to comply 

with specified rules about— 

(a)the provision of information to their tenants of social housing concerning the 

accommodation, facilities or services provided in connection with social housing, 

including information concerning— 

(i)their tenants’ rights in connection with those things, and 

(ii)how to make complaints against registered providers, 

(b)monitoring their compliance with standards under this section and sections 193, 

194 and 194A* and informing the regulator if they have failed, or there is a risk they 

will fail, to meet any of those standards, and 

(c)the publication of information about— 

(i)the remuneration of their executives, and 

(ii)their income, management costs and other expenditure. 

(3)For the purposes of subsection (2)(c), an “executive”, in relation to a registered provider, 

means an individual who is both— 

(a)an officer or employee of the registered provider, and 

(b)responsible for the management of the provider.” 

 
*Sections 193, 194 and 194A: 

S193 - Standards relating to consumer matters 

The regulator may set standards for registered providers as to the nature, extent, 

safety, energy efficiency and quality of accommodation, facilities or services provided 

by them in connection with social housing. 

S194 - Standards relating to economic matters (Does not apply to SHDC) 

The regulator may set standards for private registered providers in matters relating 

to their financial and other affairs. 

S194A - Standards relating to competence and conduct 

The regulator may set standards for registered providers in matters relating to the 

competence and conduct of individuals involved in the provision of services in 

connection with the management of social housing (“relevant individuals”). 

Arrangements in place to provide assurance to this individual and the organisation  
The Person Responsible for Compliance with the Consumer Standards is subject to regular updates 

on the Housing Landlord Service’s compliance with the Consumer Standards in the following ways: 

• Individual reporting arrangements with Housing Managers as part of informal discussions 

and one to ones.  

Page 136

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p02399
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p01998
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p02403
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p02424
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p01998


Page 29 of 41 
 

• Housing Landlord Services Board with the agenda scoped around the outcomes of the 

consumer standards (Chair)  

• Housing Landlord Services Compliance and Performance Clinic (Chair) 

• Housing Landlord Services Capital Programme Clinic (Chair) 

• Housing Transformation and Service Improvement Programme (Deputy Chair).   

 

A procedure has been produced to support the Responsible Person for Compliance with Consumer 

Standards in determining whether it is necessary to self-refer to the Regulator.  This procedure 

includes notifying the Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing and Director – 

Communities of incidents, including scenarios where the Responsible Person for Compliance with 

Consumer Standards has reviewed an incident and determined that it was not necessary to refer to 

the Regulator.  (All incidents are logged including the findings, outcome of internal referral and 

learnings).   

Arrangements for tenants to raise concerns with the Person responsible for 

Compliance with the Consumer Standards 

Enquiries can be sent to housing.regulation@sholland.gov.uk or by phoning 01775 761161.  This 

information has been shared with tenants in the following ways: 

• Housing annual report  

• our website at https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord  

• included in sign-up packs for new tenants  

• included in mutual exchange paperwork 

• published in Sheltered Housing community centres and flat schemes.   

 

Lead Officer for Health and Safety requirements 

Individual appointed    
Housing Repairs and Compliance Manager.  

Summary of role and responsibilities  
The Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 (as amended) requires registered providers to nominate a 

designated person for health and safety issues.   All registered providers are required to notify the 

Regulator of the name and contact details of its designated health and safety lead, and publish that 

information.  

 

Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, part 126A-C 

126B Functions of the health and safety lead 

(1)The functions of the health and safety lead for a registered provider are to— 

(a)monitor the provider’s compliance with health and safety requirements; 

(b)assess risks of failure to comply with health and safety requirements; 

(c)notify the responsible body of the provider of— 

(i)risks assessed under paragraph (b) of material failures by the provider to 

comply with health and safety requirements; 

Page 137

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p00970


Page 30 of 41 
 

(ii)material failures by the provider to comply with health and safety 

requirements; 

(d)provide advice to the responsible body as to how the provider should address risks 

and failures notified to the responsible body under paragraph (c) for the purpose of 

ensuring that the provider complies with health and safety requirements. 

 

126C Duties of registered provider in relation to health and safety lead 

(1)A registered provider must— 

(a)ensure that the health and safety lead— 

(i)has sufficient authority (including, in particular, authority to obtain 

information) within the provider’s organisation, and 

(ii)can devote sufficient time to the functions of the health and safety lead, 

to perform the role of health and safety lead effectively; 

(b)provide the health and safety lead with the resources needed to carry out those 

functions. 
 

(2)A registered provider must, in accordance with requirements published by the regulator— 

(a)notify the regulator of the name and contact details of the health and safety lead, 

and 

(b)publish that information.  

 

Nothing in sections 126A to 126C affects— 

(a)the responsibility of a registered provider for compliance with health and safety 

requirements, or 

(b)the liability of the registered provider or of any director, member or other officer 

or person for a failure to comply with health and safety requirements. 

 

The health and safety lead is not, by virtue of those sections— 

(a)responsible for the registered provider’s compliance with health and safety 

requirements, or 

(b)liable for a failure by the registered provider to comply with health and safety 

requirements, 

(but this does not affect any responsibility or liability which the individual designated 

under section 126A has otherwise than as health and safety lead). 

 

(3)A registered provider may nominate an individual to carry out the functions of the health 

and safety lead if the health and safety lead is unable to act due to absence or illness. 

 

Page 138

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p00974
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p00847
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p01092
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/36#p00847


Page 31 of 41 
 

The Council will ensure that properties are repaired and maintained in accordance with best practice 

and legislation, including the following: 

• Social Housing Regulator Economic and consumer standards 
• Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 2018 (HFHHA 2018) 
• Housing Acts 1985,1988,1996,1998 and 2004 
• The Secure Tenants of Local Authorities (Right to Repair) Regulations SI. 1994 No 133 
• The Secure Tenants of Local Authorities (Compensation for Improvements) regulations 

1994, SI 1994 No 613 
• The Leasehold Reform, Housing and Development Act 1993 

• Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
• Defective Premises Act 1972 
• Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 - Section 11 
• Defective Premises Act 1972 - Section 4 
• Environmental Protection Act 1990- Part Ill 

• Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 
• Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002 
• Equalities Act 2010 

• Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 
• Housing Health & Safety Rating System 

• Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
• Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations.  
• Awaabs Law   

 
Inspection and remedial compliance information is held and managed within the Housing intranet, 

and relevant contractor portals.   

The Assistant Director-Housing has overall responsibility for the Health and Safety of properties 

managed by the Housing Landlord Service, supported by the management team and Statutory 

Compliance Co-ordinator. 

The Lead Officer for Health and Safety is responsible for implementation and management of 
practical aspects of statutory maintenance in properties owned and managed by Council, including 
the competence of all persons involved.  Also, to establish and maintain direct lines of 
communication with the various Housing stakeholders; specialist contractors and consultants, 
ensuring an efficient two-way exchange of information and records.   
 
Statutory compliance service contractors provide practical advice on management and the control of 
the risks of statutory maintenance; undertake risk assessments, surveys and reports; carry out 
monitoring, maintenance and testing, inspection and audits, as required.  
 
Key stakeholders and partners include the Council’s internal auditors, the Regulator of Social Housing 
and competent bodies, such as Gas Safe.  

Arrangements in place to provide assurance to this individual and the organisation 
The Lead Officer for Health and Safety is subject to regular updates on the Housing Landlord 

Service’s compliance with health and safety in the following ways: 

• Housing Landlord Services Board with the agenda including health and safety compliance 

and incidents.  

• Housing Landlord Services Compliance and Performance Clinic – reviewing the compliance 

and performance of the service, focussed on compliance with health and safety 

requirements of a landlord. 

Page 139



Page 32 of 41 
 

• Briefings from the Statutory Compliance Co-ordinator, monitoring the programme of 

compliance on a regular basis.   

• Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd audit the Housing Department on a three yearly basis 

to  measure the effectiveness of the Health & Safety management system and gather 

evidence (view records, ask questions, etc) to assess working practice against existing 

policies, procedures and legislative requirements.  Required actions will be captured by the 

Health and Safety team and followed up as appropriate to ensure completion. Findings are 

reported to the Assistant Director – Housing and the Strategic Health and Safety Board 

(chaired by the Assistant Director – Regulation and Corporate Lead Officer for Health and 

Safety).   

Electrical Safety 

All electrical work is carried out by registered electrical persons who are suitably qualified and 

registered with an appropriate registration scheme, for example: NICEIC, NAPIT.   

 

All new installations are provided with an Electrical Installation Certificate complete with a schedule 

of inspection and test results. These certificates are completed and in compliance with ‘BS 7671: 

(2015) Requirements for Electrical Installations, Guidance Note 1 (Selection and Erection)’ and all 

current amendments. All certificates are stored on the intranet and relevant contractor portal.  

 

Processes are in place to ensure:  

• Electrical installation condition tests and inspections are carried out on a minimum 
programme of every 5 years after the initial electrical installation date.  

• All engineers working on electrical installations are NICEIC registered and competent for any 
servicing, inspection, repair, or replacement activities they are instructed to carry out.  

• Empty properties and properties where tenants wish to undertake a mutual exchange have 
an EICR undertaken prior to relet. 

• An electronic Electrical Inspection Condition Report (EICR) is provided to the Council, and a 

paper copy sent to the tenant upon completion of an inspection.  
 

When the Council provides electrical appliances to tenants, it conducts annual In-service 

Inspection and Testing of Electrical Equipment (ISIT) (often known as ‘PAT testing’).  A 

record of checks are kept and a copy is given to tenants at the same time as their electrical safety 

check.   

 

Gas Safety 

The Council services all gas heating appliances within one year of the previous inspection to ensure 
all properties have a valid safety inspection certificate.  A 10 month cyclical programme of servicing 
is conducted to allow sufficient time to gain access to service appliances within the required 12-
month period.  In addition to the requirements of the gas safety check, contractors are required to 
ensure that working carbon monoxide detection systems are in place, providing additional information 
to document their findings.  Gas safety checks are also conducted when a property is void and before 
tenants enter into a mutual exchange – copies of certificates are provided to the incoming tenant.  
 
All gas work is carried out by individuals that are Gas Safe Registered and competent for any 
servicing, inspection, repair, or replacement activities they are instructed to carry out.  A certificate 
(CP12) issued to the tenant in person or by post and stored on the intranet and contractor portal. 
 

 

Page 140

https://www.pspsl.co.uk/
https://www.pspsl.co.uk/


Page 33 of 41 
 

 

Processes are in place to ensure:  

• Contractors are audited and supervised – 10% of gas servicing and installation works 

completed are subject to an independent audit.  

• Accredited Certification Scheme (ACS) and relevant qualifications are maintained and 

renewed, when required, for all service engineers (including agency staff and sub-

contractors).  

• All properties with an open flued gas appliance have a working Carbon Monoxide detector   

• All engineers/contractors are Gas Safe registered and provide proof of their 

registration prior to being allowed to undertake any works.   

• The Council maintains an up-to-date database of all service records and manages the 

programme of servicing. 

• The Council is informed of any installations deemed to be unsafe. 

 

The Council’s contractor: 

• Maintains a complete servicing database of all the council’s property assets. 

• Maintains a database for the data storage of all inspection information, which must be 

retained for the duration of the contract. 

• Checks all certificates before releasing them to the Council and ensuring the appointed 

person has signed and dated the safety certificate (or electronically authorised) to show the 

record is accurate. 

• Ensures all certificates are passed to the Council in a timely manner and issued to the 

property address within the required timeframes.   

 

Asbestos Management 

The Council has an Asbestos Management Plan in place to support the monitoring and recording of 

asbestos containing materials (ACM) identified.   

 

Work to encapsulate or remove high risk asbestos will only be carried out by an approved by a 

suitably qualified competent contractor with an appropriate HSE licence.   Work to encapsulate or 

remove low risk asbestos will be carried out by competent qualified individuals.  All training 

standards and qualifications held by Contractor’s operatives must comply with the Control of 

Asbestos Regulations 2012. 

All license work, surveys and sampling tests, as required, are completed by a contractor on behalf of 

the Council.  The Council’s Management Surveys and Asbestos registers are held on the intranet and 

are readily available for inclusion in any information packs provided.    

 

Processes are in place to ensure:  

• Contractors demonstrate that their operatives have completed appropriate asbestos 

awareness training; have safe systems of work in place for work adjacent to ACMs and that 

employees have been informed on emergency arrangements in case or damage or 

disturbance to ACM materials.     

• Management surveys are in place to identify the location; type of ACM; its condition and 

quantified the risk posed.   

• A register of asbestos is maintained.     

• A rolling programme of re-inspections is undertaken on an annual basis.    

Page 141



Page 34 of 41 
 

• All staff who work directly or indirectly on properties which may contain asbestos are 

trained to understand the risks and how to manage them.  

• That work does not begin on properties known or suspected to contain ACM’s until the 

relevant survey has been completed or confirmation that data already held in this system is 

accurate and sufficient for the required works.    

 

Water Hygiene   

The Council has robust control measures in place to ensure that the risks associated with the supply 

of hot and cold-water services, such as legionella bacteria, are effectively managed in all homes and 

communal areas.  

  

Water Hygiene within the Councils housing stock is managed by risk assessment.   Formal risk 

assessments are provided for communal water systems. All Risk assessments, written schemes of 

work and any other documentation is retained on the intranet.  

 

Processes are in place to ensure:  

• All assessments are undertaken by qualified assessors and that all works and testing regime 
comply with HSG274 Part 2: the control of legionella bacteria in hot and cold water systems. 

• Water risk is reviewed when a property becomes void, as part of the voids process.   

• Risk assessments for all relevant properties are undertaken every 2 years in line with the LS 
Approved Code of Practice and ensures all actions identified are completed with the 
timescales identified in the risk assessment.  

• Individual dwellings not connected to communal water supplies are risk assessed by a 
desk top exercise which will consider risk based on the type of domestic hot water system 
and actions due. Where applicable, water hygiene will be delivered on an annual 
programme.  

• Information to residents on the risks of legionella are included on our website at 
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/legionella and distributed to tenants on a regular basis and as 
part of sign-up.    

 

Lifts and stairlifts   

All lift safety work is carried out by suitably qualified engineers.  Certificates are stored on the intranet.   

 

Processes are in place to ensure:  

• All works and servicing to lifts and specialist equipment are undertaken by qualified and 

experience engineers who hold qualifications and relevant experience to that equipment. 

•  Any engineer’s undertaking work is expected to put in place relevant isolation and safety 

measure to prevent unauthorised use whilst works are taking place and ensure residents and 

occasional users of the building are fully informed during the works. 

• All passenger lifts are fully serviced annually, and a maintenance check is undertaken on a 

quarterly basis. Where lifts are to be decommissioned and no practicable alternative is 

available, Council housing officers will engage all residents affected and put in place 

appropriate support plans. 

• Stairlifts and other specialist equipment is serviced in accordance with the requirements of 

LOLER and manufacturers guidance. 

•  A register of all specialist equipment is held and recorded.   

 

Page 142

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/legionella


Page 35 of 41 
 

Where work is contracted out  

Processes are in place to ensure:  

• All contractors provide relevant insurance and indemnities prior to starting works.  

• All contractors provide proof of qualification and accreditation with necessary schemes. 

• Regular meetings held with compliance contractors – these meetings are recorded with any 

non-conformances noted and reviewed at the next meeting.  If the contractor is failing to fulfil 

their requirements, the Council will follow the escalation procedure for failure to provide.   

• Work is audited and supervised, with arrangements specified in contracts and monitored.    

 

Health and Safety responsibilities as an employer – Housing Repairs Team  

The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HSAWA) determines the framework by which all health and 

safety is managed in the workplace. The legislation covers both the obligations for employers and 

employees.  

The Housing Repairs Manager is responsible for ensuring that they are competent and have an in-

date health and safety qualification, in order to safely conduct the duties of a ‘competent person’ to 

oversee the health and safety of the Housing Repairs Team.  Their role includes providing training to 

ensure all health and safety practices and procedures are well understood in the workplace and any 

implemented systems of work or risk assessments are followed.  

Processes in place include:  

• Safe Systems of Work outlining and detailing the tasks which would normally be found whilst 

performing the duties of a Repairs Operative.   

• Risk Assessments outlining and detail the risks involved whilst performing tasks which would 

normally be found whilst conducting the duties of a Repairs Operative.    

• Safe equipment – all equipment and/or tools provided for use are suitable for the intended 

use, safe for use, maintained in a safe condition and inspected.  Daily checks are in place for 

battery and mains operated power tools of which the operator carries out to ensure all 

safety devices guards are intact and working and that the tool is fit for use.   

• Ladder safety – a register detailing the location and type of ladder along with an annual 

inspection regime. 

• Personal Protective Equipment – provided and employees trained on how to use and 

properly wear the PPE.  

• Competent persons – all relevant trade craft certificates, relating to specialist trades are 

validated and inspected before the commencement of employment. Cyclical training is 

provided to all operatives, including asbestos, working at height, health and safety, first aid, 

manual handling, needle stick and any specialist trade training and/or trade governing body 

membership required.  

• Summers Inman – assist the Council in ensuring contracts are compliant with the CDM 

regulations (Construction Design Management Regulations)  

Arrangements for tenants to raise concerns with the Lead Officer for Health and Safety  
Enquiries can be sent to housing.regulation@sholland.gov.uk or by phoning 01775 761161.  This 

information has been shared with tenants in the following ways: 

• Housing annual report  

• our website at https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord  

Page 143

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord


Page 36 of 41 
 

• included in sign-up packs for new tenants 

• included in mutual exchange paperwork 

• published in Sheltered Housing community centres and flat schemes. 

 

Responsible Person for Fire Safety (landlord)  

The Council recognises its responsibilities under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, The 

Fire Safety Act 2022 and the Housing Act 2004, The Building Regulations, and other relevant 

legislation to demonstrate and implement robust control measures to facilitate in the continuous 

conformity with legislation in the management of Fire risk.  As per the Regulatory Reform (Fire 

Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO 2005), the Council as a Landlord/Owner is a Responsible Person for the 

purpose of the legislation and therefore must comply with the legal duties imposed. It is the 

responsibility of the Responsible Person and those they appoint to assist them, to comply with the 

fire safety legislation. 

 

Individual appointed   

Chief Executive of South Holland District Council, delegating duties and actions associated to fire 

safety within the Housing Landlord Service to Assistant Director – Housing.   
 

Summary of role and responsibilities  
The principal fire safety legislation applicable to England comprises:  

• The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (the ‘Fire Safety Order’) 

• The Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022.  

• The Fire Safety Act 2021.   

 

The Fire Safety Order applies to the common parts (communal corridors and stairways) of blocks of 

flats and houses in multiple occupation (HMOs).   The Fire Safety (England) Regulations make 

additional requirements for fire safety measures in blocks of flats, particularly those blocks over 18 

metres in height.  

 

The Home Office’s ‘A guide for persons with duties under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 

2005 (as amended) and the Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022’ summarises the roles and 

responsibilities of a Responsible Person for Fire Safety.  A copy is available at  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/651567fe7c2c4a001395e180/14.310_HO_How_To_G

uide_FINAL_RX_v04_.pdf     

The Building Safety Act 2022 poses additional fire safety responsibilities, as summarised in the Home 

Office guidance ‘Check your fire safety responsibilities under Section 156 of the Building Safety Act 

2022’.   A copy is available at  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6538e73fd10f3500139a68d0/Fire+safety+responsibili

ties+under+Section+156+of+the+Building+Safety+Act+2022.pdf     

Arrangements in place to provide assurance to this individual and the organisation  
Fire Risk Assessments are carried out by individuals accredited by UKAS Certification such as: 

• FRACS [Fire Risk Assessor Certification Scheme: Number 73], 

• NAFRAR [Nationally Accredited Fire Risk Assessment Register: [Tier 3] Number 0151] 

Page 144

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/651567fe7c2c4a001395e180/14.310_HO_How_To_Guide_FINAL_RX_v04_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/651567fe7c2c4a001395e180/14.310_HO_How_To_Guide_FINAL_RX_v04_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6538e73fd10f3500139a68d0/Fire+safety+responsibilities+under+Section+156+of+the+Building+Safety+Act+2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6538e73fd10f3500139a68d0/Fire+safety+responsibilities+under+Section+156+of+the+Building+Safety+Act+2022.pdf


Page 37 of 41 
 

• BAFE SP 205 Silver NSI Silver UKAS. 
 
A fire safety arrangements procedure has been produced summarising the arrangements for 
effectively managing fire safety regarding properties within the Council’s Housing Landlord Service in 
accordance with the relevant legislation, including: 

• suitable and sufficient fire safety precautions;  

• risk assessment; and  

• management of fire safety arrangements.   
 

A Compliance matrix is monitored by the Statutory Compliance Co-ordinator, evidencing completion 

of routine checks on emergency lighting, fire alarms and fire equipment.  

Assurance on fire safety is provided to the Assistant Director – Housing in the following ways: 

• Housing Landlord Services Compliance Clinic – reviewing the compliance and performance of 

the service, focussed on compliance with health and safety requirements of a landlord 

including fire safety and actins outstanding and overdue.  

• Receiving copies of all Fire Risk Assessments  

• Having oversight of outstanding fire actions and authorising actions for closure.   

Processes are in place to ensure:  

• Fire Risk Assessments are completed annually by an independent and competent Fire Risk 
Assessor on an annual basis.  A copy of each FRA is shared with the Assistant Director -
Housing with risks scored. Copies of FRAs are saved to the intranet.   

• Management actions and remedial works arising from the FRA and Compartmentation 
surveys are actioned and tracked to completion.  Any remedial works which cannot be or are 
not delivered within advised timescales will be assessed by the Assistant Director – Housing 
and appropriate risk mitigation measures will be taken to ensure ongoing tenant/ resident 
safety.  Evidence of completion includes photographs and relevant certification.  The 
Statutory Compliance Co-ordinator takes responsibility for collating (and saving) evidence for 
closure of Fire Risk Assessment actions.  Each action is sent to the Assistant Director – 
Housing for approval to close. 

• All fire breaks, seals, and doors are recorded at installation and saved on the intranet.  The 

condition of accessible breaks and seals is checked during the FRA review process. All council 

employees and contractors are required to report breaches in compartmentation identified 

during their day-to-day operations. 

• A rolling programme of flat fire door and communal door set inspection and maintenance is 

in place, with evidence saved to the intranet.   

• Any contact with the Fire and Rescue Service is reported to the Assistant Director – 
Housing.   

• Fire Safety systems and fire safety equipment, where fitted, are maintained to the 
recommended standards through regular programmes of cyclical maintenance. 

• Fire Safety in blocks is monitored on a weekly and monthly basis through internal safety 
checks, recorded on I Auditor app. 

• All vulnerable tenants living in flat schemes have a person-centred risk assessment (PCRA) to 
support fire management of the property. 

• Arrangements for fire safety in individual dwellings is managed through the provision of 
domestic smoke detection systems, tested annually by the Council.  

• The structure of individual dwellings is checked as part of stock condition surveys and during 
capital maintenance, for example, fire break walls will be checked during re-roofing projects.   

 

Page 145



Page 38 of 41 
 

No additional arrangements are in place for high rise buildings as the Council does not manage any 

buildings above 11 metres in height.  

The Assistant Director – Housing provides six monthly updates to the Responsible Person for Fire 

Safety discussing findings of Fire Risk Assessments, progress of actions, changes in legislation and any 

other fire safety related matters regarding the Housing Landlord Service.  Additional meetings are 

held where there are emerging or urgent items that require escalating to the Responsible Person, as 

determined by the Assistant Director-Housing.   

Arrangements for tenants to raise concerns with the Responsible Person for Fire Safety  
Enquiries can be sent to housing.regulation@sholland.gov.uk or by phoning 01775 761161.  This 

information has been shared with tenants in the following ways: 

• Housing annual report  

• our website at https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord  

• included in sign-up packs for new tenants  

• included in mutual exchange paperwork 

• published in Sheltered Housing community centres and flat schemes.   

Accountable Person for Higher Risk Residential Buildings  

Individual appointed  

Assistant Director – Housing 
 

Summary of role and responsibilities  
The Building Safety Act 2022 introduced new roles and legal duties for people and organisations who 

are responsible for managing building safety risks in higher-risk residential buildings (HRBs) in 

England.  The Act identifies the need to appoint an ‘Accountable Person’ for residential higher-risk 

residential buildings.  Higher-risk buildings are defined as a building in England that— 

a. is at least 18 metres in height or has at least 7 storeys, and 

b. contains at least 2 residential units. 

The Accountable Person has a duty to take all reasonable steps to: 

• prevent a building safety risk (the risk of a fire spreading or a structural failure) from 

happening; and 

• reduce the seriousness of any risk that arises. 

Arrangements in place to provide assurance to this individual and the organisation  
No arrangements in place currently as the Council does not manage any units over 11m in height.  

Arrangements for tenants to raise concerns with the Accountable Person for Higher 

Risk Residential Buildings  
Enquiries can be sent to housing.regulation@sholland.gov.uk or by phoning 01775 761161.  This 

information has been shared with tenants in the following ways: 

• Housing annual report  

• our website at https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord  

• included in sign-up packs for new tenants  

• included in mutual exchange paperwork 

Page 146

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord


Page 39 of 41 
 

• published in Sheltered Housing community centres and flat schemes.   

Member Responsible for Complaints (MRC)    

Individual appointed  
Portfolio Holder – Strategic and Operational Housing 

Summary of role and responsibilities  
Required as part of the statutory Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code, 1 April 2024.  
 
The MRC is responsible for ensuring that complaint handling drives service improvement for 
residents and learning and business improvement for the organisation. The role of the MRC is to 
champion a positive complaint handling culture and build effective relationships with complaints 
teams, residents, its audit and risk committees as well wider teams and the Housing Ombudsman 
Service.  
 
The MRC should seek assurances that complaints are being managed, change is happening and that 
tenants are being heard through the process.   See https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/centre-
for-learning/key-topics/mrc/  for further information about the role.  
 

Arrangements in place to provide assurance to this individual and the organisation  
The Member Responsible for Complaints is subject to regular updates on the Housing Landlord 

Service’s compliance with the Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code in the following 

ways: 

• Briefings from the Lead Officer for Housing Complaints every six weeks covering the 

following: 

o Compliments received.  

o The volume, categories and outcome of complaints/service requests. 
o Complaint handling performance including compliance with the Ombudsman’s 

orders, specifically timescales taken to respond.  
o Issues and trends arising from complaint handling. 
o Individual complaint outcomes, where necessary, including where the Ombudsman 

has made findings of severe maladministration or referrals to regulatory bodies. 
o Compensation payments awarded.  

• A copy of the annual performance report produced by the Ombudsman, where applicable.  

• A copy of the annual self-assessment against the Complaint Handling Code, for scrutiny and 
challenge. 

• Housing Landlord Services Compliance Clinic (Chair) – data on complaint handling 

performance  

• Housing Landlord Services Governance Clinic (Chair) – information on complaints including 

complaint themes, learnings and trends, tenant satisfaction (perception) data, complaint 

handling survey responses, service improvements made in response to complaints.  

• notification and updates on the outcomes of the Ombudsman’s investigations and progress 

made in complying with orders related to severe maladministration findings. 

• Housing Landlord Board – compliance with the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling 

Code.     

Page 147

https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/centre-for-learning/key-topics/mrc/
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/centre-for-learning/key-topics/mrc/


Page 40 of 41 
 

Arrangements for tenants to raise concerns with the Member Responsible for 

Complaints  
Enquiries can be sent to housingcomplaints@sholland.gov.uk or by phoning 01775 761161.  This 

information has been shared with tenants in the following ways: 

• Housing annual report  

• our website at https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord and 

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-Feedback  

• included in sign-up packs for new tenants  

• included in mutual exchange paperwork 

• published in Sheltered Housing community centres and flat schemes 

• annual complaints performance and service improvement report.   

Lead Officer for Housing Complaints    

Individual appointed  
Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead 

Summary of role and responsibilities  
Required as part of the statutory Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code, 1 April 2024. This 
person must assess any themes or trends to identify potential systemic issues, serious risks, or 
policies and procedures that require revision.  The Lead Officer is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the Comments, Compliments, Complaints & Compensation policy and the Housing 
Ombudsman Code. 
 
As part of this role, they lead on Ombudsman’s investigations and progress made in complying with 

orders related to severe maladministration findings.  They also produce the annual complaints 

performance and service improvement report including the annual self-assessment.   

The Lead Officer briefs the Member Responsible for Complaints on a 6 weekly basis, and Cabinet on 

a six monthly basis on the following: 

• Compliments received  

• The volume, categories and outcome of complaints/service requests 

• Complaint handling performance including compliance with the Ombudsman’s orders, 
specifically timescales taken to respond  

• Issues and trends arising from complaint handling 

• Individual complaint outcomes, where necessary, including where the Ombudsman has 
made findings of severe maladministration or referrals to regulatory bodies 

• Compensation payments awarded.  

• A copy of the annual performance report produced by the Ombudsman, where applicable.  

• A copy of the annual self-assessment against the Complaint Handling Code for scrutiny and 
challenge. 

Arrangements in place to provide assurance to this individual and the organisation  
The Lead Officer receives assurance regarding complaint handling in the following ways: 

• Housing Landlord Services Compliance Clinic – data on complaint handling performance  

• Housing Landlord Complaints Working Group – information on complaints including 

complaint themes, learnings and trends, tenant satisfaction (perception) data, complaint 

handling survey responses, service improvements made in response to complaints.  

Page 148

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-Feedback


Page 41 of 41 
 

• notification and updates on the outcomes of the Ombudsman’s investigations and progress 

made in complying with orders related to severe maladministration findings 

• Housing Landlord Board – compliance with the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling 

Code   

• Direct dialogue with Housing Managers on a daily basis.  

Arrangements for tenants to raise concerns with the Lead Officer for Housing 

Complaints  
Enquiries can be sent to housingcomplaints@sholland.gov.uk or by phoning 01775 761161.  This 

information has been shared with tenants in the following ways: 

• Housing annual report  

• our website at https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord and 

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-Feedback  

• included in sign-up packs for new tenants  

• included in mutual exchange paperwork 

• published in Sheltered Housing community centres and flat schemes 

• annual complaints performance and service improvement report. 

Page 149

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/about-your-landlord
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-Feedback


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 
 

Appendix 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Reasonable Adjustments Policy: 
Housing Landlord Services 

2025-2029 
 

  
  

Page 151



 

2 
 
 

Version History  
  

Version 
No.   

Release 
Date   

Reviewer  Summary of changes  

1   2/1/25 Assistant 
Director 
Housing  

First draft 

2  24/1/25 Group 

Manager for 

Information 

Governance 

and Data 

Protection 

Officer (deputy 

DPO SHDC) 
 

Retention information to be added.   
 
Addition of the following to data protection section:  

• SHDC Data Protection Policy, available at 

www.sholland.gov.uk/dataprotectionpolicy  

• SHDC Privacy Policy Statement, available at 

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/8626/Service-

privacy-notices  

SHDC Records Management Policy, available at 
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-
Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-
RecordsManagementPolicy-
January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300  

3  24/1/25 Assistant 
Director 
Housing  

• Support and guidance section added  

4  04/2/25 Capsticks Reference to Article 8 added to page 9. Equality 
Act section on page 10 expanded. 

5   10/7/2025 Transformation 
Manager  

Amendments per track changes  

6 15/7/25 Cllr Carter  • Requested a new email address for the 
service. 

• Requested that consideration given to 
exceptional life circumstances. 

• Check data on tenant census. 

• Check inclusion of practical support – more 
often seen in tenant guidance or handbooks  

7  19/7/25 Tenants  • The summary version is well-suited for 
tenants—it's factual, concise, and easy to 
understand. 

• There is a typo in the section referencing 
"9% of households"—the word "have" 
appears twice. 

• The reference to "P6 median" may be 
unclear to tenants, as it's not commonly 
understood terminology. 

• The full version is overly long and detailed for 
the average tenant. It seems more 
appropriate for internal staff use. 

Page 152

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/dataprotectionpolicy
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/8626/Service-privacy-notices
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/8626/Service-privacy-notices
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300


 

3 
 
 

• As a tenant, the full version would likely 
be ignored if delivered directly, due to its 
length and complexity. 

• Document is generally acceptable; however, 
while words on paper are nice it'd also be 
good to see, in future, practical solutions 
regarding work in council related properties 
that have a potential adverse effect on the 
mental health of residents. 

• In the accessibility yellow box on the 
summary version it says - available 
formats(audio cassette/CD) that the 
information can be provided, would adding 
an MP3/MPEG format to the list bring it more 
up to date. 

 

8 29/7/25 Internal 
departments 
and external 
groups  

The Group Manager for Organisation Development 

who is leading on the Equality, Diversity and 

Inclusion (EDI) strategy for the partnership was 

consulted and offered constructive suggestions, 

particularly around the use of inclusive, person-first 

language. This included updates such as using 

“person who has experienced” instead of “victim,” 

and terminology like “hearing impairment” or “vision 

impairment” to reflect respectful and current 

language.  

External organisations, including Active Lincolnshire 

and Age UK, were also engaged in the consultation 

to ensure the policy reflects a broad and informed 

perspective on supporting vulnerable individuals. 

Age UK provided feedback; The policy is clearly 

written and accessible, with jargon-free 

explanations of reasonable adjustments. It 

effectively reflects the support offered, including 

proactive measures like weekly officer visits, 

collaboration, and practical help for digitally 

excluded residents. 

Age friendly experts found the policy clear and 

accessible, with helpful explanations of reasonable 

adjustments. They suggested broadening the 

definition of vulnerability to include other protected 

characteristics such as sexual orientation and 

gender reassignment. They also recommended 

more person-centred language around 

communication preferences 

Page 153



 

4 
 
 

 

9 23/09/2025 Members Policy Development Panel provided a steer on the 

title to become Reasonable Adjustment Policy  

  
 

 

  

Page 154



 

5 
 
 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 6 

Background ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

Legal duties ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

The profile of our tenants .................................................................................................................... 7 

Purpose .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Defining vulnerability ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Recognising vulnerable tenants ......................................................................................................... 9 

Recording vulnerability and consent ................................................................................................. 9 

Making reasonable adjustments ...................................................................................................... 10 

When we are not able to deliver an adjustment ............................................................................ 11 

Monitoring and training ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix A - Relevant legislation and guidance ........................................................................... 11 

Appendix B – Factors in defining vulnerability ............................................................................... 14 

 

 

 
  
 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 155



 

6 
 
 

Introduction    

South Holland District Council is committed to providing high quality inclusive 
services that are accessible, equitable, and responsive to the diverse needs of all 

tenants regardless of their personal characteristics, background, or circumstances.   

Background  

South Holland District Council aligns its approach with the Regulator of Social 
Housing’s Transparency, Influence and Accountability standard, which requires 
social landlords to be open, fair and respectful in their interactions with tenants. This 
ensures that all tenants can access services, raise concerns, influence decisions, 
and hold their landlord to account.   
To meet these requirements, the Council:  

• Ensures that communication with tenants is clear, accessible, timely and 
tailored to meet the diverse needs of tenants.  

• Ensures that landlord services are accessible, and that the accessibility is 
publicised to tenants. This includes supporting tenants and prospective 
tenants to use online landlord services if required.  

• Allows tenants and prospective tenants to be supported by a representative or 
advocate in interactions about landlord services. 

 
The Housing Ombudsman’s statutory Complaint Handling Code 2024 states that 
social landlords must:  

• make it easy for tenants to complain by providing different channels through 
which they can make a complaint. Landlords must consider their duties under 
the Equality Act 2010 and anticipate the needs and reasonable adjustments of 
tenants who may need to access the complaints process.  

• in respect of facilitating a tenant to make a complaint, make reasonable 
adjustments for tenants where appropriate under the Equality Act 2010. 
Landlords must keep a record of any reasonable adjustments agreed, as well 
as a record of any disabilities a tenant has disclosed. Any agreed reasonable 
adjustments must be kept under active review.  

 
The Housing Ombudsman’s 2024 Spotlight report on attitudes, respect and rights 
made recommendations that landlords should: 

• implement a vulnerability policy, including how it is defined, who assesses, 
and what the review process is. This must be in line with The Equality Act, the 
Human Rights Act and the Care Act. 

• test the policy in practice against the 3Rs – recognise, respond and record 
vulnerabilities appropriately.  

• implement a specific reasonable adjustments policy that also 
considers exceptional life events (e.g. bereavement, sudden illness, family 
breakdowns) which may temporarily or permanently affect a tenant’s ability to 
engage with services or maintain their tenancy. 

Legal duties  

This policy is shaped by several key laws that protect tenants’ rights and promote 
fairness, safety and inclusion: 

Page 156



 

7 
 
 

• Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 outlines the obligations of landlords and 
covers matters related to health and safety standards, fire safety, and the 
suitability of rented properties for habitation.   

• Housing Act 1996 and the Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) 
(England) Order 2002 defines vulnerability for homeless households.  

• Human Rights Act 1998 gives further effect to the rights and freedoms 
guaranteed under the European Convention on Human Rights. Social 
housing providers have legal responsibilities under the Act. In human rights 
terms, “everyone must be treated with dignity and respect”.  

• Housing Act 2004 defines ‘Vulnerable group’ as “a particular group of people 
based upon age who could live in the dwelling for whom the risk of a hazard 
is greater than for most people.”  

• Equality Act 2010 brought together and expanded on separate pieces of 
legislation relating to inequalities and prohibition of discrimination where 
someone holds a protected characteristic like disability. The duty to make 
reasonable adjustments may arise both as a controller of let premises and as 
a consequence of the provision of a service. Where the Council knows or could 
be expected to know a relevant party is disabled, the Council must also comply 
with the public sector equality duty and have due regard to the aim of 
eliminating conduct prohibited by the act, advancing equality of opportunity 
and fostering good relation.  

• Care Act 2014 sets out the responsibilities of local authorities regarding 
assessing and meeting individuals’ care needs. A fundamental component of 
the Care Act is the 'suitability of accommodation' in meeting the home care 
and support needs of older and vulnerable people.  

 
Appendix A sets out the relevant legislation in further detail.   

The profile of our tenants 

In 2023, South Holland District Council carried out a tenant census to better 

understand the people we serve. The findings are summarised from the report as 

follows:  

Gender and age  

The proportion of male and female residents in homes managed by SHDC is fairly 

consistent across the district, with a ratio of males to females being 44/56 overall. 

Less than 10 individuals had a different gender identity outside of the male and 

female binary.  

Among tenants specifically, the gender balance becomes more unbalanced, with 

roughly a third of tenants being male compared to two thirds female (36%/64%). The 

gender profile is most balanced amongst older middle aged and retired tenants aged 

55-84 (41%/59%). As expected, the ratio becomes 29%/71% for tenants aged 85 or 

over. The greatest discrepancy is amongst tenants aged under 35, being 24%/76%.  

Ethnic Background  

Fewer than one in ten tenants (8%) are from a minority ethnic group. This is lower 

amongst South Holland householders in the wider population, amongst whom 13% 

Page 157



 

8 
 
 

are from a minority ethnic group background. The most common sub-category is 

Other White, which accounts for approximately 6% of all tenants. This sub-category 

includes white Europeans, with 2.5% of tenants being Polish, 1.4% Lithuanian and 

around 1% each being Portuguese or Latvian.  

When comparing the typical age of tenants across different ethnic groups, ethnic 

minority tenants are on average 15 years younger than White British tenants. 15% of 

tenants aged under 50 are from ethnic minority groups. 

Disability  

The South Holland tenant census used the same criteria for disability as the UK 

census, with respondents asked if they had a long-term physical or mental health 

condition or illness, lasting or expected to last 12 months or more, and whether it 

limited their day-to-day activities "a little", "a lot" or "not at all".  

Using the same UK census criteria, those reporting a limiting disability (either a little 

or a lot) are classified as disabled under the Equality Act (2010).  

40% of all council housing residents have a such a limiting disability. This compares 

to just 19% of the South Holland district population as whole that has a limiting 

disability. When restricting analysis to just tenants, the proportion with a limiting 

disability increases to 51%. This proportion is higher than average, as only 41% of 

tenants in social housing in England and Wales in the UK 2021 census have a 

limiting disability (household reference person). Almost two thirds of households had 

at least one member with a disability (60%). A similar proportion of sheltered tenants 

have a limiting disability (63%). In contrast, only 6% of shared owners have a 

disability.  

The most common disabilities within households are permanent mobility issues 

(40%), mental health (30%) and stamina, fatigue or breathing issues (29%). 15% of 

households have a member who is hearing impaired, and 9% that have vision 

impairment.  

Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to set out the Council’s commitment to assist our 
tenants with disabilities and those experiencing vulnerability and how the Council 
complies with its legal duties and regulatory requirements.  
 
Circumstances and needs can be very different.  This policy is intended as a general 
statement of our commitment to ensuring fair access for our tenants with disabilities 
and those experiencing vulnerability setting out the factors that we will take in to 
account when responding to requests for reasonable adjustments or enhancing the 
services we offer. These factors can include a variety of considerations, such as 
underlying characteristics, ability to act, engage and cope, and exceptional life 
events.  
 
Safeguarding concerns will be raised with relevant authorities in line with the 
Council’s Safeguarding Policy.  
 

Page 158



 

9 
 
 

This policy does not apply to the provision of aids and adaptations to our properties 
which will be set out in the Councils Aids and Adaptations policy.  

Defining vulnerability  

There are a variety of definitions of ‘vulnerability’ in law.   The Housing Ombudsman 
defines vulnerability as ‘a dynamic state which arises from a combination of a 
personal circumstances and characteristics’.   
 
This definition recognises that relevant vulnerabilities can interact with an individuals’ 
situation and therefore can change over time. Common (but not all) vulnerability 
factors are set out in Appendix B.   

Recognising vulnerable tenants  

We understand that our tenants will not always wish to disclose their vulnerabilities 
to us, but we will encourage them to be open with us by listening to their concerns 
and ensuring requests for support are not ignored.  Staff will use professional 
curiosity to recognise potential vulnerabilities as appropriate.  (This includes 
observations through any visits to the property by Council staff or those acting on the 
Council’s behalf).   

Tenants can ask us to consider a reasonable adjustment in the following ways: 

• by calling us on 01775 761161  
• by sending us a letter to Business Support – Housing, South Holland District 

Council, Priory Road, Spalding PE11 2XE 
• by email to reasonableadjustments@sholland.gov.uk (don’t forget to tell us 

your name and address).  
• by referral from a partner agency such as NHS  
• via a family member, if you have permitted them to do so. 
• Via your Housing Officer or Independent Living Officer  

The reasonable adjustment request will be acknowledged within 5 working days and 
a decision communicated with the tenant within 10 working days.  
 
Where the Council has good reason to believe a tenant may be at risk from harm, 
exploitation and neglect (including self-neglect) it will make appropriate referrals via 
its Safeguarding Policies, as required. This may include informing emergency 
services (or other relevant body) where tenants are thought to be in immediate 
danger and / or making referrals without the need to obtain prior permission. 

Recording vulnerability and consent  

We aim to understand whether a tenant may need any reasonable adjustments to 
help them access services fairly.  This includes identifying what support can be put in 
place to reduce or remove any barriers they may face.  At the start of a tenancy, we 
ask tenants to share their communication preferences and any support needs they 
may have.  However, this is not a one-off process. We will continue to review and 
update this information throughout the tenancy, and we will actively encourage 
tenants to let us know if their needs change. 

Page 159

mailto:reasonableadjustments@sholland.gov.uk


 

10 
 
 

Where third parties are providing support for tenants, we will obtain the necessary 
consent direct from the tenant (where they have the capacity to provide it). We will 
record the contact details of a nominated person who the tenant has given written 
delegated authority to speak to us on their behalf, such as a relative, carer or support 
worker, known as ‘third party authority’.  
 
Vulnerabilities and reasonable adjustments will be recorded within our Housing 
system, NEC. This will help staff to support tenants to access our services and used 
to meet the tenant’s need. Information that has no impact on the way we provide 
services will not be recorded and stored. 
 
We endeavour to keep tenant vulnerability data, including any agreed reasonable 
adjustments, up to date.  We will take steps to update all tenant records, including 
any vulnerabilities every four years, as part of our tenant census. 
 
We will meet security requirements of data protection law, including the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and UK General Data Protection Regulations 2018 where tenant 
records are updated to store information regarding vulnerabilities and reasonable 
adjustments.  This will include the right for tenants to request that changes to records 
are erased or altered, if this does not include basic details that the Council needs to 
provide its standard services.  Data will be retained and processed as per our 
privacy policy, as set out in the following corporate policies:  

• SHDC Data Protection Policy, available at 

www.sholland.gov.uk/dataprotectionpolicy  

• SHDC Privacy Policy Statement, available at 

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/8626/Service-privacy-notices  

• SHDC Records Management Policy, available at 

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-

Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-

January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300 

Making reasonable adjustments 

Landlords have a duty to make reasonable adjustments to their management of let 
premises, with the aim being, as far as possible, to remove any disadvantage faced 
by those with a protected characteristic or a vulnerability.   
 
When deciding whether an adjustment is reasonable, the Council will consider:  

• how effective it will be in preventing any disadvantage; 
• the practicality of the adjustment; and 
• the costs of making the adjustment. 

 
Examples of potential reasonable adjustments include, but are not limited to:  

• Ensuring preferred communication requirements are catered for e.g. via email, 
in large print, verbal communications only or in alternative language.  We 
reserve the right to send some communications in writing in addition to the 
preferred method where there is a legal requirement or other legitimate 
reason to do so; for example, where other attempts at contacting the tenant 
have failed.  

• Texting the tenant on arrival if they are deaf or hearing impaired.   

Page 160

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/dataprotectionpolicy
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/8626/Service-privacy-notices
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/17736/Records-Management-Policy/pdf/SHDC-Council-RecordsManagementPolicy-January2019.pdf?m=1610626366300


 

11 
 
 

• Offering to read information to a tenant with learning disability.  
• Offering to provide documents in large print or braille for tenants with vison 

impairments. 
• Leaving longer for the tenant to answer the door or phone for those with 

mobility related disabilities.  
• Booking appointments for when a carer is present.  
• Allowing additional time as part of complaint investigation and time to escalate 

between Stages (where specific needs are identified) 
• Avoiding home visits at certain times of day due to health and medical needs.    
• Avoiding home visits at certain times of day due to exceptional life events 

such as recently giving birth.   
 
When an adjustment can be provided or a change to a service itself is ‘effective, 
practical and achievable within budgetary constraints’ we will endeavour to 
implement the changes without delay. 

When we are not able to deliver an adjustment  

Adjustments that are costly, do not eliminate disadvantage or have a limited impact 
on the tenant and the situation that requires support, are unlikely to be approved. In 
the circumstances where we are unable to make an adjustment, we will work 
together with the tenant to find the most appropriate alternative solution for them. We 
will record why we could not make the requested adjustment on the tenancy record, 
within NEC Housing. 
 
The tenant has a right to appeal against any decision to not meet a request for an 
adjustment.  This will be considered by the Assistant Director-Housing within 10 
working days of the appeal having been received (any extension will be agreed with 
the tenant). The appeal can be made verbally or in writing. 

Monitoring and training  

The effectiveness of this policy will be reviewed through feedback from individuals 
via any surveys completed, complaints and from colleagues delivering services. 
Feedback from these sources, will be used to shape and steer the next review of the 
policy.    
 
All staff are required to attend mandatory Equality and Diversity and Safeguarding 
training.  The Council Offer additional tenancy support to tenants and signpost 
tenants to a range of support services as required.  To support our staff, we have a 
pool of Mental Health Champions to provide staff support and signposting. 

Appendix A - Relevant legislation and guidance  

Landlord and Tenant Act 1985  
The Act outlines the obligations of landlords, including the provision of essential 

services such as water, heating, and sanitation. It also covers matters related to 

health and safety standards, fire safety, and the suitability of rented properties for 

habitation.  

The Act safeguards certain rights for tenants, including the right to know the identity 

of their landlord, the right to a written tenancy agreement, protection against unfair 

Page 161



 

12 
 
 

eviction, and the right to live in a property that is reasonably maintained and fit for 

habitation. It also requires landlords to consult before passing on maintenance and 

improvement costs to leaseholders and assured tenants.  

Housing Act 1996 and the Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) 
(England) Order 2002  
Section 189(1)(c) of the Housing Act 1996 says that a person may be 'vulnerable' 
and have a priority need for housing as a result of:  

• old age  
• mental illness  
• mental handicap  
• physical disability 
• other special reason. 

 
Other special reasons could include someone who is vulnerable as a result of being 

victim of trafficking or modern slavery, or because they are a young person without 

support.  

The Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) (England) Order 2002 gives 
priority need to those who are vulnerable as a result of: 

• having been in care while they were 16 or 17 and is now 21 or over 
• having been in the armed forces  
• having been in custody  
• having fled actual or threatened violence.  
 

Although specific to homelessness, landlords may find it useful to see that in addition 

to more common definitions of vulnerability such as age and physical disability, there 

is also reference to domestic violence, care leavers and those who previously served 

in the armed forces. The ‘other special reason’ category also shows the need for 

consideration of individual circumstances, rather than a ‘checklist’ approach.  

Human Rights Act 1998  
The Act gives further effect to the rights and freedoms guaranteed under the 
European Convention on Human Rights. Social housing providers have legal 
responsibilities under the Act. In human rights terms, “everyone must be treated with 
dignity and respect”. Taking this approach helps broaden the view beyond the 
protected characteristics. 
 
Article 8 provides that our tenants have a right to respect for their private life, family 
life, home and correspondence (letters, telephone calls and emails, for example). 
Housing Act 2004 - Health and safety standards for rented homes  
The Act sets out requirements for assessing housing conditions and enforcing 
housing standards. The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) is a 
risk-based assessment procedure used to identify potential risks or hazards in 
homes. 
 
Considerations from the assessment include:  

• The chance of harm  
• How serious it would be 
• Any extra risk to children or older people. 

Page 162



 

13 
 
 

 
‘Vulnerable group’ is defined in the associated guidance as: “a particular group of 
people based upon age who could live in the dwelling for whom the risk of a hazard 
is greater than for most people.”  
 
Equality Act 2010  
The Act brought together and expanded on separate pieces of legislation relating to 
inequalities. Under the Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010 section 149), 
public authorities and those bodies carrying out public functions must have due 
regard to:  

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation.  
• Advance equality of opportunity.  
• Foster good relations.  

 
The Act sets out prohibitions in relation to the different types of discrimination it 
identifies, which include:  

• Age  
• Disability 
• Sex 
• Gender reassignment 
• Sexual orientation 
• Religion or belief 
• Ethnicity (race) 
• Pregnancy and maternity 
• Marriage and civil partnership.  

 
The Act identifies different types of discrimination, including:  

• Direct discrimination – treating someone with a protected characteristic less 
favourably than others where such action does not pursue the landlord’s 
legitimate aims by proportionate means. This includes:  

o Discrimination by association – occurs when someone is treated 
unfavourably on the basis of another person’s protected characteristic.  

o Discrimination by perception – occurs when someone is treated 
unfavourably because others believe they have a protected 
characteristic, even though in reality they don’t have it. It is perceptive 
discrimination.  

• Indirect discrimination – putting rules or arrangements in place that apply to 
everyone, but, as a consequence, putting someone with a protected 
characteristic at an unfair disadvantage which do not meet the landlord’s 
legitimate aims by proportionate means.  

• Failure to make reasonable adjustments for a disabled person in connection 
with the management of premises – where a person is at a substantial 
disadvantage due to their disability and the landlord to put in place requested 
reasonable adjustments to remove or reduce the disadvantage.  

• Failure to make reasonable adjustments for in the provision of services– 

where disabled persons, as a class, are put at a substantial disadvantage due 

to their disability and the landlord is under a proactive obligation to provide 

reasonable adjustments to remove or reduce the disadvantage.  

Page 163



 

14 
 
 

• Harassment – unwanted and inappropriate behaviour linked to a protected 

characteristic that violates someone’s dignity or creates an offensive 

environment for them.  

• Victimisation – treating someone unfairly because they’ve complained about 

discrimination or harassment.  

The Care Act 2014  
The Care Act sets out the responsibilities of local authorities with an adult social care 
function regarding assessing and meeting individuals’ care needs.  A fundamental 
component of the Care Act is the 'suitability of accommodation' in meeting the home 
care and support needs of older and vulnerable people. The Act is clear that the 
provision of suitable accommodation can be a fundamental part of the care and 
support given to vulnerable adults.  Safeguarding adults comes under this legislation. 

Appendix B – Factors in defining vulnerability  

The categories below do not list every possible factor as the full range of those who 
could be regarded as vulnerable at any point in time is wide, but these are the more 
common factors to take into consideration when considering a tenant’s state of 
vulnerability.  
 
Factor 1 Underlying characteristic 
People in these groups may not always require additional support just because of 
this characteristic.  

• Older people (particularly those 75 years or older)  
• 16 – 21 year olds 
• Disabled people/Families with disabled people  
• Care leavers 
• Lone parents under 21 years old  
• Refugees, asylum seekers or those with insecure immigration status  
• Unpaid Carers 
• Ex service personnel  
• Those living with a life limiting conditions. 
 

Factor 2 Ability to act, engage and cope  
People may require support because of having one or more of these factors.  

• Learning disability 
• Mental illness 
• Autism Spectrum condition or other neurodivergency condition 
• Mobility-related disability or frailty  
• Chronic, debilitating health conditions  
• Substance Use Disorder 
• Limited level of literacy  
• Limited English skills 
• Age related conditions that impact on independent living.  

 
Factor 3 Exceptional life event 
People may have recently experienced an exceptional or traumatic event that may 
make them vulnerable at this point in time.  

• Recent history of street homelessness.  

Page 164



 

15 
 
 

• Recently moved from supported accommodation to independent living. 
• Bereavement following the death of a partner, child or other close relationship.  
• Recently left care / looked after accommodation.  
• Person who has experienced sexual or racist abuse or serious harassment or 
other hate crime.  
• Recent experience of domestic abuse or violence.  
• Living in, or recently left a refuge or homeless hostel.  
• Recently discharged from hospital or other institutional care.  
• Periods of sustained physical or mental illness at home.  
• Multiple debts and unable to meet basic needs e.g. fuel or food poverty.  
• Pregnancy or recently given birth.  
• Recently released from prison after a custodial sentence.  
• Families with children excluded from school. 
• Ex-service personnel returning from an area of conflict. 

 
Note: Vulnerability may also arise from other protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act 2010, including sexual orientation, gender reassignment, religion or 
belief, and others. These characteristics may intersect with the factors listed above 
and should be considered in context. 

*ends* 

 

 

 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 3 

 

 

 
 

SHDC Housing Landlord Services 

Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 

2025 - 2028 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Access for All Statement: 
We can provide this information in other languages and formats including large  
print, Braille, audio recording. Please contact us to request this:  

Email: info@sholland.gov.uk  
Phone: 01775 761161 
Visiting our Council offices, Priory Road, Spalding, PE11 2XE 

 

Page 167

mailto:info@sholland.gov.uk


2 | P a g e 

 

 

Contents 

1. Background ............................................................................................................. 3 

2. Scope ...................................................................................................................... 3 

3. Legal Context .......................................................................................................... 3 

4. Working with others ................................................................................................. 5 

5. Minor Adaptations .................................................................................................... 5 

6. Major Adaptations .................................................................................................... 6 

7. Significant Adaptations ............................................................................................ 6 

8. Funding Adaptations ............................................................................................... 7 

9. How to request an adaptation .................................................................................. 8 

10. The Application and Assessment Process .............................................................. 9 

11. Means testing ........................................................................................................ 10 

12. Timescales ............................................................................................................ 12 

13. Servicing and annual maintenance charges .......................................................... 13 

14. General Principles ................................................................................................. 14 

15. Special Limitations ................................................................................................. 16 

16. Refusal of Adaptations ........................................................................................... 16 

17. Appeals ................................................................................................................. 19 

18. Complaints ............................................................................................................ 19 

19. Monitoring Performance ........................................................................................ 20 

20. Data Protection ...................................................................................................... 20 

21. Reviewing this Policy ............................................................................................. 20 

APPENDIX 1 - Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 .................... 21 

APPENDIX 2 – Panel Governance ................................................................................. 22 

Page 168



3 | P a g e 

 

 

 

1. Background 

 

1.1. The purpose of a disabled adaptation is to alter an existing home in order to 

support or restore independent living, safety, privacy, confidence, and dignity 

for individuals and their families. 

1.2. This policy sets out the council’s approach to disabled aids and adaptations 

in council owned homes. 

1.3. This policy was developed following extensive consultation with tenants of 

South Holland District Council to ensure their views were heard and 

reflected in the decision-making process. Elected members were also 

consulted as were professional bodies and partner organisations.  

1.4. The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy for Council Tenants aligns with 

the approach used in the private sector under the Disabled Facilities Grant. 

This approach coincides with the expectation from government that support 

should be consistent across all tenures. 

2. Scope 

2.1. This policy only applies to tenants of South Holland District Council and 

members of their household who are reasonably expected to reside at the 

property.  

2.2. This policy does not apply to council owned companies such as Welland 

Homes or, those living in a council shared ownership/leasehold property. 

Occupiers of such premises would apply in line with private sector support 

such as the Disabled Facilities Grant. 

3. Legal Context 

3.1. There is a range of legislation relating to the necessity for and delivery of aids 

and adaptations, the mains ones being: 

• Equality Act 2010 

Page 169

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/26495/Disabled-Facilities-Grants-DFGs
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance


4 | P a g e 

 

 

• The Housing Act 1985 

• Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

• The Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer standards and Code of practice. 

3.2. Under the Equality act 2010, Social landlords are not legally required to 

have to take a step which would involve the removal or alteration of a 

physical feature in respect of a council property, or currently, communal 

areas shared by council properties. The council does however have a duty 

to provide auxiliary aids where it would remove a substantial disadvantage 

compared to persons who are not disabled.  

3.3. While the above outlines the minimum legal requirements, the council’s 

main objective is to support tenants in living more independently and feeling 

safe in their homes. As such, the council provides services that go beyond 

the statutory minimum requirements.  

3.4. The Council as a landlord of residential properties needs to consider the 

housing conditions and housing needs of the district (S8 Housing Act 

1985). 

3.5. To ensure compliance with the statutory duties set out within the Housing 

Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, the council, in consultation 

with Social Care, will: 

a. Determine whether the works are necessary and appropriate to meet the 

needs of the disabled occupant, and 

b. Determine whether the works are reasonable and practicable. 

 

3.6. The purposes for which adaptations will be considered are contained within 

the above Act and set out at Appendix 1 to this policy. 

 

 

 

Page 170

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/68/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/regulatory-standards-for-landlords
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consumer-standards-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/53/contents


5 | P a g e 

 

 

4. Working with others 

4.1. As set out within Section 24 of the Housing Grants, Construction and 

Regeneration Act 1996, housing authorities who are not themselves a social 

services authority shall consult with the relevant social services authority to 

assess whether works are necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of 

the disabled occupant.  

4.2. Therefore, assessments for Minor, Major and Significant works will be 

carried out by Lincolnshire County Council Social Care and a referral 

submitted to the council to continue with the process and carry out works.  

Note: Within this document any reference to Social Care means the 

Lincolnshire County Council Occupational Therapy Service. 

4.3. Within the council’s Housing Landlord service, there are also Trusted 

Assessors who much like Social Care, can undertake assessment but only 

for certain types of works and circumstances. The council’s Trusted 

Assessors are qualified to undertake the assessment and are OCNLR Level 

4 trained in assessing and adapting the home. 

4.4. The council will also work with hospital discharge teams to try to ensure that 

homes are suitability adapted enabling tenants to return home safely and 

live independently.  

5.  Minor Adaptations 

5.1. Minor adaptations are works costing up to £1,000. Minor works can 

be referred by Social Care, the council’s Trusted Assessors or, a 

self-referral from tenants. These include: 

• Lever taps 

• Grab rails 

• Handrails 

• Half Steps 

Page 171



6 | P a g e 

 

 

5.2. For Sheltered Housing tenants, some Minor adaptations such as grab rails, 

will be delivered by the council’s handy person service with other works 

delivered by the council’s Aids and Adaptations contractor. For general 

needs tenants, the council’s Aids and Adaptations contractor will carry out all 

Minor works.   

6. Major Adaptations 

6.1. Adaptations costing more than £1,000 and up to £30,000 which also 

require assessment from Social Care or the council’s Trusted Assessors. 

Examples of major adaptations include: 

• Level access showers 

• Ramps 

• Stairlifts 

• Door widening 

• The need for several Minor adaptations exceeding £1,000.  

6.2. These adaptations will be carried out by the council’s Aids and Adaptations 

contractor unless works are more specialised, such as for stairlifts.  

7. Significant Adaptations 

7.1. Adaptations costing more than £30,000 and up to £45,000, supported by an 

assessment by Social Care and resulting in significant changes to the 

property which often require additional permission such as planning and 

building control. Examples of Significant Adaptations are: 

• Extensions 

• Conversions  

• The need for more than one type of major adaptation exceeding £30,000. 

 

Page 172



7 | P a g e 

 

 

7.2. These adaptations will be carried out by the Council’s Aids and Adaptations  

contractor. 

7.3. Where Significant adaptations are being considered, the tenant will be 

informed, in writing, of the impact that this may have on any future Right to 

Buy (RTB) application, mutual exchange or security of tenure. 

• RTB ground for refusal: where the property has features which are 

substantially different from those of an ordinary dwelling and designed 

to make it suitable for occupation by physically disabled persons, the 

RTB can be refused under Schedule 5 of the Housing Act 1985  

• Mutual Exchange ground for refusal: where the property has been 

substantially adapted for occupation by a physically disabled person and if 

the assignment went ahead a physically disabled person would not be 

living there – mutual exchange can be refused under Ground 7 of the 

Housing Act 1985 and Ground 11 of the Localism Act 2011 

• Security of tenure ground for possession: where a property is specially 

adapted for the disabled and there is no longer a disabled person living 

there and the property is needed for someone who is disabled, the 

council can seek to repossess the property under Ground 13 of the 

Housing Act 1985 but the council is obliged to offer tenant suitable 

alternative accommodation.  

Note: The council can consider support over the £45,000 maximum threshold but 

only in extenuating circumstances. Further information under section 8 of this 

policy.  

8. Funding Adaptations 

8.1. Although the government expects local authorities to align support under the 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) across all housing tenures, Local authorities 

are not permitted to use their DFG budget to fund adaptations in council-

owned properties. 

 

Page 173



8 | P a g e 

 

 

8.2. The budget for all adaptations (Minor, Major and Significant) comes from the 

Housing Revenue Account (a ringfenced budget that can only be spent on 

council housing).  

8.3. Funding aids and adaptations are separated into the following thresholds: 

• Up to £30,000 

• Up to an additional £15,000 in discretionary funding 

• Funding over £45,000 in extenuating circumstances 

8.4. Where a request would exceed £45,000 or, where the Housing projects surveyor  

deems the case to be complex, request for adaptations will be considered via a  

dedicated panel. Details of the panel can be found in Appendix 2. 

9. How to request an adaptation 

9.1. Tenants wishing to request a Minor adaptation should contact the council in 

the first instance. A Trusted Assessor will then determine if they can 

undertake the assessment or whether it needs to be referred to Social Care. 

For Major and Significant adaptation, tenants should contact Social Care 

direct. An Occupational Therapist from Lincolnshire County Council will then 

arrange to visit you at your home to undertake an assessment which will 

then be sent to South Holland District Council.   

Minor Aids and Adaptations: 

South Holland District Council Adaptations Team 

Tel: 01775 761161 

Email: adaptations@sholland.gov.uk  

Major/Significant Adaptations: 

Social Care – Lincolnshire County Council 

For adult aids and adaptations contact Adult Social Care. 

Page 174

mailto:adaptations@sholland.gov.uk


9 | P a g e 

 

 

Tel: 01522 782155 

Email: csc_socialcare@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

For child aids and adaptations contact Children with Disabilities. 

Tel: 01522 782111 

Website: https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/social-care-3/children-disabilities-occupational-

therapy-team-1/2 

10. The Application and Assessment Process 

10.1. The first step in the process is for Social Care or a Trusted Assessor to 

assess needs, personal circumstances, and home environment to determine 

what adaptations or support may be required.  

10.2. For Minor adaptations, once the council is in receipt of the referral from 

social care, works will be instructed in accordance with point 5.2 of this 

policy.  

10.3. For Major and Significant works, once a referral is received from Social 

Care, the council will carry out an initial feasibility assessment to decide 

whether the case can proceed. In this assessment the council will take into 

account all relevant circumstances, including but not limited to: 

• Checking that the household size is appropriate for the property. 

• Checking whether the council has alternative properties within its 

housing portfolio that will meet the applicant’s household’s needs. 

• Confirming there are no active applications on the housing register. 

• Verifying whether a Right to Buy application has been submitted, and if 

so, its status. 

• Ensuring that the rent account is balanced (balance of £0) or that a 

repayment plan is in place. 

• Checking that there are no relevant possession orders (including 

Page 175

mailto:csc_socialcare@lincolnshire.gov.uk
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/social-care-3/children-disabilities-occupational-therapy-team-1/2
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/social-care-3/children-disabilities-occupational-therapy-team-1/2


10 | P a g e 

 

 

suspended) in place.  

• Confirming that the person requiring the adaptation lives at the property 

on a permanent basis. 

• Assessing whether the proposed adaptation is reasonable and 

practicable, taking into account the benefits of works, the cost of the 

works, the location, construction type, layout, age and condition of the 

property. This may involve a surveyor visiting the tenant at home. 

• Assessing whether the works would adversely affect the safety and 

amenity of the local area.  

• Checking the referral against the terms set out within this policy.  

10.4. Following a successful initial feasibility assessment, an application form will 

be issued to the tenant. This form will gather the necessary information and 

request evidence to carry out a financial assessment (commonly referred to 

as means testing). Means testing will only apply in certain circumstances. 

Further details about the means testing process can be found in section 11 

of this policy. 

10.5. Once the completed application form has been returned, along with any 

required supporting evidence, and all necessary checks and assessments 

have been carried out, works will be instructed. These will be assigned to 

either our Aids and Adaptations contractor or to a specialist contractor for 

specific installations, such as stairlifts. 

Note: Where the outcome of the means test requires the tenant to contribute towards 

the cost of the works, this contribution must be paid to the council in full before any 

works can be instructed. 

11. Means testing 

11.1. Means testing is a financial assessment to determine the amount, if any, a 

person must contribute towards the cost of adaptations. 

11.2. Where the disabled applicant is in receipt of certain income related benefits, 

they will be exempt from means testing and therefore, are not required to 

Page 176



11 | P a g e 

 

 

make a financial contribution towards works. These benefits include: 

• Universal Credit 

• Guarantee Pension Credit 

• Income Support 

• Housing Benefit 

• Income related Employment and Support Allowance (not contribution-

based ESA) 

• Income based Jobseeker’s Allowance (not contribution-based JSA) 

• Working Tax Credit and/or Child Tax Credit (where your annual income 

for the purposes of the tax credit assessment is below £15,050) 

11.3. Where the disabled applicant is ex-service personnel, they may also be 

exempt. In order for ex-service personnel to be exempt, they must be in 

receipt of any of the following: 

• War Pensions Scheme for disablement of 80% or higher and a Constant 

Attendance Allowance.  

• Capital lump sum through the Armed Forces Compensation Scheme. 

• Guaranteed Income Payment (tariff level 106) 

11.4. Where the disabled applicant is a child or young person under the age of 19, 

they are exempt from means testing up to a threshold of £30,000. If the cost 

of the required works exceeds £30,000, the income and capital of the child 

or young person’s parents or guardians will be taken into account and 

subject to means testing. 

11.5. Where the above exemptions do not apply, applicants will be means tested 

and required to provide information and supporting evidence relating to their 

income and capital as part of the application process. 

11.6. The means testing process is undertaken by the council’s Disabled Facilities 

Page 177



12 | P a g e 

 

 

Grant team and once the assessment has been completed, they will notify 

the customer of the outcome and if applicable, the amount the customer will 

need to contribute towards the cost of works.  

11.7. Where tenants are assessed as being at or near the threshold of financial 

affordability, or circumstances have changed impacting their affordability, 

they can be referred to the Tenant Hardship Fund or other appropriate 

support services available.  

12. Timescales 

12.1. The timescales for receiving a referral from Social Care are outside the council’s 

control. Where the assessment is to be carried out by one of the council’s Trusted 

Assessors, an appointment will be arranged within 10 working days of receiving 

the request. 

12.2. Referrals are prioritised based on need and urgency. As part of the 

assessment process, Social Care and Trusted Assessors will determine the 

priority level of each case. The level of priority will inform the order in which 

cases are progressed. 

12.3. Minor Adaptations – Once in receipt of the referral from Social Care or, a 

Trusted Assessor, works will usually be completed within 30 working days.  

12.4. The council will write to tenants within 5 working days of receiving the 

referral to confirm receipt and outline the next steps. 

12.5. Major Adaptations – Once a referral has been received from Social Care or 

a Trusted Assessor, the application form has been returned and assessed, 

and the means testing process (where applicable) has been completed, works 

will be carried out usually within 6 months.  

12.6. Significant Adaptations – Once a referral has been received from Social 

Care, the application form has been returned and assessed, and the means 

testing process (where applicable) has been completed, we aim to start work 

within 6 months. 

12.7. There are exceptions to this: 

• when planning permission is required. 

Page 178



13 | P a g e 

 

 

• when specialist equipment or contractors are required, and they have a 

long lead time. 

• Where cases of a higher priority need to be delivered first.  

12.8. In these cases, no absolute timescales are set, but we aim to start work 

within 6 months from the date planning permission is granted, or when 

the specialist contractors have been secured. We will ensure the 

customer is kept informed of progress and start dates. 

Note: The above targets will not apply if a date has been moved at the request of the 

tenant to start later. In these cases, we will work with the tenant to agree timescales. 

Once contractors make a start on site, customers must provide daily access until the 

work is completed. 

12.9. The means testing assessment will be completed within five working 

days for high priority cases and within seven working days for standard 

priority cases. This timescale applies only where the applicant has 

submitted a fully completed application form along with all required 

information and supporting evidence. If any information or evidence is 

missing, the case will not progress until all outstanding items have been 

provided. 

13. Servicing and annual maintenance charges 
 
13.1. Any adaptations ordered after the implementation date of this policy which  

require regular servicing resulting in ongoing maintenance costs will be subject to  

a weekly service charge to the tenant. This will cover replacements for existing  

tenants.   

 
13.2. The cost will appear as a weekly service charge on the tenants rent account. 

If the tenant is in receipt of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit, the charge may be 

covered in part or in full in accordance with the Housing Benefits or Universal Credit 

regulations as they apply. 

 

 

 

Page 179



14 | P a g e 

 

 

14. General Principles 
 

14.1. If equipment is damaged by the tenant, their household or a visitor, beyond 

normal wear and tear, if the council repairs the equipment, the council will 

charge the tenant for repairs, for example where a stair lift has been 

misused by moving heavy goods. 

14.2. Any adaptation that is specified by Social Care will be fitted in line with that 

specification unless variations have been agreed. For example, a particular 

type of handrail may be specified, and this will be the only type fitted. 

14.3. The Council will not carry out work that is more extensive than the work 

proposed by Social Care or a Trusted Assessor.  

14.4. If a tenant wishes to carry out other work to their home, they will need prior 

permission from the council to do so, and the cost of such works will not be 

paid by the council. For example, the council will not provide storage for a 

mobility scooter as an adaptation but would consider a request from a tenant 

who wanted to provide their own storage. Each case would be considered on 

its own merits and in accordance with the council’s Tenancy Management 

policy. Works carried out by tenants must comply with the Repairs and 

Fitness for Habitation Policy, ensuring they meet all relevant standards and 

current Building Regulations.  

14.5. When considering requests for Major or Significant adaptations, the council, 

working in consultation with Social Care, will assess whether the proposed 

adaptations are necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled 

occupant. The Council will also determine whether the adaptations are 

reasonable and practicable, taking into account the age and condition of the 

property.  

14.6. Where it is identified that moving to alternative accommodation is the most 

appropriate option and suitable alternative properties exist within the 

council’s housing database, the tenant will be advised to join the Housing 

Register where their case will be banded as urgent priority. The Council will 

offer financial support to help cover the costs of moving, such as removal 

Page 180

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies


15 | P a g e 

 

 

costs, re-laying of carpets etc. Support will be offered on a case by case 

basis depending on the needs and circumstances of the tenant.  

If the council is unable to make an offer of suitable alternative 

accommodation by the Housing Register within 6 months, the council will 

reconsider adapting the tenant’s current property.  

14.7. Similarly, if a tenant agrees to leave a property that has Major or Significant 

adaptation, as they no longer require the adaptation, they will be banded as 

high priority on the Housing register as per the councils Allocation policy.  

14.8. Where members of the household (not the disabled applicant) are not 

reasonably expected to reside at the address and there are properties that 

are suitable for the disabled applicant within the council’s housing database, 

the most appropriate option may be to divide the household to enable the 

disabled applicant to move into suitable accommodation. For example, 

where members of the household (not the disabled applicant) are adults with 

no need or requirements to reside at the address and, by dividing the 

household, the disabled applicant could move to more suitable 

accommodation.  

14.9. Consideration will only be given to providing additional sleeping and/or 

bathing accommodation by way of an extension to the existing dwelling 

where the council is unable to offer alternative suitable accommodation in 

accordance with point 14.6.   

 
14.10.  If an application is made for adaptations for a child with disabilities, 

adaptation works will only be completed at the property of principal 

residence. An assessment will be made by the council in line with the 

Council’s Allocation policy as to the principal residence. 

 
14.11. If Significant adaptations add an additional bedroom, it is likely that the 

weekly rent will increase. The council will arrange to have the property re-

valued to determine the increase in rent once works are completed.  

 

14.12. Major and Significant adaptations will not usually be removed at the end of 

Page 181

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies


16 | P a g e 

 

 

a tenancy providing they are in good condition. When re-letting these 

properties, the council will match applicants who have a need for adaptations 

to accessible properties. A specialist such as an Occupational Therapist may 

be consulted on the suitability of the property. 

 

15. Special Limitations 

 

15.1. The council will not provide adaptations to facilitate the use of mobility 

scooters (including access ramps), nor provide storage or charging facilities 

for scooters, as this sits outside of the purposes specified within the Housing 

Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (see Appendix 1). Tenants 

who are considering purchasing scooters should be aware that they will be 

responsible for the safe storage of the scooters, and that not all properties 

are suitable for storage of scooters. Mobility scooters present a fire hazard 

and as such any inappropriately stored scooters will ultimately be removed. 

Due to fire safety regulations, under no circumstances will the council allow 

mobility scooters to be stored or charged in communal areas. Should a 

tenant wish to undertake their own alterations they will need to seek prior 

written permission from the council.  

15.2. The council is not required to undertake aids or adaptations to common parts 

as this currently falls outside of the council’s duties under the Equality Act 

2010.  

15.3. We are unable to commit to adaptations that depend on external 

permissions, such as planning consent for structural changes or 

extensions to the property. However, the council will support the tenant in 

submitting the necessary applications, which must be approved before any 

commitment to the works can be made. 

 

16. Refusal of Adaptations 
 
16.1. The purpose of a disabled adaptation is to support or restore independent 

living, safety, privacy, confidence, and dignity for individuals and their 

families. 

Page 182



17 | P a g e 

 

 

16.2. There are some circumstances where a Major or Significant Adaptation will 

be refused. The list below includes some examples of where a Major or 

Significant Adaptation may be refused, but each request will be considered 

on its merits, which may include asking Social Care to consider alternative 

proposals. 

 

• Where a tenant or their family is deemed to be under occupying by two or 

more bedrooms, or by one bedroom where there is no requirement for a 

spare bedroom for a live in carer or storage of equipment and, where 

suitable alternative accommodation is likely to become available within 6 

months. 

• Where a tenant or their family are overcrowding and there is every likelihood 

that they would be rehoused in a suitable alternative property within 6 months. 

• Where the adaptation is unreasonable and not practicable (for example, 

structural alterations which are not possible due to the location, 

construction type, layout, condition or age of the property). 

• Where the adaptation would have a negative impact on the adjoining 

building or occupiers.  

• Where the disabled applicant’s needs can be met through an amendment 

of the original proposal/recommendation, such as using a ground floor 

second reception room as a bedroom. 

• Where the adaptation would require alteration to common areas, and this 

would have fire, health and safety implications or it would impact upon the use 

of the common area by other residents. 

• Where there is suitable alternative adapted, or part adapted accommodation 

or where it is considered likely that a suitable property will become available 

within 6 months. 

• Where moving to a more suitable property is assessed as the most 

appropriate option and the tenant refuses to move or, rejects the properties 

offered in accordance with the Allocations Policy.  

• Where an adaptation would adversely affect the council's ability to re-let the 

property in the future. 

• Where the residents’ requirements are such that further adaptations will be 

required within 12 months and during that time it is considered likely that 

Page 183



18 | P a g e 

 

 

alternative suitable accommodation will be available within 6 months. 

• Where the resident has previously moved from a suitable council property 

(through their own choice or a mutual exchange) that had previously been 

adapted for their needs and is requesting similar adaptations in another 

council property. 

• Where the resident moves to a council property (through an allocation or 

exchange) when the property is not suitable for their needs, and the tenant 

has knowingly not made us aware of their needs during the allocation or 

exchange process. 

• Where an application is made for adaptations for a child with disabilities, but 

the property is not the child’s principal residence.  

• Where the property is used for temporary housing and the tenant requires 

Major/Significant adaptations. 

• Where the council intends to dispose of the property or the property 

forms part of a redevelopment proposal. 

• Where the council is taking legal action to end the tenancy including a notice 

of seeking possession and issuing possession proceedings.  

• Where the tenant has a ‘live’ Right to Buy application. 

• Where the tenant has an active application on the housing register. 

• Where the tenant has rent arrears and refuses to agree to a repayment plan. 

• Where the council reasonably believes that the person requiring the adaptations does not 

reside at the property as their only or principal home.   

• Where the resident refuses to pay their contribution towards the works as identified  

through the means testing assessment.  

 

16.3. Where a request for an adaptation is refused because of pursuing more 

suitable accommodation, the council will provide support to assist tenants. 

The types of support available are listed below and will be determined on a 

case-by-case basis. 

 

• Help tenants understand what other suitable properties are available and how 

they meet their needs. 

• Financial assistance to ease the burden of relocating or adapting to a new 

home. 

Page 184



19 | P a g e 

 

 

• Connect to organisations that can offer additional support, such as moving 

assistance, financial advice, or wellbeing services. 

• Arrange/fund professional removal service to help tenants move into more 

suitable accommodation with minimal stress and disruption. 

• Support with updating key services such as banks, GPs, schools and utility 

providers. 

• Dedicated staff member to guide through the moving process and    

coordinate support. 

 

17. Appeals 
 

17.1. Should a tenant wish to appeal the decision made with regards to the 

outcome of their request for aids or adaptations, they should email 

adaptations@sholland.gov.uk or write to the Housing Landlord Services 

Disabled Aids and Adaptations team at South Holland District Council, 

Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE. 

 

17.2. Once the appeal is logged, it will be considered by the dedicated appeals 

panel which includes impartial tenants. Details of the panel can be found in 

Appendix 2.  

 

18. Complaints 
 

18.1. If a tenant is not happy with any aspect relating to how their adaptation has 

been handled , they should follow the Council’s Comments, Compliments, 

Complaints and Compensation Policy.  

 
18.2. Any complaint can be reported online, or by using any of the following 

methods: 

 Post by writing to Housing Feedback, South Holland District Council, 

Council Offices, Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE.  

 Over the telephone by calling 01775 761161  

 
 
 
 

Page 185

mailto:adaptations@sholland.gov.uk
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-policies
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/comments_complimentsandcomplaints


20 | P a g e 

 

 

19. Monitoring Performance 

 
19.1. Delivery of aids and adaptations will be reported on a monthly basis via 

Compliance Clinic and quarterly via Performance Monitoring Panel. Delivery 

timescales and customer satisfaction will be monitored using the Operational 

Performance Indicators detailed below: 

 
 

Performance Measure 

Minor adaptations – Percentage of Minor aids and adaptations completed within 
timescale (30 working days) 
Major adaptations – Percentage of Major adaptations completed within timescale (6 
months 182 days)  
Significant adaptations – Percentage of works commenced within timescale (6 
months 182 days) 
Customer satisfaction with the aids and adaptations service 

 
 
 

20. Data Protection 

 
20.1. Personal information collected as part of an aids and adaptation request will 

be used and stored in accordance with the SHDC Disabled Aids and 

Adaptations Privacy Notice, which can be found here. 

 

 

21. Reviewing this Policy 

 

21.1. This policy will be reviewed no later than 3 years after the date of publication 

and may be reviewed earlier. Minor operational and legislative amendments, 

including the financial thresholds that differentiate types of adaptation, may 

be actioned by the Assistant Director for Housing in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing, without a formal review 

of the policy. (Note: The Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing 

is the Councillor who is responsible for Housing and is a member of Cabinet 

and has been given delegated authority to approve minor amendments).

Page 186

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/8626/Service-privacy-notices


21 | P a g e 

 

 

 
APPENDIX 1 - Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

 
Section 23 - Disabled facilities grants: purposes for which grant must or may 

be given. 
 

 

a) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to and from the dwelling, or the 
building in which the dwelling or, as the case may be, flat is situated; 

b) making the dwelling, or the building, safe for the disabled occupant and 
other persons residing with him; 

c) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to a room used or usable as the 
principal family room; 

d) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled 
occupant, a room used or usable for sleeping; 

e) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled 
occupant, a room in which there is a lavatory, or facilitating the use by the 
disabled occupant of such a facility; 

f) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled 
occupant, a room in which there is a bath or shower (or both), or facilitating 
the use by the disabled occupant of such a facility; 

g) facilitating access by the disabled occupant to, or providing for the disabled 
occupant, a room in which there is a wash hand basin, or facilitating the use 
by the disabled occupant of such a facility; 

h) facilitating the preparation and cooking of food by the disabled occupant; 

i) improving any heating system in the dwelling to meet the needs of the 
disabled occupant or, if there is no existing heating system or any such 
system is unsuitable for use by the disabled occupant, providing a heating 
system suitable to meet his needs; 

j) facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of a source of power, light or 
heat by altering the position of one or more means of access to or control of 
that source or by providing additional means of control; 

k) facilitating access and movement by the disabled occupant around the 
dwelling in order to enable him to care for a person who is normally 
resident there and is in need of such care; 

l) such other purposes as may be specified by order of the Secretary of State. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 187



22 | P a g e 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 – Panel Governance 
 
There are two panels that form part of the Housing Landlord, Disabled Adaptations service.  
 
Panel for complex and/or higher value cases 
 
Purpose: Cases considered complex by the Housing Project Surveyor or, where the cost 
of works exceeds the £45,000 upper limit, will be referred to the panel for review. During 
the meeting, the officer who holds delegated authority to approve or decline requests for 
adaptations shall consult the panel and consider the panel’s feedback as part of their 
decision making. Decisions will be in line with this policy.  
 
Members: Head of Housing Investment and Development (HRA), Housing Projects 
Surveyor, Property Surveyor for adaptations, Senior Housing Officer and a member of 
the Lincolnshire County Council occupational therapy team. A minimum of 3 members 
must be present.  
 
Frequency of meetings: The panel will meet monthly.  
 
If a case is referred to the panel, the Housing Projects Surveyor will write to the tenant to 
confirm the reason for the referral and the date on which the panel will meet to consider 
their case. Once the panel has met and the officer who holds delegated authority has 
made their decision, the tenant will be notified of the decision within 10 working days.  
 
Panel for appeals 
 
Purpose: During the meeting, the officer who holds delegated authority to determine 
whether an appeal should be upheld or rejected shall consult the panel and consider the 
panel’s feedback as part of their decision making. Decisions will be in line with this policy.  
 
Members: Assistant Director Housing, Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 
Housing, Service Co-Ordinator (independent living), partner landlords and impartial 
tenants. A minimum of 3 members must be present.  
 
Frequency of meetings: The panel will meet to review the appeals request within 28 days 
of it being received. Once the panel has met and the officer who holds delegated 
authority has made their decision, the tenant will be notified of the decision within 10 
working days.  
 
All requests for an appeal must be:  

• in writing, addressed to the Housing Landlord Services Disabled Aids and 

Adaptations team at South Holland District Council, Council Offices, Priory Road, 

Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE or email adaptations@sholland.gov.uk   

• received within 21 days from the date of the decision letter, from the  

applicant(s) or their representative, clearly stating the grounds on which the  

review is being sought and providing any supporting evidence. Verbal  

representation will be allowed in exceptional circumstances. 

Page 188

mailto:adaptations@sholland.gov.uk


Appendix 4 

 
 

Report To: Policy Development Panel 
 
Date: Tuesday, 23 September 2025 
 
Subject: Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy: Housing Landlord 

Service 
 
Purpose: To consider the adoption of the Housing Landlord Services, 

Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025 - 2028 
 
Key Decision: N/A  
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing 
 
Report Of: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director - Housing 
 
Report Author: Louis Humphreys, Housing Transformation Officer (HRA) 
 
Ward(s) Affected: All 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

 
Summary 
 
The Housing Landlord Service Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–2028 
outlines the council’s strategic approach to providing disabled aids and adaptations for 
council tenants. Its aim is to support or restore independent living, safety, privacy, 
confidence, and dignity for individuals and their families.  
 
The policy details the support available to tenants’ requiring adaptations, the process 
involved, and the circumstances under which requests may be declined. It also sets out 
how the policy aligns with relevant legislation, regulations, and government 
expectations.  
 
Members are invited to consider the adoption of the Housing Landlord Services Disabled 
Aids and Adaptations Policy 2025–2028. There will be opportunity for the Policy 
Development Panel to provide their feedback and recommendations to Cabinet. 

 

 
Recommendations 
 

Page 189



Appendix 4 

1. That the Policy Development Panel endorses the recommendation to Cabinet to 
adopt the Housing Landlord Services Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy 
2025–2028. 

 
2. That the Policy Development Panel supports the recommendation to Cabinet to 

delegate minor operational and legislative amendments to the Assistant Director 
for Housing in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational 
Housing. 
 

3. That the Policy Development Panel supports the continued delegation to the 
Assistant Director for Housing to undertake all operational and managerial 
decisions related to the HRA disabled aids and adaptations policy including 
determining requests for aids and adaptations. 
 
 

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
As a social landlord, the council has a statutory duty to provide a disabled aids and 
adaptations service for its tenants, ensuring that it complies with all relevant legislation 
and meets the standards set by the Regulator of Social Housing. This includes the 
Safety and Quality Standard, the Transparency, Influence and Accountability Standard, 
and the associated Code of Practice. 
 
In addition, the council recognises that the current aids and adaptations service requires 
modernisation. A review and redesign are required to improve both the council’s ability 
to deliver the service effectively and the experience of tenants who rely on it. 
 

 

 
Other Options Considered 
 
To take no action by choosing not to implement the policy. This approach would carry 
significant risks, not only for the council but, more importantly, for the quality and 
consistency of service provided to tenants.  
 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 Following tenant feedback, the council’s disabled aids and adaptations service has 

been identified as a key priority within the council’s Housing Transformation 
Programme. 

 
1.2 The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Transformation Project was established to 

address four key priorities: 

• To implement recommendations from the Housing Ombudsman Service, including 
the development of an aids and adaptations policy in collaboration with tenants 
and partner organisations. 

• To ensure the service reflects the council’s statutory obligations under relevant 
legislation, including the Equality Act 2010. 

Page 190



Appendix 4 

• To demonstrate the council’s commitment to supporting vulnerable households to 
live independently in suitable accommodation. 

• To reduce the time taken to deliver adaptations, while maintaining probity and 
ensuring value for money. 

 
1.3 Between January and May 2025, extensive work was carried out to explore the 

potential options for delivering the disabled aids and adaptations service. This 
included reviewing the council’s legal obligations, benchmarking against 
comparable local authorities, and developing an options appraisal to help inform the 
future direction of the service. 

 
1.4 Following extensive consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing, the Director for Communities, the Assistant Director for 
Housing and Members, the agreed approach was to align support with the Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG). This government funded scheme helps eligible individuals 
cover the cost of essential home adaptations to support independent living. Aligning 
with this model reflects government expectations that all tenures should receive 
consistent support. 

 
1.5 Between May and August 2025, an extensive consultation programme was carried 

out to gather essential feedback, identify areas for improvement and help to inform 
decisions about the future provision of the service.  

 
2. Report 
 
2.1 The policy clearly explains the approach taken by the Housing Landlord Service in 

delivering aids and adaptations. It outlines the various stages of the process, how 
tenants can access the service, and the procedures for decision-making, complaints, 
and appeals. 

 
2.2 While all adaptation requests are assessed based on individual circumstances and 

merit, the policy is designed to ensure a structured and consistent approach 
throughout. 

 
2.3 As outlined earlier in the report, the delivery approach mirrors that of the DFG, in line 

with the government’s expectation to provide consistent support across all housing 
tenures. The key components of the DFG include: 

• Means testing: A financial assessment to determine whether, and how much, an 
individual must contribute towards the cost of home adaptations (with exemptions 
as specified in the policy). 

• Funding structure: A tiered approach to funding adaptations, comprising of a core 
element, a discretionary element, and provision for support over the maximum limit 
in extenuating circumstances. 

• Scope of eligible works: Clearly defined and specific criteria outlining the 
circumstances under which adaptations will be supported. 
 

3. Consultation Feedback 
 
3.1 The council undertook an extensive consultation programme allowing tenants, 

elected members, partners, professional bodies and staff to inform service delivery 
and shape the Aids and Adaptations policy. The consultation programme enabled 
tenants’ views to be heard and incorporated into the decision-making process. 

Page 191



Appendix 4 

 
3.2 As detailed in Appendix C, feedback was gathered using a variety of engagement 

methods. These included written and online surveys, as well as face-to-face 
sessions held at Sheltered Housing Focus Groups, Tenant Forum Launch Events, 
and the Property Focus Group. 

 
3.3 Appendix C also outlines the proposed changes to the service based on the 

feedback received. These changes include: 

• Introducing means testing for major and significant adaptations, to ensure 
resources are targeted appropriately. 

• Implementing a prioritisation system for referrals, based on the level of need 
and urgency. 

• Establishing a panel, including impartial tenants, to support the appeals 
process.  

• Providing support were the council refuses a request for adaptations. 

• Where applicable, charging tenants a fee to service and maintain 
adaptations (service charge). 

• Applying rent increases for substantial adaptations, such as extensions, that 
result in an additional bedroom. 

 
3.4 In line with the newly established Tenant Forum, the Reading Group was invited to 

review both the draft policy and its summary version, and to share their feedback. 
This input has helped ensure that the policy and summary are user-friendly and 
presented in a clear and accessible format. The Readings group’s feedback is also 
included within Appendix C.   

 
4. Conclusion 

 
4.1. The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy represents a fair, inclusive, and well-

informed approach to service improvement. The policy has been shaped through 
extensive consultation with tenants ensuring it reflects local needs and priorities. It 
introduces clear processes helping the council manage resources effectively while 
continuing to support those most in need. Importantly, the policy will also help the 
council meet the expectations of the Transparency, Influence, and Accountability 
Standard, the Safety and Quality Standard and Housing Ombudsmen 
recommendations.  
 

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
Mirroring the Disabled Facilities Grant approach brings the HRA in line with the service 
provided across the rest of the council.  
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy contributes to the Partnership Alignment and 
Delivery Plan 2025/26 by supporting the following projects: 

• Deliver the HRA Transformation Programme. 

• Aids and Adaptations, benchmark existing offer and look to develop further. 
 

Page 192



Appendix 4 

The policy also links to the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnerships wider 
Customer Experience Strategy by supporting to address: 

• Providing a quality customer experience across an increasingly diverse community. 

• An ageing population and increasing dependency mean many customers need our 
services and extra help to live independently. 

 
The policy also aligns with the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnerships wider 

Engagement Pledge by providing clear and accessible information about our policy and 

keeping the community up to date and informed.  

 
 
Staffing 
None.  
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
The SELCP Disabled Facilities Grant team will assist with means testing assessments for 
applications. This aspect has been thoroughly explored, and an approach has been 
agreed that supports both services and presents the least amount of impact.  
 
The introduction of the new service will increase the workload for the HRA Property 
Services team. To support this, the Housing Transformation Team will ensure officers are 
fully briefed as the service is rolled out and, will monitor workload and capacity as part of a 
broader project.  
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
A range of regulations and legislation relate to the provision of disabled aids and 
adaptations, including the following: 

• Social Housing Regulation Act 2023 and Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer 
Standards: The standards contain specific expectations relating the delivery of 
adaptations.  

• The Equality Act 2010: Landlords and service providers are legally required to make 
certain adjustments (auxiliary aids) when requested, to ensure disabled individuals 
are not at a disadvantage compared to individuals who are not disabled.  

 

Implementing the Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy will ensure that the Housing 
Landlord Service complies with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer Standards 
and fulfils its duties under the Equality Act 2010. 
 
Data Protection 
 
None.  
 
Financial 
 
It is anticipated that the costs of implementing and delivering the Disabled Aids and 
Adaptations Policy will be met from existing budgets. While operational demands are 
expected to increase, they remain broadly consistent with current service levels and will be 
streamlined through effective application of the policy. A cost of approximately £4,000 per 

Page 193

https://www.selcp.co.uk/media/24693/SELCP-Customer-Experience-Strategy/pdf/SELCP_Customer_Experience_Strategy_FINAL.pdf?m=1710867087407
https://www.selcp.co.uk/media/25521/SELCP-engagement-pledge/pdf/SELCP_Engagement_Pledge.pdf?m=1726157959293


Appendix 4 

year will be incurred for the SELCP DFG team to carry out means testing which will also 
be covered through existing budgets.  
 
Risk Management 
 
None.  
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
As set out within Appendix C (consultation outcome and detail of proposed changes), 
significant consultation has taken place to collect feedback and develop the Disabled Aids 
and Adaptations policy.  
 
The consultation programme targeted feedback from those most involved and impacted by 
the service but also, provided opportunity for all tenants and residents to engage.  
 
In addition, the following have been consulted: 

• Portfolio Holder – Strategic and Operational Housing 

• Assistant Director – Housing 

• Director – Communities 

• Capsticks solicitors  
 
Reputation 
 
Tenant feedback has previously been negative including a maladministration order by the 
Housing Ombudsman. The introduction of the new Aids and Adaptations Policy aims to 
enhance the service provided to tenants and addresses the Ombudsman’s 
recommendations, particularly the development of the council’s aids and adaptations 
policy in collaboration with tenants and partner organisations. 
 
Certain elements of the Aids and Adaptations Policy may result in increased tenant 
dissatisfaction, particularly in cases where the council declines to carry out works due to 
the availability of suitable alternative accommodation. However, the proposed service 
includes support mechanisms to assist with this, as outlined in the ‘Refusal of Adaptations’ 
section of the policy, which were informed by extensive tenant engagement. 
 
Contracts 
 
None.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
An equality impact assessment has been carried out regarding the delivery of the Disabled 
Aids and Adaptations policy (Appendix D). The assessment identifies both positive and 
negative impacts across protected characteristics and socio-economic factors. It outlines 
targeted mitigations, such as accessible formats, tailored communication, and in-person 
support, to ensure equitable access to adaptations and uphold independent living for 
vulnerable tenants.  

Page 194



Appendix 4 

 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
The policy will help tenants sustain their tenancies by enabling them to live safely and 
independently in their homes. It also eases pressure on the wider health service by 
ensuring homes are suitably adapted to support timely hospital discharge and safe return. 
 
 
Climate Change and Environment Impact Assessment 
 
The Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy has positive implications for climate change and 
environmental impact. By prioritising adaptations to existing housing stock and applying 
feasibility checks, the policy mitigates environmental impact by reducing unnecessary 
construction, limiting staff travel, and minimising resource consumption. Internal teams 
such as Trusted Assessors help streamline assessments, reducing carbon emissions 
associated with workforce mobility and service duplication. These mitigations support a 
low-carbon, efficient approach to housing adaptations while maintaining tenant wellbeing 
and service quality.  
 

 
 
Acronyms 
 
DFG (Disabled Facilities Grant) 
HRA (Housing Revenue Account) 
 
Appendices  
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: 
 

Buildings
(+2)

Business

Energy

Influence
(+2)

Internal 
Resources

(+3)

Land use
(↓↑ 0)

Goods & 
Services

(+1)

Transport
(+1)

Waste
(+1)

Adaptation

+10

The Partnership has committed to being Net Zero by 2040 (14 years and 
4 months away).

Generated 
18/08/25 

v1.36

Page 195



Appendix 4 

Appendix A Housing Landlord Services, Disabled Aids and Adaptations 
Policy  

Appendix B Disabled Aids and Adaptation Policy Summary for Tenants 
Appendix C Consultation Outcome and Detail of Proposed Changes 
Appendix D Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 
Document title  Where the document can be viewed 
Regulator of Social Housing  Regulatory standards for landlords - GOV.UK 
 - Consumer Standards  
 
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.  
 
 
Report Approval 
Report author: Louis Humphreys, Housing Transformation Officer (HRA) 
 Lhumphreys@sholland.gov.uk  
  
Signed off by: Vikki cherry, Assistant Director - Housing  
  
 
Approved for publication: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing  
 

Page 196

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/regulatory-standards-for-landlords
mailto:Lhumphreys@sholland.gov.uk


Appendix 5 

   

 
Report To: Policy Development Panel 

Date: 23rd September 2025 

Subject: Housing Revenue Account governance arrangements   

Purpose: To consider the adoption of the Housing Revenue Account 

Governance Framework: Housing Landlord Services 2025/26 

Key Decision: N  

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing 

Report Of: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director - Housing 

Report Author: Adel Gardner, Housing Transformation Manager  

Ward(s) Affected: All wards. 

Exempt Report: N 

 
 

SUMMARY 

The Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework sets out the governance 

arrangements in place for the Housing Landlord Service including: 

• controls and assurance.  

• roles and responsibilities;  

• performance; and  

• financial viability of the HRA.  

The document also explains how these provisions link into wider Council governance 

arrangements.   

Additional steps are necessary to allow tenants meaningful opportunities to influence 

and scrutinise our service and performance.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That Policy Development Panel supports the recommendation to Cabinet to adopt 

the Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord 

Services 2025/26.   

2. That Policy Development Panel supports the recommendation to Cabinet to 

delegate minor operational amendments to the Framework to the Assistant 

Page 197



Appendix 5 

Director – Housing, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing.    

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

As a responsible social landlord, the Council is required to have robust governance 

arrangements in place to monitor and scrutinise the management of the Housing 

Landlord Service.   

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Do nothing – to not adopt the Framework.  This is not recommended as it is necessary 

to evidence the arrangements in place for governance as part of meeting the 

requirements of the outcomes of the Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023.   

 
1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The Council has governance arrangements in place to monitor and govern decisions 

about Council services. It is necessary to have additional governance arrangements 

in place for the Housing Landlord Service in order to ensure compliance with the 

Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023.   

  

1.2 The Regulator of Social Housing adopts a co-regulatory approach, holding 

Councillors responsible for ensuring that the Council, in its role as a registered 

provider of social housing, is delivering the outcomes of consumer standards.  

 

1.3 In 2024 the Council adopted the Housing Revenue Account Governance 

Framework: Housing Landlord Services 2024/25.  Since its implementation, 

governance practices have evolved, allowing time to embed effective processes and 

identify areas for further development. As a result, the framework now requires 

amendment to reflect these improvements and ensure it remains fit for purpose. 

 

2 REPORT 

 

2.1 A review of the governance arrangements for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

has been undertaken to assess their effectiveness and alignment with current 

regulatory expectations. 

 

2.2 Governance arrangements have been produced with the Regulator of Social 

Housing’s Consumer Standards in mind, particularly the Transparency, Influence 

and Accountability Standard.  Changes include enhanced scrutiny arrangements 

from Members, transparency around performance and risk management, details on 

roles and responsibilities of senior officers, including who has responsibility for 

compliance with the consumer standards, and management and remuneration costs 

(for the HRA).   

 

2.3 As part of enhancing governance arrangements, a number of dedicated groups were 

established to provide oversight, assurance, and drive continuous improvement 
Page 198



Appendix 5 
across the Housing Landlord Service. These groups have supported the embedding 

of governance practices aligned with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer 

Standards.  

2.4 The groups included in 24/25: 

• Housing Compliance Clinic – Monitors compliance with health and safety 

responsibilities. Chaired by the Assistant Director of Housing, with attendance 

from the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing and the 

Director – Communities. The Housing Compliance Clinic was observed by the 

Regulator of Social Housing in the recent programmed inspection, and this 

was recognised that the Council actively monitor’s risk and performance with 

oversight by Senior Officers and Members.  

• Housing Governance Clinic – Oversees risk management, audit action 

progress, service KPIs, and financial management. Chaired by the Assistant 

Director of Housing, with attendance from the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 

and Operational Housing and the Director – Communities. 

• Housing Landlord Services Board – Provides collective oversight and 

visibility of regulatory assurance, financial resilience, risk management, 

performance, and compliance across all aspects of landlord responsibilities. 

• Complaints Officer Working Group – Identifies themes and trends in 

complaints, drives service improvement, and makes recommendations to the 

Housing Governance Clinic and Member Responsible for Complaints. The 

group also reviews compliance with the Housing Ombudsman Service’s 

Complaint Handling Code. 

• Housing Transformation and Improvement Programme Board – Monitors 

progress of the Transformation and Improvement Programme. Chaired by the 

Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing, with attendance from 

the Director – Communities, Assistant Director – Housing, Monitoring Officer, 

and various Assistant Directors from across the South & East Lincolnshire 

Councils Partnership. Melton Borough Council’s Deputy Chief Executive and 

Housing Director for Housing and Communities attends as a critical friend. 

 

2.5 Following a review of these arrangements, changes are now proposed to streamline 

governance and ensure alignment with evolving priorities: 

• The Housing Governance Clinic will be disbanded - The disbanding of the 

Housing Governance Clinic will help to ease some of the pressure on officer 

capacity by streamlining governance and redistributing responsibilities across 

existing groups. Key functions such as risk management and audit oversight 

will be absorbed by the Housing Landlord Services Board, while service KPIs 

will be monitored through the Housing Compliance and Performance Clinic. 

• Risk management and audit actions will now be overseen by the Housing 

Landlord Services Board and will be reported through to the Portfolio Holder 

for Strategic and Operational Housing by the Assistant Director Housing.  

• Service KPIs will be monitored through the Housing Compliance and 

Performance Clinic. 

• Complaints oversight will be fully integrated into the Complaints Officer 

Working Group and attended by the Member responsible for Complaints.  

• Capital Programme Clinic – Newly established to oversee the performance 

and delivery of the Housing Capital Programme, ensuring effective planning, 

monitoring, and reporting of capital investment activities. 

Page 199



Appendix 5 

• Housing Compliance Clinic name will change to Housing Compliance and 

Performance Clinic  

 
2.6  Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are regularly reviewed and refined to ensure 

they remain relevant, measurable, and aligned with service priorities and regulatory 

expectations. These metrics are reported through existing corporate governance 

structures, including the Corporate Governance Clinic, Senior Leadership Team, 

and Performance Monitoring Panel, ensuring visibility and challenge at all levels of 

the organisation. 

2.6 Budgets continue to be monitored by Budget Managers, the s151 Officer and 
Members.  To enhance arrangements, the HRA Business Plan and narrative 
including validating and stress testing data is being developed. To be taken to 
consultation with Members and Tenants in 25/26.  
  

2.7 Arrangements continue to allow for Council specific benchmarking on items such as 
health and safety compliance and repairs timescales.   
 

2.8 Existing governance arrangements have enabled Members to effectively scrutinise 
the Housing Landlord Service, ensuring that Officers are delivering the outcomes 
required by the Consumer Standards. However, further work is underway to 
strengthen tenant involvement in governance and service oversight. 
 

2.9 The Tenant Engagement and Influence Strategy, adopted by Cabinet in June, 
alongside the launch of Tenant Forum events, marks a significant step forward. 
These initiatives aim to provide tenants with meaningful opportunities to access 
performance information, offer feedback, and scrutinise services. This approach 
supports the Council’s commitment to transparency and provides assurance to the 
Regulator that tenants are actively engaged in shaping and monitoring the quality of 
housing services. 
 

3. CONCLUSION     

 

3.1. The revised Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework builds upon the 

foundations of the previously established arrangements, which are now embedded 

as part of Business as Usual. These governance structures have strengthened the 

Council and HRA’s position in delivering accountable and transparent housing 

services. 

 

3.2. While significant progress has been made, further work is required to fully meet the 

expectations of the Consumer Standards, particularly in ensuring that tenants have 

meaningful opportunities to review and influence the services they receive. As part 

of this commitment, the Council has pledged to establish a Tenant Board during 

2025/26. This Board will provide a formal mechanism for tenant scrutiny, influence, 

and assurance, further reinforcing the co-regulatory approach and supporting 

compliance with the Regulator’s expectations. This Board will have links into the 

existing governance arrangements.  

 

3.3. The governance arrangements in place for the Housing Landlord Service have not 

only strengthened internal oversight but also contributed to a positive judgement 

from the Regulator of Social Housing. These arrangements demonstrate the 

Page 200



Appendix 5 
Council’s commitment to transparency, accountability, and continuous improvement 

in line with the Consumer Standards. 

 

3.4. The Housing Compliance Clinic, in particular, was observed by the Regulator as 

part of the programmed inspection and recognised as a strong example of effective 

governance in action, providing assurance around health and safety compliance 

and performance monitoring. 

Implications 

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

None.    

Corporate Priorities 

This revised iteration of the Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework has been 

developed with existing corporate arrangements in mind, building on the foundations of the 

original framework. It continues to support the Council’s corporate priority of efficiency and 

effectiveness by maximising the use of established working groups and committee 

structures, ensuring consistency and integration across wider Council governance. 

Staffing 

None. 

Workforce Capacity Implications 

Delivering the outcomes of the Consumer Standards places additional demands on the 

Council in its role as a registered provider of social housing. These demands require 

ongoing attention to governance, compliance, performance, and tenant engagement. 

The disbanding of the Housing Governance Clinic will help to ease some of the pressure 

on officer capacity by streamlining governance and redistributing responsibilities across 

existing groups. Key functions such as risk management and audit oversight will be 

absorbed by the Housing Landlord Services Board, while service KPIs will be monitored 

through the Housing Compliance and Performance Clinic. 

However, the creation of a new Capital Programme Clinic will have workforce implications, 

as it introduces an additional governance group requiring officer support and coordination. 

This clinic is essential to provide dedicated oversight and assurance on the delivery and 

performance of the Housing Capital Programme, which is a key area of regulatory and 

financial scrutiny. 

Constitutional and Legal Implications 

It will be necessary to establish methods whereby tenants can regularly scrutinise the 

service provided by the Council as a registered provider.  (This is an expectation of the 

Regulator of Social Housing and will be reviewed as part of our programmed inspection.) 

In order to deliver the outcomes of this standard, it is anticipated that the Council will need 

to establish a tenant scrutiny panel/similar.  The establishment of this panel, including 

adopting its terms of reference, is an Executive decision.     

Data Protection  

None.     

Page 201



Appendix 5 
Financial 

None.  
 

Risk Management 
 
Transparency and scrutiny arrangements have been enhanced through the revised 
governance framework. However, the Regulator of Social Housing identified an area for 
improvement, specifically the need to establish a range of mechanisms to engage the 
broader tenant base. At the time of the Regulator’s review, there were no formal tenant 
scrutiny arrangements in place. 
 
In response, work is underway through the Housing Transformation Programme to 
strengthen tenant engagement and introduce meaningful opportunities for tenants to 
scrutinise services. This includes the implementation of the Tenant Engagement and 
Influence Strategy which was adopted in June 2025 and the planned establishment of 
a Tenant Board in 2025/26. Officers aim to have these arrangements in place by the end of 
the financial year to provide assurance to both tenants, members, SLT and the Regulator. 

  
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 

The Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing and the Director – Communities 
have been consulted.  They continue to be regularly updated as Chair and Sponsor, of the 
Housing Transformation and Improvement Programme Board.   
 
Housing Managers have supported embedding new working arrangements and have been 
consulted as part of developing the revised arrangements.   

 
Tenants have not been directly involved in drafting this revised version of the Housing 
Revenue Account Governance Framework, as it reflects a formal update to an already 
established structure. The focus of this revision has been on consolidating and streamlining 
existing governance arrangements, many of which are already embedded as part of 
Business as Usual. 

  
Reputation  

As a Registered Provider, the Council has now undergone a programmed inspection by 
the Regulator of Social Housing, in line with the requirements of the Social Housing 
(Regulation) Act 2023. The inspection resulted in a C2 judgement, which indicates that 
while governance arrangements are in place, there are areas requiring improvement to 
meet the full expectations of the Consumer Standards.  
 
Continued efforts to strengthen tenant engagement, formalise tenant scrutiny 
arrangements, and embed improvements identified by the Regulator will be essential to 
mitigate reputational risk and demonstrate progress to improving outcomes to tenants.  

  
Contracts 

None.  
 

Crime and Disorder 

None  
 

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 

Page 202



Appendix 5 
An equality impact assessment has been completed. The proposed additional governance 
arrangements will not have a disproportionate impact on any particular group. Due regard 
has been given to the public sector equality duties in determining the details of the 
governance model. 
 
Health and Wellbeing 

None.  
 

Climate Change and Environment Impact Assessment  

 
Governance groups such as the Capital Programme Clinic can influence decisions around 
sustainable building design, energy-efficient retrofits, and low-carbon materials in capital 
projects. 
 

 
ACRONYMS 

SELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

KPI – Key Performance Indicator  

HRA – Housing Revenue Account  

RSH – Regulator of Social Housing  

 

APPENDICES  

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: 

Housing Landlord Services 2025/26 

Buildings
(+2)

Business

Energy

Influence

Internal 
Resources

Land use

Goods & 
Services

Transport

Waste

Adaptation

+2

The Partnership has committed to being Net Zero by 2040 (14 
years and 4 months away).

Generated 
07/08/25 

v1.36

Page 203



Appendix 5 

APPENDIX B Equality Impact Assessment for Governance 

Framework Sep 25 

APPENDIX C Summary of the HRA Governance Framework  

APPENDIX D  Summary of the changes to the HRA Governance 

Framework  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Regulator of Social Housing - 

Consumer Standards  

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-

on-the-consumer-standards 

The Charter for Social Housing 

White Paper  

www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-charter-for-

social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper 

The Better Social Housing 

Review  

www.bettersocialhousingreview.org.uk/ 

SHDC Landlord Strategy 2024-

2026  

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-

Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-

2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-

2026.pdf?m=1707905746373 

Housing Ombudsman 

Complaint Handling Code  

https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/landlords-

info/complaint-handling-code/  

SHDC Complaint Handling Self 

Assessment 2025 

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-Feedback  

  

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework: Housing Landlord Services 

2024/25 – PDP 24th September 2024 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author:  Adel Gardner, Housing Transformation 

Manager adel.gardner@sholland.gov.uk   

Signed off by: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director - Housing 

vcherry@sholland.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for 

Strategic and Operational Housing     

 

Page 204

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-charter-for-social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-charter-for-social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper
http://www.bettersocialhousingreview.org.uk/
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/landlords-info/complaint-handling-code/
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/landlords-info/complaint-handling-code/
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/Housing-Feedback


Appendix 6 

 

 
 
Report To: Policy Development Panel  
 
Date: 23rd September 2025 
 
Subject: Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy: 

Housing Landlord Service 2025-2029   
 
Purpose: To consider the adoption of the Vulnerable Person and 

Reasonable Adjustments Policy: Housing Landlord Service 
2025-2029 (appendix a)  

 
Key Decision: N/A 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder of Strategic and Operational 

Housing  
 
Report Of: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director – Housing  
 
Report Author: Adel Gardner, HRA Transformation Manager  
 
Ward(s) Affected: All 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

 
Summary 
 
The Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy: Housing Landlord Services 
2025-2029 sets out our commitment to assisting vulnerable Council tenants to ensure 
they can access our Housing Landlord Services and ensure they receive assistance to 
sustain their tenancy. The Policy sets out how we will support tenants who are 
vulnerable and explains how we will define, assess and record vulnerabilities.  The 
document also provides an overview of the types of reasonable adjustments we will look 
to accommodate and how to appeal any negative decisions. 
 
Members are requested to consider the adoption of the Vulnerable Person and 
Reasonable Adjustments Policy: Housing Landlord Services 2025-2029.    
 

 

 
Recommendations 
 
1. That the Policy Development Panel provides a steer on whether the policy title 

should retain a focus on “Vulnerable Persons” or adopt a broader, more inclusive 

Page 205



Appendix 6 

framing such as “Inclusive Housing Support and Reasonable Adjustment Policy: 

2025–2029” to better reflect the scope and intent of the housing landlord service. 

 

2. That Policy Development Panel support the recommendation to Cabinet to adopt the 

Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy: Housing Landlord Service 

2025-2029 (or other title for the policy as agreed upon). 

 

3. That Policy Development Panel supports the recommendation to Cabinet to delegate 
minor operational and legislative amendments to the Assistant Director – Housing in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Operational Housing. 

 
 

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
As a responsible social landlord, the Council is required to treat tenants with fairness 
and respect, ensuring that services are accessible to all under the Transparency, 
Influence and Accountability Standard. The Safety and Quality Standard mandates that 
homes must be safe and of good quality, which includes recognising and responding to 
the specific needs of vulnerable tenants. Furthermore, the Tenancy Standard expects 
landlords to support tenants in sustaining their tenancies. An outcome that is only 
achievable when reasonable adjustments are made for those facing barriers. 
 
This is not only essential for meeting our legal obligations set out by the Regulator of 
Social Housing but also crucial to demonstrating a strong commitment to equity, 
inclusion and tenant wellbeing.  
 

 
 

 
Other Options Considered 
 
Do nothing –Choosing not to implement the Policy would carry risks and missed 
opportunities, both from a regulatory and ethical standpoint.  This option is not 
recommended.  
 
The policy is designed to assist the Council in meeting the Regulator of Social Housing’s 
revised Consumer Standards which came into effect on 1 April 2024. The regulator’s 
judgement highlighted that “more work is needed to ensure there is a consistent 
approach to maintaining and using the information the Council holds about its tenants 
including the routine analysis of access to services to ensure tenants have equitable 
access to services”.  
 
Additionally, the Policy aligns with the requirements and recommendations of the 
Housing Ombudsman. The absence of suitable policies makes the day-to-day operation 
of the service more difficult with the potential for inconsistencies in approach and 
increases the likelihood of complaints. 
 

 
1. Background 

 

Page 206



Appendix 6 

1.1 South Holland District Council is the largest social housing provider in the district, 
managing over 3,800 homes for local residents. We are committed to meeting the 
diverse needs of our tenants by providing adaptable services, whilst ensuring we 
meet regulatory and legal requirements. 

 

1.2 The implementation of a Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy 

directly support compliance with Regulator of Social Housing’s (RSH) Consumer 

Standards: 

• The Transparency, Influence and Accountability standard expects social 

landlords to be open with tenants and treat them with fairness and respect so 

they can access services, raise concerns, influence decision making and 

hold their landlord to account.   

• The Safety and Quality standard expects that landlords understand and 

respond to the specific needs of vulnerable tenants.  

• The Tenancy standard expects landlords to help tenants sustain their 

tenancies which includes making reasonable adjustments for those who face 

barriers.  

 

1.3 On 30th July 2025 the RSH issued a regulatory judgement against South Holland 

District Council as a registered social housing provider. It was identified “more work 

is needed to ensure there is a consistent approach to maintaining and using the 

information the Council holds about its tenants including the routine analysis of 

access to services to ensure tenants have equitable access to services”. One of the 

identified plans to improve this area of weakness is the development of a 

Vulnerable Persons and Reasonable Adjustments Policy to support updating tenant 

data and to ensuring that information is used effectively to monitor and improve 

equitable access to services across all tenant groups.  

 

1.4 The Housing Ombudsman’s 2024 Spotlight report on attitudes, respect and rights 

made recommendations that landlords should: 

• implement a vulnerability policy, including how it is defined, who assesses, 

and what the review process is. This must be in line with The Equality Act, 

the Human Rights Act and the Care Act. 

• test the policy in practice against the 3Rs – recognise, respond and 

appropriately record vulnerabilities. 

• implement a specific reasonable adjustments policy.   

 

1.5 The Council conducted a tenant census in 2023. The findings highlighted that 51% 

of tenants have a limiting disability.  

 
2. Report 
 
2.1 The policy sets out the Council’s commitment to assist our disabled and vulnerable 

tenants and explains how the Council complies with its legal duties and regulatory 

requirements. 

 

2.2 Circumstances and needs can be very different.  This policy is intended as a 

general statement of our commitment to ensuring fair access for our disabled and 

vulnerable tenants, setting out the factors that we will take in to account when 

Page 207



Appendix 6 

responding to requests for reasonable adjustments or enhancing the services we 

offer.  

 

2.3 The policy sets out clearly the approach taken by the Housing Landlord Service to 

‘recognise, respond and record’ customer vulnerability, adjusting our services 

accordingly.  When deciding whether an adjustment is reasonable, the Council will 

consider:  

• how effective it will be in preventing any disadvantage; 

• the practicality of the adjustment; and 

• the costs of making the adjustment. 

2.4 Examples of reasonable adjustments are set out within the policy along with 

information on how to appeal a negative decision. 

 

3. Tenant Voice and Impact 
  
3.1 The Housing Ombudsman Spotlight report on attitudes, respect and rights 

recommends that a Vulnerability Policy should be co-produced with tenants. The 
Council therefore undertook a consultation-based approach that allowed tenants to 
shape the policy through feedback and discussion. This method ensured tenant 
voices were heard and considered, within available resources and timeframes. 
Tenants were able to feedback in writing (letter and online) or via the telephone for a 
discussion based approach on their lived experiences.  

 
3.2 As part of the process, tenants who expressed interest in the Reading Group and 

Property Services and Aids and Adaptations Focus Groups, established through the 
newly launched Tenant Forum, were invited to provide feedback on the draft policy 
(full and summary versions). Their insights have been valuable in shaping a more 
inclusive and responsive approach to developing the policy and we remain 
committed to exploring further opportunities for deeper tenant involvement in future 
reviews and service design 

 
Tenants feedback and the changes made: 

Feedback  Changes made 

The reference to "median" may be 
unclear to tenants, as it's not 
commonly understood terminology. 
 

Changed the word ‘median’ to ‘typical’. 

The full version is overly long and 
detailed for the average tenant. It 
seems more appropriate for internal 
staff use. 
 

This view was echoed by other respondents, who 
highlighted sections that felt more suited to 
a tenant handbook rather than a formal policy 
document. 
As a result, a large section has been removed 
from the policy. The relevant content will instead 
be included on the website, in the video 
version and in the tenant handbook going 
forward, ensuring tenants still have access to the 
information in a more appropriate and accessible 
format. 
 

Page 208



Appendix 6 

As a tenant, the full version would 
likely be ignored if delivered directly, 
due to its length and complexity. 
 

The full version of the document is not intended 
for general distribution to all tenants. Instead, it 
will be made available upon request for those 
who wish to access more detailed information. 
The summary version will be provided in hard 
copy to new tenants, and will also be 
available online and upon request. Where 
appropriate, officers may identify tenants who 
could benefit from the information and will ensure 
it is explained in a suitable format—whether that’s 
the full version, summary version, or a video 
version. 

In the accessibility yellow box on the 
summary version, it says - available 
formats (audio cassette/CD) that the 
information can be provided, would 
adding an MP3/MPEG format to the list 
bring it more up to date. 

Discussed with communications team and agreed 
that wording should be changed to be more 
generic and timeless to include all types of 
possible audio recordings.  
 
“Please let us know how you would like to receive 
information, we can provide information in other 
languages and formats for example, large print, 
easy read, audio recording or braille. Please 
email info@sholland.gov.uk or phone 01775 
761161.” 

The summary version is well-suited for 
tenants. It's factual, concise, and easy 
to understand. 
 
The longer version contains all the 
information in much more detail, I feel 
the shorter one gives a much more 
“readable” version of the policy without 
being too official.  
 

Video version being created of the Policy and 
continue to promote the use of summary versions 
across the Housing Landlord Service.  

There is a typo in the section 
referencing "9% of households have"—
the word "have" appears twice. 
 

Correction to the typo.  

Document is generally acceptable; 
however, while words on paper are 
nice it'd also be good to see, in future, 
practical solutions regarding work in 
council related properties that have a 
potential adverse effect on the mental 
health of residents.  

It’s important that future implementation includes 
not just policy, but also clear procedures, staff 
briefings, practical toolkits for applying 
reasonable adjustments, and a broader culture 
change. This will help ensure that the 
commitments made on paper translate into 
meaningful, lived experiences for residents. 

 
4. Conclusion 

 
4.1. This Policy will provide assurance to tenants that the Council has a process in place 

to support vulnerable tenants and manage reasonable adjustments. This will support 
the Council to work towards meeting specific expectations of the Transparency, 
Influence, and Accountability Standard, Safety and Quality Standard and the 
Tenancy Standard.  

Page 209



Appendix 6 

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
None. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
The Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy is linked to the South and 
East Lincolnshire Councils Partnerships wider Customer Experience Strategy by: 

• Providing a quality customer experience across an increasingly diverse community  

• An ageing population and increasing dependency mean many customers need our 
service and extra help to live independently 

 
Partnership Alignment and Delivery Plan 2025/2026 

• Local deliverables – HRA Transformation Programme – to ensure regulatory 

compliance in light of new legislation.  

The Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy links to the South and East 

Lincolnshire Councils Partnerships wider Engagement Pledge by: 

• Providing clear and accessible information about our policy and keeping the 

community up to date and informed.  

Staffing 
 
None.  

 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
The new Policy may present challenges for staff, particularly when supporting tenants with 
complex needs such as mental health issues, disabilities, or financial hardship. These 
situations can feel daunting, especially for staff who may not feel fully confident. Time 
pressures can also make it difficult to build relationships and offer personalised support. 
To help, we will introduce short briefing sessions and provide practical guidance. These 
steps aim to build staff confidence and make the policy easier to apply in day-to-day work. 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
The Social Housing Regulation Act 2023 builds upon the existing regulatory framework for 

Housing and introduces revised standards that come into force on 1 April 2024. These 

standards contain specific expectations registered providers of social housing must comply 

with and detail the outcomes that providers are expected to achieve. The Equality Act 

2010 provides a legislative framework to protect the rights of individuals and to advance 

equality of opportunity for all. The Act sets out the duties the Council has ‘to advance 

equality of opportunity between persons who share a protected characteristic and persons 

who do not share it’. It also sets out the circumstances when the Council has a legal duty 

to make adjustments to their services. 

Page 210

https://www.selcp.co.uk/media/24693/SELCP-Customer-Experience-Strategy/pdf/SELCP_Customer_Experience_Strategy_FINAL.pdf?m=1710867087407
https://www.selcp.co.uk/media/25521/SELCP-engagement-pledge/pdf/SELCP_Engagement_Pledge.pdf?m=1726157959293


Appendix 6 

The implementation of the Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy will 

ensure that the Housing Landlord Service is compliant with the Regulator of Social 

Housing’s Consumer Standards and Equality Act 2010 duties. 

This policy has been reviewed by Capsticks solicitors.  

Data Protection 
 
The Group Manager for Information Governance and Data Protection Officer has been 
consulted on the development of this policy and procedure, and has provided guidance 
around procedural process to ensure compliance with GDPR and Data Protection.  
 
Financial 
 
The ongoing operational costs associated with implementing the Vulnerable Person and 
Reasonable Adjustments Policy, such as staff time, tailored support, and monitoring are 
expected to be absorbed within existing budgets. These activities align closely with current 
service delivery functions and priorities, and the policy formalises practices that are often 
being carried out. As such, no significant additional financial burden is anticipated, 
although the policy may help to better target resources and improve efficiency over time. 
 
Risk Management 
 
None.  
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
The following have been directly consulted in the development of this policy: 

• Housing Managers 

• HRA Housing Officers (including team leaders, property, housing, 
independent living, housing repairs) 

• Portfolio Holder – Strategic and Operational Housing 

• Director – Communities 

• Assistant Director – Housing 

• Group Manager for Information Governance and Data Protection Officer 
(deputy DPO SHDC) 

• Capsticks solicitors 

• Tenant Engagement and Influence Lead  

• Tenant Forum members 

• Group Manager – Organisational Development 

• Age Friendly Communities Officer (East Lindsey District Council)  

• Age UK  
 
Considering the volume of Housing policies programmed over the next 12 months and the 
ongoing engagement with tenants, it was not considered appropriate to consult with all 
tenants directly on this Policy therefore a targeted consultation was carried out with 
Tenants from the Tenant Forum as detailed in the above Tenant Voice and Impact section 
of the report.  
 
The Group Manager for Organisation Development who is leading on the Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) strategy for the Partnership was consulted and offered 
constructive suggestions, particularly around the use of inclusive, person-first language. 

Page 211



Appendix 6 

This included updates such as using “person who has experienced” instead of “victim,” 
and terminology like “hearing impairment” or “vision impairment” to reflect respectful and 
current language.  
 
External organisations, including Active Lincolnshire and Age UK, were also engaged in 
the consultation to ensure the policy reflects a broad and informed perspective on 
supporting vulnerable individuals. Age UK provided feedback; The policy is clearly written 
and accessible, with jargon-free explanations of reasonable adjustments. It effectively 
reflects the support offered, including proactive measures like weekly officer visits, 
collaboration, and practical help for digitally excluded residents. 
 
Age friendly experts found the policy clear and accessible, with helpful explanations of 
reasonable adjustments. They suggested broadening the definition of vulnerability to 
include other protected characteristics such as sexual orientation and gender 
reassignment. They also recommended more person-centred language around 
communication preferences. 
 
The Portfolio Holder - Strategic and Operational Housing and the Director – Communities 
have been consulted.   
 
Reputation 
 
As a Registered Provider, the Council has been subject to a programmed inspection by 
the Regulator of Social Housing during 2025.  
 
It is important to demonstrate to the Regulator of Social Housing and Tenants that the 
Council is actively working towards meeting the specific expectations of the consumer 
standard. This includes working towards achieving a C1 standard and delivering better 
outcomes for tenants.  
 
Contracts 
 
None.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, within these policies the Council has due 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, to advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 
 
An equality impact assessment has been carried out regarding the strategy consultation 
(Appendix C).   
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
The policy brings health and wellbeing benefits to the Council by fostering stronger, more 
trusting relationships with tenants, which can lead to fewer complaints and more positive 

Page 212



Appendix 6 

engagement. It supports staff by providing clear guidance and practical tools, helping 
reduce stress and uncertainty when dealing with complex cases. Briefing sessions will 
build staff confidence and ensure consistent support. By identifying and addressing 
vulnerability early, the policy helps prevent issues, stabilise tenancies, and reduce reactive 
work ultimately improving service outcomes to tenants and team morale. 
 
Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 

 
The implementation of a Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy can have 
positive climate and environmental implications. Using accessible formats and inclusive 
engagement strategies ensures that vulnerable individuals are actively involved and can 
access the Housing Landlord Service. A reasonable adjustment could be encouraging 
construction methods that reduce noise and disruption particularly in housing for 
vulnerable people. This not only promotes equity but also strengthens community 
resilience and leads to more inclusive, effective climate action. 
 
Acronyms 
 
HRA (Housing Revenue Account) 
 
Appendices  
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: 
 
Appendix A  Vulnerable Person and Reasonable Adjustments Policy: Housing Landlord 
Service 2025-2029 
Appendix B Summary Version   
Appendix C Equality Impact Assessment  
  
Background Papers 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Buildings
(+2)

Business

Energy

Influence
(+2)

Internal ResourcesLand use

Goods & Services

Transport

Waste

Adaptation

+4

The Partnership has committed to being Net Zero by 2040 (14 years and 5 months 
away).

Generated 
29/07/25 v1.36

Page 213



Appendix 6 

 
Document Title Where the document can be viewed  
Regulator of Social Housing - 
Consumer Standards 

www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-
on-the-consumer-standards 

Housing Ombudsman Service – 
Spotlight report on attitudes, 
respect and rights  

Spotlight report on attitudes, respect and rights 

 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a ‘Council body’.  
 
Report Approval 
Report author: Adel Gardner, HRA Transformation Manager, 

adel.gardner@sholland.gov.uk  
 
Signed off by: Vikki Cherry Assistant Director – Housing 
 
Approved for publication: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing     
 

Page 214

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-the-consumer-standards
https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/reports/spotlight-reports/spotlight-on-attitudes-respect-and-rights-relationship-of-equals/
mailto:adel.gardner@sholland.gov.uk


 
Report To: Cabinet  
 
Date: 11th November 2025 
 
Subject: Housing Stock Condition Survey  
 
Purpose: To inform Cabinet of the updated findings of housing stock 

condition surveys  
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Tracey Carter, Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing  
 
Report Of: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director – Housing  
 
Report Author: Christian Mycock, Housing Property and Repairs Manager 
 
Ward(s) Affected: All 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

 
Summary 
 
In Q3 of 24/25 a full stock condition survey of South Holland’s Housing Stock was 
commissioned, A report detailing the initial findings of this stock survey was presented to 
Cabinet in April 2025 
 
This report seeks to provide Members with a further update on the latest position of the 
progress of the stock condition survey and an overview of the findings to date.  
 

 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet receives progress on stock condition surveys. 
 

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To purpose of this report is to be informed of the progress and findings to date towards 
ensuring that the Council has robust data on the condition of its homes.  
 

 

Page 215

Agenda Item 10.



 
Other Options Considered 
 

1. Do nothing. To not consider information presented regarding the stock condition 

survey findings. This option is not recommended.  

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Regulator of Social Housing has mandated through the approved Consumer 

Standards that Registered Providers must have an accurate, up to date and 
evidenced understanding of the condition of their homes that reliably informs their 
provision of good quality, well maintained and safe homes for tenants.  

 
1.2 To adhere to this consumer standard South Holland opted to carry out an address 

level stock condition survey, which included a full decent home survey, an 
assessment against the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) which 
identifies any hazards in the home and an Energy Assessment where any current 
Energy Performance Certificate was due to expire prior to April 2027. 

 
1.3 The Council procured the services of external survey specialists, MLCS3, to carry out 

this survey. The initial findings were reported to Cabinet in April 2025, at which point 
55% of the council’s housing stock had been surveyed. 

 
1.4 At the time of writing this report the first phase has been completed, resulting in 

80.57% of the stock now successfully being surveyed.    
 
1.5 The second phase of the survey is now underway which includes an enhanced 

communication plan including date and timed targeted appointments, text message 
confirmations, evening and weekend appointments.  Additional communications have 
been provided, including large print and translations, where required, as well as 
additional support from Housing Officers to support vulnerable tenants in granting 
access.    
  

1.6 The aspiration of phase two is to move towards the 100% completion rate throughout 
October and November 2025.  It is recognised however that there is a potential 
saturation point and as we get closer to the 100% mark there will be a number of 
properties where we may be still struggling to gain access.  These properties will be 
included within our no-access policy and process – within which we work with 
Housing Officers and external partners, where appropriate to gain access. Tenant 
vulnerabilities are considered, and our officers continue to work with tenants to 
overcome any perceived barriers in relation to access.  Ultimately, the Council has 
the option to seek an injunction for access and each “no-access” case will be 
considered carefully to understand if this is an appropriate course of action.  This 
approach will be overlaid with data around household vulnerability and stock survey 
findings for the property archetype including findings of damp, condensation and 
mould.     

  
 

2 Stock survey findings  
  

Page 216



2.1 At the point of writing this report 80.57% of homes have had a full survey, equating to 
3098 of our properties.  We receive weekly updates on the outcomes and any routine 
repairs or non-urgent matters are dealt with via the weekly output report. 
 

2.2 The exception to this process is where any issues or actions arising that require 
immediate attention, such as any Category 1 hazards or emergency repairs, these are 
reported to us at the point of survey for us to resolve. 

 
2.3 The data available continues to be shared with Savills to model against the existing 

data held by the Council to ensure that our current financial planning is appropriate. 
Discussions have taken place between Savills and the S151 Officer to ensure that any 
financial modelling requirements for the first five years of the new business plan 
capture works arising from the stock condition surveys and the data will continue inform 
the business plan model. 

 
3. Survey Representation 

 

SURVEY REPRESENTATION BY LOCATION (AS AT 31/8/25) 

Area No. properties 
surveyed 

No. properties in 
area 

Percentage 
surveyed  

Cowbit 27 38 71.05% 

Crowland 138 187 73.80% 

Deeping St Nicholas 70 87 80.46% 

Donington 130 165 78.79% 

Fleet 45 46 97.83% 

Gedney 43 59 72.88% 

Gedney Drove End 21 26 80.77% 

Gedney Dyke 19 22 86.36% 

Gedney Hill 35 44 79.55% 

Gedney Marsh 2 2 100.00% 

Gosberton 67 78 85.90% 

Gosberton Clough 4 7 57.14% 

Gosberton Risegate 13 16 81.25% 

Gosberton Westhorpe 2 2 100.00% 

Holbeach 310 405 76.54% 

Holbeach Bank 15 17 88.24% 

Holbeach Drove 11 11 100.00% 

Holbeach Fen 2 2 100.00% 

Holbeach Hurn 13 14 92.86% 

Holbeach St Johns 8 11 72.73% 

Holbeach St Marks 10 14 71.43% 

Little Sutton 1 3 33.33% 

Long Sutton 203 231 87.88% 

Lutton 13 19 68.42% 

Moulton 60 71 84.51% 

Moulton Chapel 32 42 76.19% 

Moulton Seas End 12 14 85.71% 

Pinchbeck 130 152 85.53% 

Pode Hole 2 3 66.67% 

Quadring 40 47 85.11% 

Saracens Head 2 3 66.67% 

Page 217



Spalding 1040 1254 82.93% 

Surfleet 49 66 74.24% 

Sutton Bridge 198 238 83.19% 

Sutton St Edmund 7 11 63.64% 

Sutton St James 35 43 81.40% 

Throckenholt 6 6 100.00% 

Tongue End 14 20 70.00% 

Tydd Gote 22 30 73.33% 

Tydd St Mary 15 23 65.22% 

West Pinchbeck 51 67 76.12% 

Weston 70 110 63.64% 

Weston Hills 25 30 83.33% 

Whaplode 45 58 77.59% 

Whaplode Drove 19 25 76.00% 

Whaplode St Catherine 22 26 84.62% 

Total  3098 3845 - 

 

SURVEY REPRESENTATION BY ARCHETYPE (AS AT 31/8/25) 

Archetype No. of properties 
surveyed 

Total number of 
archetypes in Stock 

Percentage 
surveyed 

One Bed Bungalow 554 675 82.07% 

Two Bed Bungalow 949 1016 93.41% 

One Bed Flat 88 118 74.58% 

Two Bed Flat 122 158 77.22% 

One Bed House 14 28 50.00% 

Two Bed House 276 378 73.28% 

Three Bed House 1073 1431 75.05% 

Four Bed House 12 17 76.47% 

Five Bed 0 1 0.00% 

Six Bed 0 1 0.00% 

Rough Sleeper 
Accommodation  

9 9 100.00% 

Guest Room 1 13 7.69% 

Total:  3098 3845 - 

 
4. Housing Health and Safety Rating System and Decent Homes  

 
4.1. The Council continues to invest through it’s planned maintenance work and upgrade 

programmes which form the basis of the decent homes standard. We are required to 
report our level on non-decency to the Regulator for Social Housing as well as 
present that information for scrutiny, therefore the Stock Condition Data is crucial in 
informing this figure. 
 

4.2. Non-decency is calculated by assessing various factors. These include the condition 
of building components, their age, and the estimated year of replacement. 
Additionally, the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) assessments, 
energy audits, and routine repairs are recorded to maintain property standards. As 
updated stock condition information becomes available, this is calibrated against 
existing data to ensure accurate and up to date information continues to be reported.  

 

Page 218



4.3. As at 31 August 2025, our current level of decency is 99.03% which equates to 35 
properties across our stock, this is an improvement on the figure of 98.28% (or 68 
homes) reported in the initial report on Stock Condition Survey findings to cabinet in 
April 2025. 

 
4.4. As detailed above, surveyors are also assessing the dwelling based on the Housing 

Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) which is - a risk-based assessment to 
identify and protect against potential risks and hazards to health and safety from any 
deficiencies identified in dwellings – with Category 1 risks being identified as the 
most significant hazards that require immediate action. 

 
4.5. The April report on Stock Condition findings set out that a total of 13 Category 1 

hazards had been identified out of the 2,133 properties surveyed up to 31st January 
2025, these were relating to the categories set out below and have all been rectified: 

 

• 6 cases of Damp and Mould 

• 2 Water Leaks 

• 2 Roof leaks 

• 2 unsecure properties 

• 1 Heating System 
 

4.6. From the surveys completed since 31st January 2025, a further 965, an additional 6 
Category 1 Hazards have been identified: 
 

• 5 cases of Damp and Mould 

• 1 case of electrical safety 
 

   All 6 cases received immediate action and have all been rectified. 
  
5. Damp, Condensation and Mould (DCM) 

 
5.1. All reports of DCM are managed on a risk-based approach. Cases of DCM are 

classified into three categories, as set out in the table below: 
 

CATEGORIES AND DEFINITIONS DETERMINED BY MLCS3 

Severe Excessive damp or mould noted to one or more rooms 

Moderate  Minor damp or mould noted in more than one room 

Slight  Minor damp or mould noted in one room 

 
5.2. The tables below sets out the total number of DCM cases identified as a result of 

the Stock Condition Survey 
 

PROPERTIES IDENTIFIED AS HAVING  
DAMP, CONDENSATION AND MOULD AS AT 31/8/25  

Category Number of 
properties 
identified  

As a 
percentage 
of stock 
surveyed 
(3098 units) 

Number as 
percentage of 
total stock 
(3,845 units)  

Severe 11 0.35% 0.28% 

Moderate  268 8.65% 6.97% 

Page 219



 

Slight  
 

415 13.39% 10.79% 

Total  
 

694 22.4% 18.04% 

  
5.3. Whilst it is recognised that the volume of cases reported could be interpreted as 

relatively high, the proactive nature of the stock condition survey gives us 
assurance that we are adopting an approach of proactively seeking out our cases 
for rectification. Of the 694 identified cases, 543 have been attended and 
remedied and of the remaining cases yet to be resolved 119 have appointments 
booked in with 32 going through our no access process. 

 
5.4. The cases identified as Severe continue to be reported immediately on the day of 

survey for remedial action.  The categories of Moderate and Slight are reported to 
us via a weekly report from the surveyors undertaking the survey, each case is 
then triaged, when doing so other factors such as tenant vulnerabilities and age of 
occupants are taking into consideration to prioritise these weekly cases 
accordingly.  A DCM Remedial operative is then allocated the work to carry out the 
eradication of the mould and undertaking of any remedial preventative repairs 

 
 

5.5. The figures in table 5.2 highlight that tackling cases of Damp and Mould within our 
tenant’s homes remains a challenge. The service has always recognised this area 
as a key priority, and we have consistently taken a proactive approach to ensure 
we are giving the best possible service within our existing resources.  To date, this 
has included realigning and being flexible with those resources to be able to cope 
with demand and reviewing policies and procedures where required.   

 
5.6. Notwithstanding this, through regular performance management within the service 

and through our Compliance Clinic we recognised that for our approach in this 
area not only to be sustainable but to also enable us to meet the demands of the 
measures within Awaabs Law, additional resources would need to be secured to 
ensure the Damp and Mould team are adequately resourced to maintain the levels 
of performance we have achieved to date. 

 
5.7. In quarter two of 2025, approval was granted to create additional posts within the 

Damp and Mould team consisting of two DCM surveyors, two DCM remedial 
operatives and a DCM support officer.  These posts are in relation to all aspects of 
the process including initial triage, surveying, identifying the cause of damp 
through to the remedial operatives completing the works. We appreciated the 
feedback from Performance Monitoring Panel and Cabinet that supported this 
course of action, recognising the importance of continued investment in this area. 
 

6.    Energy Performance  
  

6.1. As part of the survey programme, energy assessments are being undertaken on any 
property where the Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) is due before April 2027, 
working towards EPC certificates for every property.  (All properties are let with a 
valid EPC certificate).     

 

Page 220



6.2. This approach will give us a full assessment of the EPC rating profile across our 
stock so that future investment programmes can target the properties that need the 
rating improving. At the point of writing the report, 42.12% of residential stock 
managed by SHDC achieved Energy Performance rating of C and above.  The table 
below sets out our current performance in respect to Energy Ratings of our homes.   

 

ENERGY PERFORMANCE RATING OF PROPERTIES WITH A VALID EPC 
CERTIFICATE AS AT 31/8/25  

Rating Number of properties  As a percentage  

A (most efficient) 1 0.03% 

B  155 4.17% 

C 1408 37.92% 

D 2094 56.39% 

E* 54 1.46% 

F* 1  0.03% 

Total 3713 100% 

 
6.3. Investment in homes through the Green Homes Grant wave 2.1 and the future Wave 

3, from which we have secured a match funded amount of £5.7m (£11.4m in total), 
continues to enable us to focus on transitioning our properties at EPC band D and 
lower to EPC C and above through the installation of energy efficiency measures 
such as Solar Panels, Air Source Heat Pumps, UPVC windows and Insulation 
measures. Progress on this programme is reported to the newly established Capital 
Programme Clinic, attended by the Assistant Director-Housing and Portfolio Holder 
for Strategic and Operational Housing.   

  
7. Utilisation of data to inform planning and prioritisation of works 

 
7.1. The Council continues its work with Savills to produce a HRA Business Plan and 

Asset Management Strategy and this work continues to be informed by up-to-date 
robust data from the latest stock condition survey information. Member and tenant 
consultation is planned winter 2025 with adoption as part of budget setting during Q4 
2025/26.   
 

7.2. Upon receiving the information from the stock condition survey, the Council is 
triangulating this data with other sources, including the previous stock condition 
survey, reported repairs and data collected through planned and investment 
programmes and projects.  The 25/26 Capital Programme Budget and Medium-
Term Financial Strategy has been modelled using updated stock data.  
  

7.3. Data regarding decency of the stock continues to be used to calibrate the decent 
homes programme and reporting on decent homes statistics to Compliance Clinic , 
Performance Monitoring Panel and the Regulator of Social Housing.  Capital 
investment decisions will continue to be informed by updated information and 
revenue pressures identified through responsive repairs.      

 
8. Future programme for assessing the condition of homes  

 
8.1. The Council is required to introduce a programme of regular surveying of its stock 

with industry standards suggesting properties are surveyed at least every five 
years to understand the performance against current and emerging legislation.  
(This is a requirement of the Regulator of Social Housing as part of the consumer 

Page 221



standards).   
   

8.2. For South Holland, the frequency and depth of assessment will be influenced by a 
range of factors, including but not limited to, component lifecycles, property age, 
construction, and archetypes as well as data from complaints and reports from 
repairs (including damp, condensation and mould) and maintenance programmes.  
This approach will also allow the Council to plan delivery arrangements in 
advance, adapt to the overall needs of services, and continuously consider 
tenants' priorities.  The programme will be established once phase 2 has been 
completed, to commence during 2026/27.   

 
9. Conclusion  
  
9.1. The Council continues to make progress towards the aspiration of 100% stock 

condition data at address level. These efforts are crucial in ensuring that the Council 
meets the regulatory standards set by the Regulator of Social Housing and provides 
safe, well-maintained homes for its tenants.   
 

9.2. Responding to damp, condensation and mould continues to be a challenge for the 
Service, the recent approval to invest in resources will maintain the ability to meet the 
demands of Awaabs Law as well as offering a proactive and efficient service to our 
customers who report damp and mould. 

 
9.3. The updated Stock Condition data will continue to inform the modelling of the Asset 

Management Strategy and 30-year Business Plan which will be presented for 
consultation to both Members and Tenants.  This modelling will include determining 
options for the Council to deliver key items such as the Energy Performance 
Measures and Decent Homes Standard. 

 
9.4. In addition, the availability of accurate and robust stock data, repairs data and 

compliance information enable the Council to model the risks and impact of future 
proposals such as the MHCLG consultations on Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) and the Decent Homes 2 standard.    
 

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
This report provides assurance to the Council that South Holland District Council takes its 
responsibilities as a landlord seriously and will mitigate against any potential reputational 
damage or negative impacts to tenants.    
  
Corporate Priorities 
 
This report supports the following South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Sub-
Regional Strategy priorities:  

• Healthy Lives – Safe housing stock will lead to the better health of our tenants and 
everyone that stays or visits the properties.  

• Safe and Resilient – Providing community confidence that our homes are well 
maintained.   

 

Page 222



Staffing 
 
None.  
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
None. 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
None.  
 
Data Protection 
 
None. 
 
Financial 
 
The Council is reliant on substantial government support to achieve EPC C, which is 
common across the sector.  It is anticipated that responding to DCM will continue to place 
financial pressures on the service through remedial works identified by stock condition 
surveys and implementation of Awaab’s Law.  Changes in Decent Homes legislation may 
exacerbate this issue further.  
 
The findings of the stock condition surveys partly inform the HRA business plan being 
drafted by Savills. The HRA business plan is subject to approval by Members following 
consultation with tenants.   
 
Risk Management 
 
None. 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
As part of business plan modelling SLT, and the Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 
Operational Housing have been consulted.  On 15th October 2025 this report was 
presented to Performance Monitoring Panel and their feedback was that, following the 
implementation of additional resources, the benefits and progress achieved be noted; and 
that Cabinet be requested to continue the implementation of the necessary resources to 
ensure that performance targets were met. 
 
 
Reputation 
 
Presenting an update on stock condition surveys to Members enhances the Council’s 
reputation by demonstrating a commitment to transparency and accountability.  This 
proactive approach reassures Members that potential risks are being managed effectively, 
boosting confidence in our operations. Additionally, showcasing our adherence to 
regulations and ethical standards reinforces that we are a responsible social landlord.  
 

Page 223



Tenant safety is a priority and we will continue to address hazards and remedial work 
identified in these surveys. Additionally, this data will be used to plan future works needed 
to maintain safe and energy-efficient homes.  
 
Contracts 
 
None.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
Conducting stock condition surveys across the entire housing stock has significant positive 
impacts on Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI). These surveys ensure that all tenants, 
regardless of their background, have access to safe and well-maintained housing. By 
identifying and addressing disparities in housing conditions, the surveys promote fairness 
and equity. They also provide valuable data that can inform inclusive policies and 
practices, ensuring that the needs of diverse communities are met 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
Conducting stock condition surveys positively impacts health and well-being by identifying 
and addressing housing issues early, ensuring safe and healthy living environments for all 
residents. 
 
Climate Change and Environment Impact Assessment 
 
Not undertaken.  
 
Acronyms 
 
EDI – Equality Diversity and Inclusion  
RSH – Regulator of Social Housing  
HHSRS - Housing health and safety rating system 
EPC - Energy Performance Certificate  
DCM – Damp Condensation and Mould  
 
Appendices  
 
None.  
 
Background Papers 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 
Document title  Where the document can be viewed  
Housing Stock Condition Survey – 
initial findings report to Cabinet 
18/2/2025 

Stock survey findings.pdf 

RSH - Safety and Quality Standard Safety and Quality Standard - GOV.UK 

Page 224

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/documents/s43189/Stock%20survey%20findings.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safety-and-quality-standard


 
Housing Health and Rating System 
Guidance  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hous
ing-health-and-safety-rating-system- guidance-
for-landlords-and-property-related-professionals 
 

SHDC – Landlord Strategy 2024 -
2026 and Transformation 
Programme for 2024-2026 

SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-
2026.pdf 
 

 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
Name of Body      Date 
PMP        15th Oct 2025 
 
Report Approval 
Report author: Chris Mycock, Housing Repairs and Property Services 

Manager cmycock@sholland.gov.uk  
 
Signed off by: Vikki Cherry, Assistant Director – Housing 

vcherry@sholland.gov.uk  
 
Approved for publication:  Cllr Tracey Carter – Portfolio Holder for Strategic and 

Operational Housing  

Page 225

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-guidance-for-landlords-and-property-related-professionals
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-guidance-for-landlords-and-property-related-professionals
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-guidance-for-landlords-and-property-related-professionals
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-guidance-for-landlords-and-property-related-professionals
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/24482/SHDC-Housing-Landlord-Strategy-2024-2026/pdf/SHDC_Housing_Landlord_Strategy_2024-2026.pdf?m=1707905746373
mailto:cmycock@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Jasonking@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
Report To: Cabinet 
 
Date: 11th November 2025  
 

Subject: South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Body Worn 
Video (BWV) Policy 2025 

 
Purpose: To seek approval from Cabinet for a new Body Worn Video 

Policy for the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership to 
ensure arrangements are compliant with our legal obligations 
and data protection controls. 

 
Key Decision: N/A 
 
Portfolio Holder: 

Councillor Jim Astill – Portfolio Holder for Corporate, 
Governance, Communities and Environmental Services.   

Report Of: Christian Allen, Assistant Director - Regulatory  

 

Report Author: Peter Hunn – Safer Communities Manager (Operations) 

 
Ward(s) Affected: All 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

Summary 

The purpose of this new policy is to ensure that the operational use of Body Worn 

Video (BWV) is lawful, proportionate, legitimate and necessary; that it will be only 

used when deemed necessary for the purposes of violence reduction or evidence 

collection by trained staff in accordance with legislation, policy and procedures.  It 

sets out roles and responsibilities, provides staff with the correct procedures for 

collecting, downloading, processing and presenting video evidence. This policy will 

ensure all BWV devices are used reasonably, justifiable and proportionately and that 

the product of BWV devices is stored, retained, reproduced and disposed of 

appropriately. 

 
 
 
 

Page 227

Agenda Item 11.



Recommendations 
 

1. That Cabinet consider the report, policy and any feedback from Policy 
Development Panel and approve the Body Worn Video Policy.  

2. That the Assistant Director Regulatory / Senior Responsible Officer, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder, be given delegated authority to make 
such amendments to this policy as may from time to time be required in order 
to (i) reference any links or amended links to other documents as may be 
required; and (ii) reflect any issues over which the Council has no discretion 
including, but not limited to, references to any legislative changes and 
amended guidance. Any material amendments to the policy will be subject to 
the usual approval process in line with the Constitution. 

 
 

 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To ensure that Members are aware of the duties imposed on the Council by legislation 

and best practice guidance with regard to the use of BWV and the requirement to adopt 

policies, processes and procedures that are up to date, relevant and fit for purpose.  

Ensuring Members are informed BWV activity, policy and procedures demonstrates 
good governance and an organisational commitment to the obligations imposed by 
RIPA, Surveillance Camera Commissioner guidance and any appropriate legislation 
around privacy, Data Protection and Freedom of Information legislation.  
 

 

Other Options Considered 
 
None 
 

 
 
 
1. Background 

 
 

1.1 As reported to Audit and Governance Committee earlier this year, there was a 
commitment made to bring forward a new Partnership BWV Policy demonstrating an 
ongoing commitment to the health, safety and welfare of our staff, service users and 
anyone else affected by our activities. Members of Policy Development Panel were 
consulted on 24th June 2025 and welcomed this new policy and were supportive of it 
being taken forward to Cabinet for approval. 
 

1.2 Policy Development Panel made one substantive suggestion around the limitation on 
use to only BWV devices provided by the Council. This has now been added into the 
policy and can be found in the Equipment Section (8) (8.1).  

 
1.3 This new policy will enable front line officers to utilise BWV devices where it is lawful, 

reasonable, justifiable and proportionate to do so.   
 

Page 228



1.4 The policy will demonstrate that appropriate technical and organisational measures 
have been considered and will be implemented, integrating the principles of data 
protection into the processing of evidence/data. BWV devices provide an excellent 
standard of evidence when undertaking regulatory and enforcement activities 
however, they must be deployed appropriately and the information/data gathered 
correctly managed.  

 
1.5 The purpose of this new policy will be to ensure that BWV devices will only be 

deployed when it is deemed necessary for the purposes of reducing aggression 
towards officers or in the gathering of evidence by trained staff in accordance with 
legal requirements, policy and mandatory guidance. It will set out roles and 
responsibilities, provide staff with the correct procedures for collecting, downloading, 
processing, presenting and retaining evidence obtained from BWV devices. 

 
2. Report 

 

2.1. The individual councils within the S&ELCP are committed to ensuring, so far as is 
reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare of its staff, service users and 
anyone else who may be affected by its activities. This policy has been developed to 
ensure that the council’s front line enforcement officers using BWV devices do so in a 
lawful, reasonable, justifiable and proportionate manner.  
 

2.2. Under Articles 25(1) and 25(2) of the UK GDPR, the individual councils within the 
S&ELCP have an obligation to implement appropriate technical and organisational 
measures to show that it has considered and integrated all of the principles of data 
protection into their processing activities. 
 

3. Policy Statement  

 

3.1. The individual councils within the S&ELCP are committed to securing the best 

evidence and intelligence possible when carrying out their council functions, including 

but not being limited to its regulation and enforcement activities. BWV technology 

provides enhanced opportunity to secure such evidence and intelligence.   

 
4. Training  

 

4.1. All Officers authorised to use BWV devices will receive training in the operation of 
this policy and the operation of allocated BWV devices prior to being able to employ 
their use. This will include: 

 

• Applicable legislation and legal requirements of using BWV devices in a public area, 

privacy, data protection, information governance etc.   

• Framework and reasons for deployment of devices throughout the Councils.  

• How to mount the device on the body. 

• How to operate the device, turning on/off and various functions. 

• When to operate the recording function and the parameters of permitted use.  

• Permissions of use, how to alert the public recording is about to commence and 

reasons why. 

• Maintenance and charging of the device. 

Page 229



• How to use the device software for information and data upload/transfer.  

• The timeframe for uploading of information and data.  

• How to deal with a subject access request.  

• How the information and data is stored and erased from the devices.  

• Implications for misuse. 

 

4.2. All personnel must attend a full training session prior to deploying a BWV device in 
an operational environment and must sign to acknowledge they have been trained 
and understand their legal responsibilities in its use. Records of this training will be 
held centrally for audit and accountability purposes.  
 

 
5. Conclusion 

 
5.1. This report brings forward a BWV Policy for consideration and approval by Cabinet. 
      

Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
By adopting a common approach to the use of BWV across all three councils, economies 
of scale, efficiencies and shared learning can be optimised across the Partnership. This 
sub regional approach also accords with the objectives set out in the Memorandum of 
Agreement and the Business Case for the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
Safe and Resilient Communities 
 
Staffing 
 
Current staffing resource across the partnership will support the delivery of BWV activity 
with additional resources identified through further funding as necessary.  
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
None 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
Non - compliance with the legislation associated with covert surveillance leaves the 
Council open to evidential challenge to enforcement activities in the courts and potentially 
formal claims for compensation from individuals or corporate bodies should it be found that 
BWV policy, guidance and procedures have not been followed. The Policy and training 
ensure all officers considering using BWV are aware of the requirements of legislation and 
best practice. 
 
 
 

Page 230



Data Protection 
 
A separate DPIA has been produced for this policy and can be found as part of the 
associated appendices.  
 
Financial 

 

None, there is an expectation that departments across the Partnership who wish to use 
BWV will purchase their own CCTV enabled cameras that are able to be connected 
directly to the CCTV Suite at Boston. Further funding opportunities will be sought wherever 
possible to support delivery. That aside, delivery will be managed through existing 
departmental commitments and resources.  
 
 
Risk Management 
 
The Council may be exposed to legal, financial and reputational risk were it to undertake 
enforcement activity inconsistent with the obligations of this policy. Hence it is important 
that our policy, practices and procedures are regularly reviewed to ensure that they are up 
to date with IPCO and Home Office guidance. Adopting common policy, practices and 
procedures also provides the Partnership with improved resilience, capability and capacity 
to our evidence gathering and recording arrangements. 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
Consultation has been undertaken with the relevant Portfolio Holder, Monitoring Officer, 
Group Manager for Information Governance and Data Protection Officer and Section 151, 
Corporate Managers and Service Managers. 
 
The report has also been shared with those Officers with designated responsibilities in the 
Partnership BWV Policy. 
 
Reputation 
 
Non‐compliance with the legislation associated with covert / overt surveillance leaves the 
Council open to reputational damage should a formal claim for compensation from 
individuals or corporate bodies find BWV policy, guidance and procedures have not been 
followed. 
 
If any prosecution is undertaken, and that through disclosure it becomes clear that either 
our BWV policy is not robust or it has not been followed, it may compromise the outcome 
of the prosecution as a result. 
 
Contracts 
 
None 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
Compliance with the obligations of PACE and Crime and Disorder Act 1998 must be 
intrinsic to all enforcement activities undertaken by the Council. 

Page 231



 
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
Adopting an approach to the use of BWV that is consistent with Data Protection, RIPA, 
IPCO and Home Office guidance will help to ensure that the Council is meeting its equality 
and diversity, human rights and safeguarding obligations. 
 

It should be noted that CCTV surveillance techniques and investigations need to consider 

Article 8 of the Human Rights Act, which covers right to privacy. This is also subject to 

regulation under RIPA and CCTV Codes of Practice. 

 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 

This policy supports officers for the purposes of violence reduction or evidence collection 
by trained staff in accordance with legislation. 
 

Work carried out to reduce crime and disorder within the partnership and to support those 

that are affected helps to improve the health and wellbeing of those residents.  

 
 
Climate Change and Environment Impact Assessment 
 
None 
 
Acronyms 
 
IPCO – Investigatory Powers Commissioners Office 
RIPA – Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (2000) 
BWV – Body Worn Video 
CCTV – Closed circuit television 
BBC – Boston Borough Council 
ELDC – East Lindsey District Council 
SHDC – South Holland District Council 
S&ELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
PACE – Police and Criminal Evidence Act  
DPIA – Data Protection Impact Assessment  
FAQ – Frequent Asked Questions  
GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation  
PDP – Policy Development Panel  
 
Appendices 
  
Appendix A – BWV Policy 2025  
Appendix B - DPIA 
Appendix C - BWV FAQ 
 
 
 
 

Page 232



Background Papers 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report. 
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
None 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



 

0 
 

 

South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
Body Worn Video (BWV) Policy 

 
 
Name of Policy:      Body Worn Video (BWV) 
              
 

Author: Peter Hunn  

Date agreed and implemented: September 2025  

Agreed by:  

Frequency of Review: Every 3 years  

Review date: August 2028  

Privacy Impact Assessment 
completed: (date) 

August 2028  

Member involvement (if any) 
Consultation with PFHs / ELDC Overview 
Committee / BBC Overview Committee / 
SHDC Policy Development Panel 

Internal or Public Domain:  

 

 

VERSION CONTROL: 

Reference: Status: Authorised by: Date: 

BWV1    

    

Page 235



 

1 
 

1 Introduction 
South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (The Partnership) is committed to 
ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare of its 
staff, service users and anyone else who may be affected by its activities. This policy 
has been developed and adopted to ensure that The Partnership’s front line 
enforcement officers using Body Worn Video (BWV) devices do so in a lawful, 
reasonable, justifiable and proportionate manner.  

1.1 Under Articles 25(1) and 25(2) of the UK GDPR, The Partnership have an 
obligation to implement appropriate technical and organisational measures to show 
that it has considered and integrated all of the principles of data protection into the 
processing activities. Policy Statement. The Partnership is committed to securing 
the best evidence and intelligence possible when carrying out any relevant Partnership 
Council function, including but not being limited to its regulation and enforcement 
activities. BWV technology provides enhanced opportunity to secure such evidence 
and intelligence.   

2 Purpose.  

The purpose of this policy is to ensure that the operational use of BWV is lawful, 
proportionate, legitimate and necessary; that it will be only used when deemed 
necessary for the purposes of violence reduction or evidence collection by trained staff 
in accordance with legislation, policy and procedures.  It sets out roles and 
responsibilities, provides staff with the correct procedures for collecting, downloading, 
processing and presenting video evidence, appropriate retention etc.  This policy will 
ensure all BWV devices are used reasonably, justifiable and proportionately and that 
the product of BWV devices is stored, retained, reproduced and disposed of 
appropriately. 

3 Application and Scope.  

3.1 This policy is effective from 1st September 2025 and applies to all officers who 
using BWV as part of their role. 

  

4 Supplementary Benefits.  

The use of BWV may derive a range of supplementary benefits including but not being 
limited to: 

• Compliance with the appropriate legislation and guidance including 
requirements around privacy, the Data Protection and Freedom of Information 
legislation. 

• A reduction in the risk of violence and aggression towards staff as BWV devices 
should act as a deterrent (by clearly demonstrating that actions may be 
recorded). 

Page 236



 

2 
 

• That staff are trained and have detailed guidance on the collection, 
downloading, processing, presentation and retention of video / audio 
evidence. 

• That BWV devices are used correctly to maximise their benefit. 

• The provision of compelling, high-quality video / audio footage thereby 
supporting the likelihood of the successful identification, apprehension and 
prosecution of offenders, particularly in relation to violence and aggression 
towards staff. 

 

5 Safeguarding of public assets.  

• Reducing protracted complaint investigations by providing impartial, accurate 
evidence. 

• Support PACE interviews through the quality of evidence presented to alleged 
perpetrators. 

• Give greater insight into service delivery and assist in identifying good 
practice.  

• Reduce the number of incidents of aggressive behaviour and abuse aimed at 
officers exercising their duties. 

• Evidence the good service of enforcement and advisory letters. 
 

6 General Principles  

6.1 BWV devices are an overt method by which staff can obtain and secure 
evidence at the scene of incidents.   

The use of BWV will be: 

• Proportionate. 

• Legitimate. 

• Necessary. 

• Justifiable. 

6.2 These principles are intended to enable staff to comply with all legislative 
requirements.  When used effectively BWV can capture best evidence, modify 
behaviour, prevent harm and deter people from committing offences and anti-social 
behaviour.  The general principles of operation will include: 

• BWV devices will be used overtly, fairly, within the law, and only for the 
purposes for which it was established. 

• Operating BWV with due regard to the principle that everyone has the right 
to respect for his or her private and family life and their home and that the 
use BWV must be proportionate, legitimate and necessary. 

Page 237



 

3 
 

• The public interest in the operation of the system will be recognised by 
ensuring the security and integrity of operational procedures and that data 
will be processed and managed in line with data protection requirements.  
Data will: 

o Be processed fairly, lawfully and in a transparent manner. 

o Be adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary. 

o Not be kept for longer than is necessary. 

o Be kept securely. 

7 Procedure 

Body Worn Video (BWV): 

7.1 A BWV device is an overt camera capable of capturing video and audio 
information used to record events in which the wearer is involved. It is typically 
worn on the torso of the member of staff and on the uniform (clipped on); a harness 
can also be used. They are highly visible and used by staff to capture evidence of 
incidents that occur while they are on operational duty. 

7.2 Why use BWV? 

BWV devices will be used to assist with the prevention and reduction of violence and 
aggression.  When used effectively BWV can capture best evidence, modify 
behaviour, prevent harm and deter people from committing crime and anti-social 
behaviour.  BWV devices will record exactly what happened, what was said and 
when, in an indisputable format. 

7.3 BWV devices are ‘overt’ meaning that they should be visible and obvious at all 
times.  Overt means any use of surveillance for which authority does not fall under 
the Regulation and Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). BWV will always be used 
in an overt manner unless a RIPA application has been duly approved by a Court. 

7.4 Where possible, reasonable, practicable and appropriate, the potential/use of 
BWV devices will be notified to those who are or who may be subject to any form of 
lawful engagement, regulation or enforcement by the Council.  For example (and non-
exhaustively), the Partnership may include reference to the potential/use of BWV 
devices within it’s Privacy Notice (s), letters, Notices, Orders or other communications 
to individuals, groups or businesses. 

7.5 Where possible, reasonable, practicable and appropriate, officers equipped with 
BWV devices will notify those whose personal data is likely to be captured by the use 
of BWV devices of such likelihood both prior to switching the device on and 
immediately after switching the device on.   

7.6 Officers are NOT authorised under this policy to have BWV devices constantly 
running.   

Page 238



 

4 
 

7.7 All images captured by BWV will be handled securely in accordance with the 
Partnership’s CCTV retention procedures where products with no evidential or other 
lawful value will be retained for a maximum of 30 days with authorised officers, 
named here, being responsible for destruction of data. CCTV Manager, Community 
Safety Manager, ASB Officers and CCTV Operators (those with a SIA Public CCTV 

Licence) will be the only authorised staff allowed to access the DEMS (Digital 
Evidence Management System system) to produce the evidence accordingly as they 

do now for image requested caught on our Public Space CCTV System.  Any product 
of evidential or other lawful value will then be stored, retained, reproduced and 
disposed of in accordance with prevailing legislative requirements and the 
Partnership’s Data Retention Policy. 

8 Equipment 

8.1 The only BWV devices that is permitted to be used is Dahua MPT221-S which 
the dock into the appropriate Dahua Data Collection Station situated either within the 
CCTV Suite at Boston Borough Council or named council offices across the Partnership. 
Once the Dahua BWV is placed in the Collection Station for charging the images are 
automatically transferred over to Partnerships CCTV Suite (see 8.4).  

8.2 BWV devices shall be overtly body mountable with built in microphones. 

8.3 Once appropriate budgetary provision is in place, the purchase or acquisition 
of BWV devices must be authorised by the Partnership’s Assistant Director for 
Regulatory Services.  

8.4 All Boston Borough Council BWV devices shall be stored securely in the Council’s 
CCTV suite and a central register (including make, model and serial number) of BWV 
devices will be maintained by The Partnership’s CCTV Manager / CCTV Team. East 
Lindsey District Council and South Holland District Council BWV devices will be stored 
securely only in Council Owned Buildings, will be added to the central register and 
images captured on all BWV devices (across The Partnership) will remotely be 
transferred to the DEMS System within the CCTV Suite at Boston within 2 hours of 
being placed back in the charging and storing docking station.  

8.5 Authorised officers will sign all BWV devices in and out of the CCTV suite and 
shall: test that the device they are seeking to use is working correctly; that the battery 
is fully charged and that the date and time stamp on the device is accurate. Separate 
logs for charging and storing docking stations within ELDC and SHDC to sign devices 
in and out will be produced and maintained by managers / team leaders with the 
responsibility for separate charging and docking stations outside of the CCTV Suite at 
Boston.  

8.6 Any malfunction of a BWV device must be notified immediately to the Duty 
CCTV Operator and CCTV Manager.  

8.6 Any loss or theft of a BWV device containing NO recorded material must be 
notified immediately to the Partnership’s Assistant Director for Regulatory Services 
and CCTV Manager and reported to the Police by the wearer at the time. 

Page 239



 

5 
 

8.7 Any loss or theft of a BWV device CONTAINING recorded material must be 
notified immediately to the Partnership’s Assistant Director for Regulatory Services, 
CCTV Manager and Information Goverance Team.  

8.8 As soon as any BWV product is considered to have evidential or other lawful 
value it will be stored, processed and disposed of according to its use (for example, 
evidence for certain enforcement cases will be retained for up to seven years).  Each 
primary file will be allocated a unique identifier with the time and date stamp.  

8.9 The storage of recordings from BWV is not cloud based. Storage is separate to 
that of the council's main IT servers and is situated in a secure room at a Boston 
Borough Council premises. To support the camera systems, 'stand-alone' computers 
or equipment and appropriate encryption should be utilised for the downloading and 
storage of digital video files. These will need to provide a full audit trail and ensure 
evidential continuity is maintained.  The storage and control of all BWV and the 
necessary computer systems required for the storage and download of images and 
digital video files will be based within the Borough Council’s CCTV Suite / The Hub / 
Priory Road or any other council premises named within this policy.  

8.10 When not in use all BWV devices shall be stored within the Partnership’s 
CCTV Suite. 

9 Training 

9.1 All Officers authorised to use BWV devices will receive training in the operation 
of this policy and the operation of allocated BWV devices prior to being able to employ 
their use. This will include: 
 

• Applicable legislation and legal requirements of using BWV devices in a public 

area, privacy, data protection, information governance etc.  (see 22.1 for list 

of relevant legislation).  

• Framework and reasons for implementation of devices throughout the 

Councils.  

• How to mount the device on the body. 

• How to operate the device, turning on/off and various functions. 

• When to operate the recording function and the parameters of permitted use.  

• Permissions of use, how to alert the public recording is about to commence 

and reasons why. 

• Maintenance and charging of the device. 

• How to use the device software for information and data upload/transfer.  

• The timeframe for uploading of information and data.  

• How to deal with a subject access request.  

• How the information and data is stored and erased from the devices.  

• Implications for misuse. 

 

Page 240



 

6 
 

9.2 All personnel must attend a full training session prior to operating the BWV 
device in an operational environment and must sign to acknowledge they have been 
trained in the use of BWV devices and understand their legal responsibilities in its 
use.  

Records of this training will be held centrally for audit and accountability purposes.  

10 Equipment Use and Storage 

 

BWV will be accessed only by staff who have an appropriate authority to do so. Staff 
must: 

• ensure the device remains with them at all times during their shift; 
• make all reasonable efforts to ensure the device is kept secure, clean and in 

an operational condition;  
• report any losses, defects or malfunctions of devices as soon as reasonably 

practicable and seek a replacement device where necessary. 

When the staff members shift finishes, they must return their BWV to the CCTV suite 
or authorised area within East Lindsey or South Holland to ensure it will be charged 
and ready for operational use. 

11 Recording Inspections and Incidents 

The following is guidance on the use of BWV when recording incidents. 

11.1  Decision. Officers will wear BWV when on operational duties or as 
required by a supervisory officer, the camera should be switched on when footage 
might support 'professional observation' or would corroborate what would be written 
in a pocket notebook (PNB). The decision to record or not to record any incident 
remains with the user. The user should be mindful that failing to record incidents that 
are of evidential value may require explanation in court.  

11.2  Objections. There may be occasions where a person objects to being 
recorded.  BWV wearers may record overt video and audio without consent if this 
recording is for the reasons stated in this policy, including any aggression or threats 
of violence to the wearer or their colleagues. There is no requirement to obtain the 
express consent of the person or persons being filmed since the actions of the officers 
acting in according with these Policy guidelines and associated Data Privacy Impact 
Assessment are deemed to be lawful. The lawful basis for the recordings is as outlined 
in the Partnership’s Privacy Notice (s). 
 

11.3  The decision to continue recording should remain with the BWV 
wearer, who should consider the objections made by the person in respect of the 
recording. The presumption should be, however, that recording should continue 
unless the objection(s) made overrides the need to record an evidential encounter.  

Page 241



 

7 
 

If the BWV wearer decides to continue recording despite objections, they should 
make a note as to why they have decided to do so. (see also 6.9 below). 

11.4  Start recording early. It is evidentially important to record as much 
of an incident as possible; therefore, recording should begin at the earliest opportunity 
from the start of an incident. 

11.5  Recordings to be Incident Specific. Recording must be incident 
specific. Users should not indiscriminately record entire duties or operations and must 
only use recording to capture video and audio during inspections or incidents that 
would normally be the subject of Pocket Note Book entries or as 'professional 
observation', whether or not these are ultimately required for use in evidence. There 
are a few instances where recording should not be undertaken and further guidance 
on when not to record is contained in this policy. 

11.6  Talk. At the commencement of any recording the user should, where 
practicable, make a verbal announcement to indicate why the recording has been 
activated. If possible this should include: 

• Date, time and location 
• Confirmation, where practicable, to those present that the inspection/incident 

is now being recorded using both video and audio. 

11.7  Inform. If the recording has commenced prior to arrival at the site or 

scene of an inspection/incident the user should, as soon as is practicable, announce 
to those persons present that recording is taking place and that actions and sounds 
are being recorded. Specific words for this announcement have not been prescribed 
in this guidance, but users should use straightforward speech that can be easily 
understood by those present, such as, "Please be aware I am wearing and using body 
worn video". 

11.8  Privacy Notice. The Partnership will also have readily available privacy 
policies that individuals are able to access (for example, on our website or in hard 
copy by request) in the event that it is not operationally viable for fair processing 
information to be provided before recording is commenced.  

11.9  Collateral intrusion. It is possible that the BWV camera field of view 

may include individuals (members of the public, staff, etc.) not directly involved in 

the incident, i.e. bystanders, resulting in individuals being recorded by devices 

without them being fully aware.  This is known as collateral intrusion and in this 

context extends to the capturing of the movements and actions of other persons, 

not involved in an incident, when this equipment is being used.  

11.9.1  It is inevitable that in some circumstances this will occur, albeit staff will 
be trained to ensure that wherever possible, the focus of their activity is on the subject 
of attention.  In circumstances where members of the public are captured in any video 
or audio information and they are unrelated to any offence under investigation, their 
identities will be protected and anonymised especially should the matter be presented 
to a court. 

Page 242



 

8 
 

11.10  In so far as is practicable, users should restrict recording to areas 
and persons necessary in order to obtain evidence and intelligence relevant to the 
incident and should attempt to minimise collateral intrusion to those not involved. 
Users should attempt to minimise intrusion of privacy on those persons who are 
present but not involved in an incident, by keeping the camera focused on the incident 
and not bystanders and third parties. 

11.11  Staff should be aware of high sensitivity areas such as residential 
premises, hospitals, private vehicles etc. and avoid recording unnecessarily.  

11.12  Private dwellings. In private dwellings, users may find that one party 
objects to the recording taking place; for example where warrants are available and 
abuse is apparent or expected. In such circumstances users should continue to record 
and explain the reasons for recording continuously. These include: 

• Where an operational plan or procedure is in place 
• A warrant is in force or powers under current legislation 
• There is a requirement to secure best evidence of any offences that have 

occurred. 
• Continuing to record would safeguard both parties with true and accurate 

recording of any significant statement made by either party 
• Continuing to record would safeguard vulnerable persons. 
• Where an incident having previously taken place may reoccur in the immediate 

future. 

11.13  Sensitivities connected with faith/equalities issues. The filming 
in domestic circumstances could be an issue with some faiths. An example may be 
where the female may not have a face covering within the home. Officers should be 
aware of this fact and be sensitive to the wishes of those involved. 

11.14  Do not interrupt filming. Unless specific circumstances dictate 
otherwise recording must continue uninterrupted from commencement of recording 
until the conclusion of the incident. 

11.15  Concluding filming. It is considered advisable that the officer 
continues to record for a short period after the incident to clearly demonstrate to any 
subsequent viewer that the incident has concluded and the user has resumed other 
duties or activities. 
 

11.16  The recording must cease as soon as reasonably practicable, 
the incident has been dealt with or de-escalated to a point the staff member, using 
their own dynamic risk assessment, no longer feels under threat and the incident 
has come to a conclusion. 

11.17 Recording may also be concluded when the officer attends another area. 

Prior to concluding recording the user should make a verbal announcement to indicate 
the reason for ending the recording this should state: 

Page 243



 

9 
 

• Date, time and location 

• Reason for concluding recording 

11.18  Don't delete! Once a recording has been completed this becomes The 
Partnership’s information and must be retained and handled in accordance with the 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act, the Data Protection legislation and The Partnership’s 
CCTV Policy. Therefore any recorded image must not be deleted by the recording user 
and must be retained as required by the procedures. Any breach of the procedures 
may render the user liable to disciplinary action or adverse comment in criminal 
proceedings. 

11.19  Selective Capture.  In general, the BWV user should record entire 
encounters from beginning to end without the recording being interrupted. However 
the nature of some incidents may make it necessary for the user to consider the 
rationale for continuing to record throughout entire incidents. 

11.19.1 For example, the recording may be stopped in cases of a sensitive nature 
or if the incident has concluded prior to the arrival of the user. In all cases the user 
should exercise their professional judgement in deciding whether or not to record all 
or part of an incident. 

11.20  In cases where the user does interrupt or cease recording at an 
ongoing incident, they should record their decision including the grounds for making 
such a decision. 
 

11.21  The whole incident, where practicable, should be recorded.  If an 
employee attends an incident and is recording evidence using a BWV device, they 
should record it all. Employees should not intentionally fail to record an incident by, 
for example, turning away without good cause, or deliberately obstructing the 
camera lens. Such actions may be considered misconduct. 

11.22  Recording of Interviews. BWV should not be used to record interviews 
of suspects under caution which occur at an office or police station. It may be used to 
record interviews which take place other than at an office or police station. However, 
recording of interviews under such circumstances does not negate the need for them 
to be recorded contemporaneously. 

11.23  BWV can and should be used to capture hearsay evidence. An example 
of this is where a person gives his account of suspected offender’s actions to an 
investigating officer, in the presence and hearing of the suspect. 

11.24  Scene Review. An additional use of BWV is to record the location of 
objects and evidence at the scene of a crime/incident or inspection e.g. property 
hazards, defects, damage and deficiencies. This can be particularly beneficial in 
allowing Senior managers an opportunity to review scenes of crime/incident or 
inspection or in effectively recording the positions of vehicles, animals, persons, 
equipment at the scene. 

Page 244



 

10 
 

12  Limitations on Use 

12.1 BWV is an overt recording medium and can be used across a wide range of 
Local Authority operations. There are a few examples of situations where the use of 
BWV is not appropriate. In all cases users and supervisors must use their professional 
judgement with regard to recording. 

12.2 Intimate searches - BWV must not be used under any circumstances for video 
or photographic recording to be made of intimate searches. 
 

13 Confidential Information 

13.1 Particular care should be taken in cases where the subject of the recording 
might reasonably expect a high degree of privacy where confidential information is 
involved. 

13.2 ‘Confidential information’ consists of such matters as legal privilege, 
confidential personal information or confidential journalistic information. So for 
example particular care should be given where matters of medical or journalistic 
confidentiality or legal privilege may be involved. 

13.3 Where it is likely that through the use of BWV cameras knowledge of 
confidential information will be acquired the users should carefully consider the 
balance between the privacy expectations of the subject (s) and the requirement to 
record the proceedings. 

13.4 In general any recording which is likely to result in the acquisition of legally 
privileged information should only be made in exceptional and compelling 
circumstances. Particular regard should be had to the issue of proportionality. Similar 
considerations should also be given to authorisations that involve confidential 
personal information and confidential journalistic material. 

13.5 ‘Legally privileged’ information applies to communications between a 
professional legal adviser and their client or any person representing their client 
which are made in connection with the giving of legal advice to the client or in 
contemplation of legal proceedings. 

13.6 ‘Confidential personal information’ is information held in confidence relating to 
the physical or mental health or spiritual counselling concerning an individual 
(whether living or dead) who can be identified from it. Examples might include 
consultations between a health professional and a patient. 

13.7 ‘Confidential journalistic material’ includes material acquired or created for the 
purposes of journalism and held subject to an undertaking to hold it in confidence. 

 

Page 245



 

11 
 

14 Audit Trail 

14.1 Supporting Software must be used from approved contractors or hard copies 
kept to evidence strict controls. The Duty CCTV Operator will assist with downloads 
and produce evidence packages as required. 
 

15 Right of access 

15.1 Subject to exemption, the right of access under Article 15 of the UK GDPR is a 
fundamental right for individuals and helps them understand how and why their data 
is being used, and to check it is done lawfully. The right of access gives individuals 
the right to obtain a copy of their personal data, as well as other supplementary 
information. 

15.2 In practice, requests for CCTV or BWV footage can be a complex area and 

each request should be approached on a case-by-case basis. The Partnership should 

however ensure that the design of any surveillance system allows the controller to 

easily locate and extract personal data in response to such requests.  

15.3  Freedom of Information (FOI): 

•  All requests for information under Freedom of Information will be dealt with 

on a case-by-case basis by the Information Governance Team. 

•  Requestors may only ask for information regarding the general operation of 

the BWV devices, the allocation of them, or the costs of purchasing, using 

and maintaining them. No recorded content should be disclosed under an 

FOI request without authorisation from a Senior officer of The Partnership. 

 

 

16. Production of Exhibits 

16.1 Data will not be downloaded to any device other than the dedicated stand-
alone computer /forensic examination System BWV provided as stated in Appendix2, 
or on approved The Partnership’s DVDs when Master and/or working copies of the 
recordings are required.  

16.2 All footage recorded to the BWV unit will be downloaded as soon as practical.  

16.3 Evidential footage downloaded will be saved on the relevant stand-alone BWV 
computer as per the approved procedure. It will be identified by exhibit/unique 
reference number. 

16.4 As soon as reasonably practical, a CCTV Operator will make two DVD copies. 
The first will be a 'master copy' which will be sealed and labelled. The second will be 
a 'working copy' for investigation and file preparation purposes. DVDs should be 
retained in line with authority’s evidential retention policy. 

Page 246



 

12 
 

17. Evidential footage 

17.1 Evidential footage will be considered as any data that is: 

17.2 Evidence of an offence or supporting evidence for any process – e.g. charge, 
Fixed Penalty Notice, Penalty Notice for Disorder etc. 

17.3 Footage that is required for a relevant and proportionate purpose - i.e. footage 
taken of an overcrowded town centre taxi-rank to highlight the need for an extended 
facility to partner agencies or services. 

17.4 Footage which is subject to the Local Government Act 1972 (LGA 1972). The 
LGA 1972, s 222 provides that a local authority can prosecute or defend criminal 
proceedings where it considers it 'expedient for the promotion or protection of the 
interests of the inhabitants of their area'.  

This gives local authorities power to prosecute criminal offences investigated by their 
own departments. 

These departments may include, but not limited to: 

• community safety  

• health and safety 

• environmental health/food safety and hygiene 

• Planning Enforcement  

• housing and council tax benefit. 

17.5 The LGA 1972, s 222 provides that a local authority can prosecute or defend 
criminal proceedings where it considers it 'expedient for the promotion or protection 
of the interests of the inhabitants of their area'. It is for the local authority to 
determine what is in the interests of its residents and not the courts. In practice this 
means that in, general terms, local authorities can only enforce offences within their 
own jurisdiction. 

17.6 BWV is supporting evidence and officers will be required to provide written 
statements which must include the audit trail for the capture of the footage and the 
subsequent production of the master disc/DVD. 

18. Non evidential footage: 

18.1 Data downloaded as non-evidential will be stored for a maximum of 30 days. 
During that time, it is searchable and can be retrieved and marked as evidential. After 
this period, it will be deleted. 
 

18.2 Security and sharing with third parties 

• Any non-evidential data is destroyed within 30 days. 

Page 247



 

13 
 

• Any data / information recorded / stored will only be kept for as long as 
necessary to allow for all investigations, legal proceedings and convictions to 
be finalised and in line with the Partnership’s retention and disposal 
arrangements. 

• Recorded material will be stored in a way that maintains the integrity of the 
information and ensures the rights of individuals recorded by BWV devices 
are protected and that the information can be used as evidence in court.  

• The information will be stored in a secure location with restricted access and 
fully encrypted. 

• Images and information will only be accessible by authorised staff.  

• Recorded images will only be viewed in a restricted area, such as a 
designated secure office. This viewing must be carried out under the direct 
supervision of an authorised officer.  

• Where BWV recordings are required for evidential purposes in legal 
proceedings, they will be properly processed following consultation with the 
Information Governance Team and authorised officers. 

• Information and data will be recorded and stored, in a recognisable and 
useable format.  This will allow ease of transfer if required, to other 
agencies.  Such formats will be of digital standard. 

• The recording will be placed in a sealed envelope which is signed, dated and 
then stored securely until the investigation is complete. 

 

19 Anticipated Third parties sharing 

19.1 Due to the nature of the specified purposes, there is likely to be sharing of 
data with Lincolnshire Police, the Partnership, other departments within the 
Partnership and similar public organisations. From time to time, it may also be 
shared with the Media during public appeals for information etc.  

19.2 Primary requests to view data generated by a BWV device are likely to be 
made by third parties for any one or more of the following purposes: 

i. providing evidence in criminal proceedings  

ii. the prevention of crime 

iii. the investigation and detection of crime (may include identification of 
offenders) 

iv. identification of witnesses 

v.  Internal Gross Misconduct enquiries. 

19.3 Information is only released to third parties on receipt of the appropriate 
REQUEST FOR DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL INFORMATION - Schedule 2, Part 1 (2) 

Page 248



 

14 
 

Data Protection Act 2018 form completed by the appropriate police/organisation 
rank. 

19.4 The same applies to other law enforcement agencies. 

Third parties, which are required to show adequate grounds for disclosure of data 
within the above criteria, may include, but are not limited to: 

• police 
• statutory authorities with powers to prosecute, for example Customs and 

Excise, Trading Standards 
• solicitors 
• claimants in civil proceedings 
• accused persons or defendants in criminal proceedings 

• other agencies, as agreed by the Data Controllers. 

19.5 Upon receipt from a third party of a bona fide request for the release of data, 
the Partnership’s BWV Information Governance lead shall: 

i. Not unduly obstruct a third-party investigation to verify the existence of 
relevant data, 

ii. Ensure the retention of data which may be relevant to a request, but which 
may be pending application for, or the issue of, a court order. A time limit 
shall be imposed on such retention, which will be notified at the time of the 
request. 

19.6 Most requests from the Police can be dealt with during normal working hours, 
although there may be occasions where urgent access is sought, particularly when 
dealing with serious crimes.  These requests will be dealt with accordingly under 
routine protocols by the CCTV manager. 

19.7 The Police and others legitimately requesting access to images should only be 
given copies of the original data.  Copies should be made onto portable media, such 
as write-only DVDs and handed over against a signature.  Images should not be sent 
by email or other networked systems.  

19.8 There may be very rare occasions when the Police require the original 
recording device, or the hard disk drives from the device.  This may be necessary to 
safeguard forensic data following a serious incident.  Release of recording devices or 
hard disk drives will be actioned by the Information Governance Team in line with 
existing procedures. 

19.9 No secondary recording of images and data is permitted under any 
circumstances (recording of computer monitors for example).  

19.10 Any person found recording of information or data on a secondary device may 
be subject to disciplinary proceedings.  

19.11 Misuse of BWV devices and equipment, unauthorised processing of data may 
be a criminal offence under the Data Protection Act. 

 

Page 249



 

15 
 

20 Disclosure of Information 

20.1 Disclosure of information from any of the The Partnership’s BWV devices will 
be controlled and consistent with the purpose(s) for which the scheme was 
established.  

20.2 The date of the disclosure along with details of who the information has been 
provided to (the name of the person and the organisation they represent) will be 
recorded accordingly. 

20.3 Each recording will be viewed and if necessary, images of persons not directly 
involved in the incident will be obscured to protect their identity and comply with 
data protection requirements. 

20.4 When disclosing images of individuals, consideration will be given to whether 
obscuring of identifying features is necessary.  Whether or not it is necessary to 
obscure will depend on the nature and context of the footage that is being 
considered for disclosure. 

20.5 Judgements about disclosure should be made by the Data Protection Officer.  
They have discretion to refuse any request for information unless there is an 
overriding legal obligation, such as a court order or information access rights. 

20.6 Once the information has been to another body, such as the police, they 
become the data controller for the copy (s) they hold.  It is their responsibility to 
comply with the data protection legislation in relation to any further disclosures.  

20.7 The method of disclosing information will be secure to ensure they are only 
seen by the intended recipient/s.  

20.8 Under no circumstances should copies of non-evidential material be burned to 
disc. 

20.9 The CCTV Operator or nominated authorised officer will download the content 
onto working and master DVDs and complete necessary evidence paperwork for 
release to requesting officer / agency. 

21 Miscellaneous guidance 

21.1 Where more than one BWV device is present at the scene of an incident, or the 
area of the incident is also covered by a CCTV system the investigating officer and the 
officer in the case (OIC) must ensure that all available footage of the incident is 
secured as exhibits in consideration of any defence arguments that may be presented. 

21.2 Data/footage must be made available to partner agencies and organisations as 
per The Partnership’s data protection procedures and or local information sharing 
protocols. More information on this is available on The Partnership’s website. 

Page 250



 

16 
 

22 Legislation & Statutory Guidance 

22.1 The integrity of any video data recorded will be considered in accordance with 
the following legislation and Statutory Guidance: 
 

• UK General Data Protection Regulation (‘UK GDPR’) 

• Data Protection Act 2018 (‘DPA 2018’) 
• Freedom of Information Act 2000 
• Human Rights Act 1998 
• Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
• Regulation and Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

• Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice & Information 
Commissioners Code of Practice 

• The Local Government Act 1972 (LGA 1972) 
• Housing Act 2004, Section 239 

 

23 Complaints 

23.1 Formal complaints received in relation to any issue pertaining to the use of BWV 
will be managed through the Partnership Councils routine complaints process with 
assistance from the local managers, and advice from the Data Protection Officer.  

Where these cannot be resolved, the individual has the right to escalate the complaint 
to the office of the Information Commissioner (ICO). 

23.2 As well as monitoring and enforcing the UK General Data Protection Regulation 

(‘UK GDPR’) and Data Protection Act 2018 (‘DPA 2018’), the Information 
Commissioner’s functions include promoting public awareness and understanding of 
the risks, rules, safeguards and rights in relation to the processing of personal data. 

24 Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 

24.1 This document sets out The Partnership’s response and clarification of 
compliance and conformity to the Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. 
The document is our main referral document and The Partnership will endeavour to 
comply and conform to all guidance within the document but specifically, in this case, 
refer to the ‘Twelve Guiding Principles’.  

24.2  The Home Office is the author of guidance with regard to use of Body-worn 
CCTV equipment. This guidance is centred on “12 Guiding Principles” which The 
Partnership has adopted and will always adhere to. 

25 The ‘Twelve Guiding Principles’  

25.1 Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose 
which is in the pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified pressing 
need.  
 

Page 251



 

17 
 

25.2 The use of a surveillance camera system must consider its effect on individuals 
and their privacy, with regular reviews to ensure it remains justified.  

25.3 There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera system 
as possible, including a published contact point for access to information or 
complaints.  

25.4 There must be a clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance 
camera system activities including images and information collected, held and used. 

25.5 Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance 
camera system is used, and these must be communicated to all who need to comply 
with them.  

25.6 No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly 
required for the stated purposes of a surveillance camera system and such images 
and information should be deleted once their purposes have been discharged. 

25.7 Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there must 
be clearly defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose such access is 
granted; the disclosure of images and information should only take place when it is 
necessary for such a purpose or for law enforcement purposes.  

25.8 Surveillance camera operators should consider any approved operational, 
technical and competency standards relevant to a system and its purpose and work 
to maintain those standards.  
Purchase of Bodycams is only from approved accredited manufacturers. 

25.9 Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to 

appropriate security measures against unauthorised access and use. 

25.10 There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal 
requirements, policies and standards are complied with in practice, and regular 
reports should be published.  

25.11  When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate 
aim, and there is a pressing need for its use, it should then be used in the most 
effective way to support public safety and law enforcement with the aim of 
processing images and evidential value.  
 

25.12  Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which compares 
against a reference database for matching purposes should be accurate and kept up 
to date.  
 

  

Page 252



 

1 
 

Appendix 1 

 

 
The Partnership  

Name Position 

Scheme Manager   

Data Controller  
 

 Head of Service 

Authorised Personnel (Trained in use of BWV) 

Name Position 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Appendix 2 

 
The Partnership  

List of Equipment  

Location of 
Equipment 

The Partnership CCTV Suite  

Make  Model URN/Serial No. 

Page 253



 

2 
 

Dahua  MPT221-S  

  
 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Detail of Recording Solution 

Solution 
 (PC, Hard Drive, or 
Server) 

Location Responsible Officer  
 (for housekeeping)  

   

   

   

Page 254



 

3 
 

Retention Schedule for      Body Worn Video         Version: 001.1 

CY = current year CM = current month. 

Depending upon the trigger point for retention, current year/month will relate to year/month of creation or closure. 

 

 

 

 

i.  

Status 
 

Trigger Point 
for 
Retention 

Action 
Following 
Retention 
Period 

Authority 
guiding 
record 
creation 
& 
retention 

Updates 

BWV Unit        

The Partnership Server ii.   iii.      

Hard Drive iv.   v.      

Disc/DVD vi.   vii.      

P
age 255



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report To: Cabinet  
 
Date: 11 November 2025. 
 
Subject: Draft South Holland District Council Industrial Unit Letting and 

Management Policy, 2025-2030.  
 
Purpose: To consider revision to the Council’s current Industrial Unit 

Lettings Management Policy. 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Henry Bingham, Portfolio Holder for Assets and 

Strategic Planning 
 
Report Of: Andy Fisher, Deputy Chief Executive and Assistant Director - 

General Fund Assets 
 
Report Author: Marc Whelan, Strategic Operational & Property Manager 
 
Ward(s) Affected: (All Wards);  
 
Exempt Report: N  

 

 
Summary 
 
The draft Industrial Unit Letting and Management Policy presented out at Appendix A is 
presented as an update to the Council’s current policy adopted by Cabinet in 2020.  At 
its meeting held on 23 September 2025, Policy Development Panel considered the draft 
attached and resolved to recommend its adoption by the Cabinet. 
 

 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
1 - adopt the draft Industrial Unit Letting and Management Policy 2025 – 2030 presented 
at Appendix A,  
 
2 - delegate making and effecting minor and inconsequential amendments to the draft 
presented at Appendix A to the Deputy Chief Executive and Assistant Director in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder. 
 

Page 257

Agenda Item 12.



 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To strengthen the existing policy position of the Council together with adding further 
clarity for tenants and prospective tenants.   
 

 

 
Other Options Considered 
  
Do nothing. Continue to use existing policy – not recommended. 
 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Council has had an Industrial Unit Lettings and Management Policy in place 

since 2005; it has been reviewed periodically.  Prior to developing the draft set out at 
Appendix A, the 2020 adopted Policy was last reviewed by the Council’s Policy 
Development Panel (PDP) in 2023 although no amendments to it were felt necessary 
at the time with none therefore being recommended to Cabinet.  Policy Development 
Panel reviewed an officer redraft of the adopted version at its meeting on 23 
September 2025 where it resolved to recommend adoption of that draft, now 
presented here to Cabinet at Appendix A.   

 
2. Report 
 
2.1 The draft Policy presented at Appendix A is drafted as a ‘framework’ that gives 

strategic direction when dealing with the letting of Council industrial units. The draft 
includes relevant legislative updates and adds further clarity for current or 
prospective tenant about the criteria for and permissible use of the units.  

 
2.2 Appendix B provides the existing Policy purely for reference.  
 
2.3  Policy Development Panel reviewed an officer redraft of the adopted version at its 

meeting on 23 September 2025 where it resolved to recommend adoption of that 
draft that is now presented here to Cabinet as Appendix A. 

 
3. Conclusion 

 
3.1  The draft presented at Appendix A is recommended to Cabinet for adoption; it is 

further recommended that Cabinet delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive  
and Assistant Director, General Fund Assets, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
to make any minor and inconsequential that may be required throughout the life of 
the Policy of adopted.  

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
None  
 
Corporate Priorities 

Page 258



 
None  
 
Staffing 
 
None 
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
None 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
The updated policy gives clarity to tenants and strengthens the Council’s position in terms 
of granting leases and the usage of the units.  
 
Data Protection 
 
None  
 
Financial 
 
None 
 
Risk Management 
 
None 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
None  
 
Reputation 
 
None 
 
Contracts 
 
None 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None 
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
None 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
None 
 

Page 259



Climate Change and Environment Impact Assessment 
 
None 
 
Acronyms 
 
None 
 
Appendices  
 
None 
 
Background Papers 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A Draft South Holland District Council Industrial Unit 

Letting and Management Policy, 2025 – 2030. 

Appendix B 2020 Letting and management of the South Holland 
District Council’s commercial 
property assets policy. 

 
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
Name of Body Date 
SHDC PSP 23 September 2025 
 
Report Approval 
Report author: Marc Whelan, Strategic Operational & Property Manager 
 Marc.whelan@sholland.gov.uk    
Signed off by: Andy Fisher,  
 Andy.fisher@boston.gov.uk  
Approved for publication: Henry Bingham Portfolio Holder for Assets & Strategic 

Planning  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 260

mailto:Andy.fisher@boston.gov.uk


Appendix A 
 
 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL INDUSTRIAL UNIT LETTING AND 
MANAGEMENT POLICY 2025-2030 - DRAFT 

 
Replaces: South Holland District Council Industrial Unit Letting and Management Policy 
adopted by Cabinet in 2020. 
 
Executive Summary 
 
This policy replaces the South Holland District Council Industrial Unit Letting and 
Management Policy adopted by Cabinet in 2020 and runs from 2025 to 2030. 
 
Key Points 
 

• The purpose of the industrial units is to encourage the growth of both new and 
existing local businesses in line with the council’s Asset Management Strategy. 
 

• The units are let mainly for light industrial use and tenants’ businesses need to 
comply with all statutory requirements including the appropriate planning 
classification. 
 

• Tenants may in some cases be permitted to apply to widen the planning use of a 
unit. From Autumn 2020 the User Classes act was updated. Class E was 
introduced, which replaced A1, A2, A3, B1a, B1b and B1c (services), D1 and D2 
 

• Categories accepted by the Council are:  
 

B8 – Storage or Distribution or  
B2 – anything not covered under Class E.  

 

• Class E allows for a wide range of uses. The Council would determine on an 
individual basis as user class E covers Office use, Research & Development, 
Gymnasiums, Clinics, Health centres and Creches and Day Centres. It also covers 
industrial process that can be carried out in any residential area without causing 
detriment to the amenity of the area 
 

• The terms of new leases are determined by the Asset Management Team on 
commercial terms with the lease term can be subject to negotiation however 
ordinarily for a term up to a maximum of 6 years before a renewal takes place.  
 

• At renewal, a new EPC (if applicable) will be undertaken by the authority before 
lease renewal / completion depending on the legislation criteria at that particular 
time. In certain circumstances, a ‘Tenancy at Will’ may be issued to enable the 
Estates Officer to monitor the stability of a new tenant. This is mainly applicable to 
new starter businesses to ensure a flexible approach is maintained to assist new 
business to the South Holland area. The Authority may apply a break clause at any 
point if trading history is short to allow flexibility for both parties and hopefully will 
lead to an amicable end of tenancy if the unit doesn’t work well for the tenant or the 
Council 
 

Page 261



• A small service charge is levied to contribute to the maintenance and repair of the 
common parts of the estate such as car park lining, landscaping and gate 
maintenance etc. This also helps to cover admin costs and quarterly visits from the 
Estates Officer 
 

• Leases have an ‘effective’ full repairing and insuring liability to eaves height. 
Tenants are responsible for internal repairs including external fascia and equipment 
and for those elements not covered by the service charge. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the Authority will repair and replace above eaves (roof) under the service 
charge 

 

• Statutory testing relating to internal / external FM & Compliance is the full 
responsibility of the tenant.  
 

• The council insures the buildings and recharges the tenants through the rent figure. 
Contents’ insurance cover is the sole responsibility of the tenant and must cover the 
all fixtures and fittings up to but excluding the roof and actual structure 
 

• Rent, business rates, utilities’ costs and any other related outgoings are payable by 
the tenant. 
 

• Leases are outside the part II provisions of the Landlord and Tenant 1954 Act, i.e. 
the tenants have no Right to Renewal or Security of Tenure 
 

• Non-structural alterations are permitted subject to landlord’s consent (not to be 
unreasonably withheld). If relatively minor, a standard letter licence should be used 
to document alterations, alternatively the matter will be documented in a licence to 
alter. Reinstatement back to original keeping is the responsibility of the Tenant. 
 

• Structural alterations are strictly prohibited. 
 

• Tenants will be permitted to assign leases subject to landlord / Estate officer 
consent. Due diligence by the Council may be applied 
 

• Subletting in whole or part is strictly prohibited. 
 

• Due diligence by the Estate Officer will be undertaken and signed off (where 
appropriate) by the Strategic & Operational Property Manager prospective tenants 
and their financial suitability tested. 
 

• Rent arrears are pursued in accordance with the Debt Recovery policy. 
 
Marketing 
 
Ordinarily the Estates Officer will exhaust the waiting list first for that particular estate, then 
advertise via the Council’s social media platforms to keep costs under control. External 
agents will only be instructed to market vacant units that have for whatever reason, not 
been let by in house means at the Estates Officers discretion. “To Let” boards may be 
erected and advertising undertaken on the agent’s website and in the local media as 
deemed necessary.  
 
 

Page 262



New Applicants 
 
Applicants are normally asked to provide a bank reference and two trade references to 
assist the Council’s Estates Officer completing the due diligence process at the Council’s 
discretion. The Authority reserves the right to not grant a lease to a tenant and does not 
need to provide a reason. A Tenant may be required to pay a rent deposit, (minimum of at 
least three months’ rent, but no more than 12 months) at the Council’s discretion, which 
will be held by the Council and used if the tenant defaults on rent, service charge (or other 
payment due) or to offset any dilapidations liability at lease expiry. 
 
Rent and Rent Reviews 
 
Rents are generally based on an Estimated Rental Value (ERV) basis. The rent levels are 
reviewed as specified in leases, but generally on a three-yearly review pattern. At certain 
points the Council may commission an overall Market Valuation of the asset to determine 
where Market Conditions are at that point 
 
Incentives 
 
A small rent-free period, in lieu of fit-out works may be granted by the Asset Management 
Team where appropriate 
 
 
Agreeing a new lease 
 
A standard form of lease will be drawn up and will be replicated for each new letting so 
amendments can be kept to a minimum and legal work can be completed quickly and 
economically. New leases will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure it reflects the most 
recent legislative changes, commercial practice and strategic aims of the Council. 
Incoming Tenants will be asked to contribute to the Authority’s legal costs. This figure will 
not exceed £750 plus VAT. The Asset team have also included a disclaimer on the Estate 
Officers Email to ensure that potential Tenant’s understand that the Authority applies a 
priority need to turn units over quickly to maintain the rental income. 
 
The Disclaimer reads: 
 
PLEASE NOTE: Industrial units are termed as ‘Under Offer’ until the standard contracts 
have been signed. South Holland District Council reserve the right to operate to a 10 
working day window for leases to be signed. If the lease hasn’t been signed by the agreed 
date, the unit will be made available again to the Council waiting list or other potential 
tenants. 
 
Yield up 
 
A schedule of dilapidations will be undertaken by the Council prior to the termination of the 
tenancy, outlining the items of disrepair the tenant is responsible for remedying. 
 
 
Rent Arrears 
 
The Council has a corporate Debt Policy and a Write-Off Policy which are complied with in 
dealing with tenant arrears. Management of tenant arrears includes the following:  

Page 263



 
Liaising with Accounting Services and where appropriate agreeing a strict timetable for the 
repayment of arrears. Using Commercial Rent Arrears Recovery (CRAR). This legislation 
means that 7 days’ notice needs to be served on the tenant prior to enforcement agents 
being instructed to distrain upon goods. CRAR only applies to principal rent, VAT and 
interest (it cannot be used to pursue unpaid service charges or rates). 
 
 
Implementation and review 
 
The Asset Management Team is responsible for implementing this policy and for its 
regular review. The next review on minor adjustments can be completed within any 
reasonable timeframe. Major changes will be reviewed extensively in 2030 

 
The Council has the right to vary any of the above guidelines in line with their current 
strategic aims and legislation if required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 264



Appendix B 
 
September 2020 
 
Letting and management of the South Holland District Council’s commercial 
property assets 
 
Replaces 2005 policy 
 
Executive Summary 
 
This policy is to replace the letting and management of the Council’s portfolio of industrial 
property adopted in 2005. 
 
Key Points 
 

• The purpose of the industrial units is to encourage the growth of both new and 
existing local businesses in line with the council’s Asset Management Strategy. 
 

• The units are let mainly for light industrial use and tenants’ businesses need to 
comply with all statutory requirements including the appropriate planning 
classification. 
 

• Tenants may in some cases be permitted to apply to widen the planning use of a 
unit. For example a tenant could apply to for B1, B2, B8 and D1 use; however 
tenants will not be permitted to narrow the planning classification of a unit for 
example to another non-industrial use. 
 

• The terms of new leases are determined by the Asset Management Team on 
commercial terms with the lease term to be subject to negotiation however 
ordinarily for a term of 3 years. 
 

• A service charge is levied to cover the maintenance and repair of the common parts 
of the estate and the external parts of the units (but not exhaustively). 
 

• Leases have an ‘effective’ full repairing and insuring liability. Tenants are 
responsible for internal repairs and for those elements not covered by the service 
charge. 
 

• Ordinarily the landlord will be responsible for external repairs with the costs 
recharged to the tenant via the service charge. 
 

• Statutory testing relating to internal FM to be the responsibility of the tenant 
statutory testing for external items to be the responsibility of the landlord with the 
costs recharged to the tenant via the service charge. 
 

• The council insures the buildings and recharges the tenants. Contents’ insurance 
cover is the responsibility of the tenant. 
 

• Rent, business rates, utilities’ costs and any other related outgoings are payable by 
the tenant. 
 

Page 265



• Leases are outside the provisions of the Landlord and Tenant 1954 Act, i.e. the 
tenants have no statutory renewal rights. 
 

• Non-structural alterations are permitted subject to landlord’s consent (not to be 
unreasonably withheld). If relatively minor, a standard letter licence should be used 
to document alterations, alternatively the matter will be documented in a licence to 
alter. 
 

• Except in exceptional circumstances structural alterations will not be permitted and 
in those cases they will be subject to the landlord’s consent, which is not to be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 

• Tenants will be permitted to assign leases subject to landlord’s consent. 
 

• Subletting in whole or part is to be prohibited. 
 

• Application forms need to be completed by prospective tenants and their financial 
suitability tested. 
 

• Rent arrears are pursued in accordance with the Debt Recovery policy. 
 
Marketing 
 
Ordinarily external agents will be instructed to market vacant units. “To Let” boards will be 
erected and advertising undertaken on the Council's website and in the local media as 
necessary. 
 
New Applicants 
 
All applicants are asked to provide a bank reference and two trade references. Applicants, 
who have an existing business, are required to provide three years’ audited accounts and 
a landlord's reference. 
 
Tenants are ordinarily required to pay a rent deposit, equal to at least three months’ rent, 
which will be held by the Council and used if the tenant defaults on rent, service charge (or 
other payment due) or to offset any dilapidations liability at lease expiry. 
 
Rent and incentives 
 
Rents are generally on an open market rent (ERV) basis. The rent levels are reviewed as 
specified in leases, but generally on a three-yearly review pattern. A rent-free period, 
either as an incentive or in lieu of fit-out works can be granted by the Asset Management 
Team where appropriate. 
 
Agreeing a new lease 
 
A standard form of lease will be drawn up and will be replicated for each new letting so 
amendments can be kept to a minimum and legals can be completed quickly and 
economically. It will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure it reflects the most recent 
legislative changes, commercial practice and strategic aims of the Council. 
 
Yield up 

Page 266



 
A schedule of dilapidations will be undertaken by the Council prior to the termination of the 
tenancy, outlining the items of disrepair the tenant is responsible for remedying. 
 
 
 
Rent Arrears 
 
The Council has a corporate Debt Policy and a Write-Off Policy which are complied with in 
dealing with tenant arrears. Management of tenant arrears includes the following:  
 

• Liaising with Accounting Services and where appropriate agreeing a strict timetable 
for the repayment of arrears. 
 

• Using Commercial Rent Arrears Recovery (CRAR). This legislation means that 7 
days’ notice needs to be served on the tenant prior to enforcement agents being 
instructed to distrain upon goods. CRAR only applies to principal rent, VAT and 
interest (it cannot be used to pursue unpaid service charges or rates). 

 
Implementation and review 
 

• The Asset Management Team is responsible for implementing this policy and for its 
regular review. 
 

• The Council has the right to vary any of the above guidelines in line with their 
current strategic aims and legislation. 
 
 

Policy Approval Reviewed by and Approved 

Policy Development Panel September 2020 

Cabinet October 2020 

 

 
Related Policies and Strategies 
 
Asset Management Strategy 
 
Corporate Debt Recovery Policy 
 
Write-off Policy 
 

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Q1 Performance Report 25-26
	Appendix 1
	Target Output
	Trend Output


	8. Social Housing Regulation – Q1 and Q2 2025/26 update
	Appendix A - Regulator of Social Housing Improvement Plan
	Appendix B Report to PMP Further understanding of Tenant Dissatisfaction areas from the 2024 25 Tenant Satisfaction Survey
	Appendix C – Tenant Engagement and Influence Impact Report
	Slide 1: TENANT ENGAGEMENT IMPACT REPORT
	Slide 2: CONTENTS
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17


	9. Adoption of New Housing Landlord Policies: Disabled Aids and Adaptations Policy and Reasonable Adjustment Policy and a revisit to the Housing Revenue Account Governance Framework
	Appendix1 TheHousingRevenueAccountGovernanceFrameworkHousingLandlor
	Appendix2 HousingLandlordServiceReasonableAdjustmentsPolicy20252029
	Appendix3 HousingLandlordServiceDisabledAidsandAdaptationsPolicy202
	Appendix4 ReporttoPDPDisabledAidsandAdaptationsPolicy20252028
	Appendix5 ReporttoPDPTheHousingRevenueAccountGovernanceFramework202
	Appendix6 ReporttoPDPVulnerablePersonandReasonableAdjustmentsPolicy

	10. Housing Stock Condition Survey
	11. South & East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership Body Worn Video Cameras (BWV) Policy 2025
	Appendix A

	12. Draft South Holland District Council Industrial Unit Letting and Management Policy 2025-2030

